TUMOUR ANTIGEN CROSS-PRESENTATION FROM IRRADIATED TUMOUR CELLS AND THE ROLE OF TLR4 POLYMORPHISM

PhD dissertation

Josephine Salimu

Supervisor: Dr Zsuzsanna Tabi

Co-supervisors: Dr John Staffurth and

Dr Mario Labeta

Institute of Cancer and Genetics

Cardiff University

2014

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
DECLARATION	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
PUBLICATIONS	7
PRESENTATIONS	8
SUMMARY	9
ABBREVIATIONS	10
I. INTRODUCTION. THE ROLE OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM IN PROTECTION AGAINST	
TUMOURS	12
IMMUNOSURVEILLANCE THEORY	12
Evidence of immunosurveillance	13
Cancer immunosurveillance in humans	14
Cancer immunoediting theory	16
THE COMPLEXITY OF CANCER IMMUNOBIOLOGY	20
Immune cells involved in antitumor responses	21
Antigen processing and presentation	24
The cross-presentation pathway of exogenous antigens	27
TLR4	31
TLR4 in antigen cross-presentation	
TLR4 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)	
The impact of TLR4 polymorphism on the outcomes of cancer treatment	
THE RELEVANCE OF IMMUNE RESPONSES IN PROSTATE CANCER	37
Prostate cancer	
Immunotherapy in prostate cancer	
Link of immune responses and radiotherapy in prostate cancer	40
HYPOTHESIS AND AIM	44
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	45
DONORS	45
TISSUE CUITURE MEDIA	45
CELLUNES	45
ISOLATION GENERATION AND CHI THRE OF IMMUNE CELLS	46
Derinheral blood mononuclear cells (DRMC)	
T cell isolation	
DC generation	
Generation of a 5TA pentide-specific T-cell line ($RI \Lambda R_{-}T$ cells)	
GENERAL METHODS	۲۹ ۸۷
Descaping of adherent colle	40 ، ۸0
Chipping of university and Storage	40 ло
Recovery of cryonreserved cells	40 10
Evaluation of call number and viability	49 10
	49 FO
FLUW CTIUMEIKT	
IIIII uleilulul Slullilly	
Surjuce Statning	
Intracellular Cytokine Staining (ICCS)	51

Gating strategy	
5-(and 6)-Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE)	
Statistics	
PRODUCTION OF SOLUBLE PEPTIDE-MHC CLASS I (PMHCI)	56
TETRAMERIZATION AND FLOW CYTOMETRY	56
ANALYSIS OF TUMOUR CELL DEATH	59
Cell cycle analysis	
Annexin-V/PI apoptosis assay	60
INCUCYTE KINETIC IMAGING SYSTEM	60
IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY	60
HMGB1 ELISA	61
HMGB1 WESTERN BLOTTING	61
DC ASSAYS	61
DC phagocytosis of tumour cells	61
Cytokine ELISA	62
Cytokine Array	62
Inhibition of TLR4 and its pathways in DC determined by LPS stimulation	on63
T CELL FUNCTIONAL EXPERIMENTS	63
⁵¹ Cr-release assay	63
T cell proliferation in response to cross-presented antigen	64
IFNy-production in response to cross-presented antigen	64
INHIBITORS AND BLOCKING ANTIBODIES	64
TLR4 NUCLEOTIDE SEQUENCING FOR THE ASP299GLY SNP	65
Pyrosequencing	65
TaqMan Predesigned SNP Genotyping Assay	65
III. DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERISATION OF A TUMOUR ANTIGEN CRO	DSS-
PRESENTATION MODEL FROM IRRADIATED TUMOUR CELLS	67
INTRODUCTION	67
Question	
Specific aims	
RESULTS	70
Characterisation of PCa cell lines	70
Specificity and function of the 5T4 specific HLA-A2 ⁺ CD8 ⁺ T cell line	70
DISCUSSION	
IV INVESTIGATING THE IMMUNOGENICITY OF IRRADIATED TUMOUR CEL	IS 94
	94
Question	94
Specific aims	94
RESULTS	
In vitro IR alters tumour cell morpholoay and proliferation	
IR causes cell cycle arrest and necrotic cell death	
The effect of IR on tumour antiaen and MHC Class I expression	
IR induces the exposure or release of immunoaenic sianals	
Phagocytosis of tumour cells	
DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tu	109 mour cells109
<i>DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tu</i> DISCUSSION	109 mour cells109 119
DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tu DISCUSSION	
DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tu DISCUSSION V. THE MECHANISM OF TUMOUR ANTIGEN CROSS-PRESENTATION FROM	
DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tu DISCUSSION V. THE MECHANISM OF TUMOUR ANTIGEN CROSS-PRESENTATION FROM TUMOUR CELLS AND THE ROLE OF TLR4 AND TLR4 POLYMORPHISM	
DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tu DISCUSSION V. THE MECHANISM OF TUMOUR ANTIGEN CROSS-PRESENTATION FROM TUMOUR CELLS AND THE ROLE OF TLR4 AND TLR4 POLYMORPHISM INTRODUCTION Questions:	

Specific aims:	
RESULTS	126
Analysis of TLR4 expression	
LPS responsiveness and TLR4 blocking	
MyD88 and TRIF inhibition	
HMGB1 and Hsp70 inhibition	
Patients and healthy donors identified for TLR4 polymorphism	
TLR4 polymorphism and LPS stimulation	
TLR4 polymorphic DC maturation by irradiated tumour cells	
Cross-presentation of 5T4 antigen by TLR4 polymorphic DC to 5T4 specif	ic T cells147
DISCUSSION	148
GENERAL DISCUSSION	152
REFERENCES	158

APPENDIX A: LUNG CANCER PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATION

APPENDIX B: CANCER IMMUNOLOGY MANUSCRIPT UNDER REVIEW

Declaration

This work has not been submitted in substance for any other degree or award at this or any other university or place of learning, nor is being submitted concurrently in candidature for any degree or other award.

Signed (candidate) Date

STATEMENT 1

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of(insert MCh, MD, MPhil, PhD etc, as appropriate)

Signed (candidate) Date

STATEMENT 2

This thesis is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated. Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references. The views expressed are my own.

Signed	(candidate)	Date
	\ · · · · · · /	

STATEMENT 3

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed	(candidate)	Date
--------	-------------	------

STATEMENT 4: PREVIOUSLY APPROVED BAR ON ACCESS

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loans after expiry of a bar on access previously approved by the Academic Standards & Quality Committee.

Signed(candidate) Date

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Zsuzsanna Tabi for the never-ending support and patience. I have gained so much experience while working in her lab and I am thankful for the time and effort she has invested in me.

Many thanks to my co-supervisors Dr John Staffurth and Dr Mario Labeta for all the advice they provided throughout my project. I would also like to thank Dr Matthew Clement and Professor Linda Wooldridge for their help in generating the tetramer used in this project.

I am also grateful to all those who assisted with the experiments and discussions that have contributed to the work of the thesis. In particular, Dr Aled Clayton, Dr Lisa Spary, Dr Saly Al-Taei, Miss Lynda Churchill, Dr Jason Webber, Dr Joanne Welton and Mr Hossein Navabi.

A special thank you to Ridwana Chowdury for being such a wonderful friend who has made all the tough times bearable. Thanks to Mark Gurney, Vincent Yeung and Chi Pooi Lee for all the 'interesting' conversations during lunch.

Furthermore, thank you to Cardiff University, Medical Research Council, Cancer Research Wales and the Institute of Cancer and Genetics for providing me with the funding to support my research. A big thank you to all the blood donors and phlebotomists at Velindre hospital.

Finally, I will forever be grateful to my mom Rose, my sisters Christine, Albertina and Pamela, and my partner and soul mate Erasmus for the unwavering love, support and motivation throughout my studies.

Publications

Peer-Reviewed Publications

Spary, L. K., Al-Taei, S., Salimu, J., Cook, A. D., Ager, A., Watson, H. A., Clayton, A., Staffurth, J., Mason, M. D. & Tabi, Z. (2014) Enhancement of T Cell Responses as a Result of Synergy between Lower Doses of Radiation and T Cell Stimulation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 192, 3101-3110.

Al-Taei, S., Salimu, J., Lester, J. F., Linnane, S., Goonewardena, M., Harrop, R., Mason, M. D. & Tabi, Z. (2012) Overexpression and potential targeting of the oncofoetal antigen 5T4 in malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Lung cancer* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 77, 312-318.

Manuscripts under review

Salimu, J., Spary, L. K., Al-Taei, S., Clayton, A., Mason, M. D. & Staffurth, J. (2014) Cross-presentation of the oncofetal tumor antigen 5T4 from irradiated prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Immunology Research*, under review.

Spary, L. K., Salimu, J., Jason, W., Clayton, A. & Mason, M. D. (2014) Tumour stroma-derived factors skew monocyte to dendritic cell differentiation towards CD14⁺ programmed death-ligand-1⁺ phenotype in prostate cancer. *OncoImmunology*, under review.

Abstracts

Salimu, J., Al-Taei, S., Spary, L. K., Clayton, A. & Tabi, Z. (2012) Development of a tumour antigen cross-presentation model to determine the immunogenicity of irradiated tumour cells *Immunology*, 137, 65-65.

Tabi, Z., Spary, L. K., Salimu, J., Al-Taei, S., Mason, M. D., Clayton, A. & Staffurth, J. (2012) Increased AMPK phosphorylation and enhanced effector function following low dose ionising radiation of T cells. *Immunology*, 137, 611-611.

Presentations

Presentations to learned Societies: International

Salimu J, Spary LK, Al-Taei S, Tabi Z., (03/2013) **Cross-presentation of tumor antigens from irradiated prostate cancer cells by dendritic cells.** <u>Keystone Symposium:</u> <u>Understanding Dendritic Cell Biology to Advance Disease Therapies</u>, (03/2013) Colorado, USA. Poster Presentation

Salimu J, Al-Taei S, Spary LK, Mason MD, Tabi Z. **Development of a cross-presentation model in order to determine the immunogenicity of irradiated tumour cells.** <u>European</u> <u>Congress of Immunology</u>, Glasgow, (09-2012). Immunology, 137;SI-1: 65-65. Oral Presentation.

Invited Seminars

Josephine Salimu (05/2013). Cross-presentation of tumour antigens from irradiated prostate cancer cells by dendritic cells. Science Seminar, Institut Pasteur, Paris. (*Personal invitation from Professor Matthew Albert and Dr Molly Ingersoll*).

Local Presentations (Cardiff)

Josephine Salimu (06/2014). The role of Hsp70 in tumour antigen cross-presentation following irradiation. Infection and Immunity Seminar Series, Cardiff University. Oral Presentation.

Salimu J, Spary LK, Al-Taei S, Tabi Z., (03/2013). Cross-presentation of tumour antigens from irradiated prostate cancer cells by dendritic cells. Cancer Research Wales Symposium, SWALEC Stadium, Cardiff. Poster Presentation.

Josephine Salimu (09/2012). **Ionising radiation of tumour cells delivers tumour antigen for cross-presentation by dendritic cells.** 27th Annual Postgraduate Research Day, Cardiff University. Oral Presentation. (Awarded Students' Choice Oral Presentation Prize)

Salimu J, Spary LK, Tabi Z., (02/2012). **Tumour antigen cross-presentation.** Cancer Research Wales Open Day, Velindre Cancer Centre, Cardiff. Poster Presentation.

Salimu J, Al-Taei S, Tabi Z. (09/2011). **Development of a 5T4-specific CD8**⁺ **T cell line to detect tumour antigen cross-presentation.** 26th Annual Postgraduate Research Day, Cardiff University. Poster Presentation.

Josephine Salimu (05/2011). **TLR4 polymorphism and antigen cross-presentation in cancer.** Cancer IRG Seminar, Henry Welcome Building, Cardiff University. Oral Presentation.

Summary

Immune responses contribute to the success of radiation therapy of solid tumours; however, the mechanism of triggering $CD8^+$ T cell responses is poorly understood.

Antigen cross-presentation from tumour cells by dendritic cells (DC) is a likely dominant mechanism to achieve CD8⁺ T cell stimulation. We established a crosspresentation model in prostate cancer in which DC present a naturally expressed oncofetal tumour antigen (5T4) from irradiated DU145 tumour cells to 5T4-specific T cells. Ionising radiation (12 Gy) caused G2/M cell cycle arrest and cell death, increased cellular 5T4 and high-mobility protein group-B1 (HMGB1) levels and upregulated surface calreticulin and Hsp70 expression in DU145 cells. Co-culture of DC with irradiated tumour cells lead to efficient phagocytosis of tumour cells and upregulation of CD86 and HLA-DR on DC. CD8⁺ 5T4-specific T cells, stimulated with these DC, proliferated and produced IFNy. Inhibition of HMGB1 decreased T cell stimulation but not DC activation, while TRIF/MyD88 inhibition only had a marginal effect on T cell stimulation. Unlike previous reports, I found no functional evidence that DC with Asp299Gly toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) single nucleotide polymorphism had impaired ability to cross-present tumour antigen. However, I observed a highly significant and robust prevention of antigen cross-presentation when tumour cells were pretreated with the novel Hsp70 inhibitor, VER 155008. The inhibitor also prevented CD86 upregulation on DC co-cultured with irradiated tumour cells. Together, the results in this thesis demonstrate that radiation induces immunologically relevant changes in tumour cells, which can trigger $CD8^+$ T cell responses via a predominantly Hsp70-dependent antigen cross-presentation process.

Abbreviations

ADCC	Antibody Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity
ADT	Androgen Deprivation Therapy
APC	Antigen Presenting Cells
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BLCL	B Lymphoblastoid Cell Lines
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester
CRT	Calreticulin
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Antigen – 4
DAMP s	Damage Associated Molecular Patterns
DC	Dendritic Cells
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulphoxide
EBRT	External Beam Radiotherapy
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
F-Actin	Filamentous Actin
FADD	Fas-associated Death Domain
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GRP	Glucose Regulated Protein
HD	Healthy Donor
HDR	High Dose Rate
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HMGB1	High-Mobility Group Protein B1
HNSCC	Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma
HSP	Heat Shock Protein
IL	Interleukin
IR	Ionising Radiation
IRF3	Interferon Regulatory Factor 3
LDR	Low Dose Rate
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MCA	Methycholanthrene
mCRPC	Metastatic Castrate Resistant Prostate Cancer
MFI	Mean Fluorescent Intensity
MGUS	Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MM	Multiple Myloma
MyD88	Myeloid Differentiation Primary Response Protein 88
NK	Natural Killer
NLRP3	NLR Family, Pyrin Domain Containing-3
NOD	Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain

PAP	Prostatic Acid Phosphatase		
PBMC	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells		
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline		
PCa	Prostate Cancer		
PD-1	Programmed Death-1		
PD-L1	Programmed Death-Ligand 1		
PDGF	Platelet Derived Growth Factor		
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor		
PSA	Prostate Specific Antigen		
PSMA	Prostate Specific Membrane Antigen		
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor κ B		
RAG-2	Recombination Activation Genes-2		
RAGE	Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts		
RER	Rough Endoplasmic Reticulum		
RIPK-1	Receptor Interaction Kinase-1		
RLR	RIG-I Like Receptor		
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species		
RT	Radiation Therapy		
SREC-I	Scavenger Receptor Expressed by Endothelial Cell-i		
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism		
TAA	Tumour Associated Antigen		
TAP	Transporter Associated with Antigen Processing		
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor-Beta		
TILs	Tumour-Infiltrating Lymphocytes		
TIM-3	T-cell Ig and Mucin Containing Domain-3		
TIR	Toll IL-1 Resistance		
TLR	Toll Like Receptor		
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor-Alpha		
TRAM	TRIF-Related Adaptor Molecule		
TRIF	Toll/IL-1R Domain Adaptor Inducing Interferon		
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor		

I. Introduction. The Role of the Immune System in Protection Against Tumours

Immunosurveillance Theory

In 1909 Paul Ehrlich proposed the notion that cancer occurs spontaneously and that the immune system is able to both recognize and protect against it (Ehrlich, 1909). However, this theory could not be experimentally tested because so little was known at the time about the molecular and cellular basis of immunity. Years later, based on the increasing number of observations in mouse models, Lewis Thomas and McFarlane Burnet proposed a theory of "immune surveillance". This theory suggests that effector T cells of the immune system actively patrol the body to identify and eradicate nascent malignancies (Thomas, 1982, Burnet, 1970).

At the time, such work was considered controversial given the evidence that appeared to disapprove the immunosurveillance hypothesis. Athymic nude mice did not have increased susceptibility to tumours induced by 3-methycholanthrene. However, it is now known that Natural Killer (NK) cells are present and functional in nude mice (Shouval et al., 1983). Since then, gene-targeted mice, specific immune system activators and blocking monoclonal antibodies specific for immunologic components have helped to substantiate the immunosurveillance theory.

The important question is how cells of the immunosurveillance network distinguish nascent transformed cells or established tumour cells from normal cells. A role for the immune system in the prevention of tumours is to specifically identify and eliminate tumour cells based on the expression of tumour-associated antigens (TAA) or molecules induced by cellular stress (Swann and Smyth, 2007). Cancer cells express antigens that differentiate them from their non-transformed counterparts. These TAA are often products of mutated cellular genes, over-expressed or aberrantly expressed normal genes or genes encoding viral proteins (Criscitiello, 2012). During adaptive immune responses, tumour cells expressing TAA are eliminated by tumour-specific T cells that recognise the peptide-Major

Histocompatibility Complex (pMHC) complexes in which the peptide components are encoded by e.g. mutant DNA sequences (Nakachi et al., 2004). On the other hand, overexpression of stress-inducible proteins such as NKG2D ligands (MICA, MICB, ULBPs) is required for tumour recognition by the innate immune system (Vesely et al., 2011).

Evidence of immunosurveillance

The first piece of evidence for immunosurveillance came from a study of mice deficient in the recombination activation genes (RAG-2), which are completely deficient in antigen-specific immune cells, such as T, B, and NKT cells due to an inability to rearrange lymphocyte antigen receptors. When RAG-2^{-/-} and wild type mice were subcutaneously injected with chemical carcinogen methycholanthrene (MCA) and monitored for tumour development, RAG-2 knockout mice developed tumours earlier than wild type mice. Thus, T, B and NKT cells are essential to suppress the development of chemically induced tumours (Shankaran et al., 2001).

NK cells are important in cancer immunosurveillance as NK deficient mice were found to have significantly greater death rates with spontaneous malignant tumours late in life (Haliotis et al., 1985). C57BL/6 mice depleted of both NK and NKT cells using the NK1.1 mAb were two to three times more susceptible to MCA-induced tumour formation than wild-type controls (Smyth et al., 2001).

Perforin is a key component of cytolytic granules, which mediate CD8⁺ T cell and NK cell cytotoxicity. Perforin controlled tumour growth in wild type C57BL/6 mice compared to perforin-deficient mice when tumour elimination was dependent on NK cells (Street et al., 2001). Additionally, perforin-deficient mice were also 1000-fold more susceptible to transplanted lymphomas compared with immunocompetent mice when tumour rejection was controlled by CD8⁺ T cells (Smyth et al., 2000). This demonstrates that lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity induced by perforin plays an important role in promoting host resistance to tumours.

The role of cytokines in immunosurveillance is important as they contribute to the tumour elimination by immune cells. Antibody neutralisation of IFN γ or the genetic

deficiency of IFN γ or the IFN γ receptor have consistently shown to result in an increase in chemically induced carcinogenesis and spontaneous tumour development (Dighe et al., 1994, Kaplan et al., 1998). IFN γ has demonstrated antitumor effects by inhibiting tumour proliferation (Kominsky et al., 1998).

Cancer immunosurveillance in humans

A number of clinical observations have provided evidence supporting the notion of cancer immunosurveillance. Firstly, immunocompromised individuals with congenital or acquired immunodeficiencies or immunosuppressed transplant recipients have a heightened risk of malignancy. Most of the cancers that do develop during states of immunodeficiency are cancers related to viral infections such as human herpes virus 8 Epstein-Barr virus (various lymphomas) (Kaposi sarcoma), and Human Papillomavirus (cervical cancer) (Boshoff and Weiss, 2002). However, increased frequencies of numerous solid non-haematological cancers without known viral aetiology have also been observed in immunocompromised individuals (Sampaio et al., 2012). For example, there is evidence of increased incidences of solid cancers in AIDS patients such as a 3.5-fold elevated risk of lung cancer, independent of smoking, compared to the wider population (Chaturvedi et al., 2007, Kirk et al., 2007). The lung cancer risk of patients undergoing organ transplantation is approximately 20 to 25 times that of the general population in the USA, with an incidence of 0.28% to 4.1% in patients after heart and lung transplants (Bellil and Edelman, 2006). In another study, assessment of over 5000 Nordic renal transplant recipients between 1964 and 1982, showed increased standardized cancer incidence ratios for colon, lung, bladder, kidney, ureter, and endocrine tumours compared to the general population (Birkeland et al., 1995).

Human tumours often contain immune cells referred to as tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). The association between favourable patient prognosis and TILs was first observed in patients with melanoma (Clark et al., 1989, Clemente et al., 1996), where it was reported that patients with high levels of CD8⁺ T cell infiltration survive longer than those whose tumours contain low numbers of lymphocytes. The presence of TILs, and in some studies CD8⁺ T cells, has now been shown to be a favourable independent predictor of survival for many tumours including ovarian

cancer (Zhang et al., 2003), colorectal cancer (Baier et al., 1998), urothelial cancer (Sharma et al., 2007) and cervical cancer (Piersma et al., 2007).

Antibody and T cell responses against TAA such as the cancer-testis antigen NY-ESO in cancer patients compared with healthy individuals provide evidence that the immune system can recognize malignant cells (Jäger et al., 1999, Jäger et al., 2000). This may be due to overabundance of antigen or its enhanced presentation to generate immunogenicity in the malignant setting. Paraneoplastic autoimmune syndrome is caused by activation of antitumor immune responses specific for selfantigens expressed on tumour cells. For example, neurological paraneoplastic syndromes are characterised by both high titres of antibodies and lymphocytes reactive to antigens shared between tumour and neural tissue (Posner, 2003). A paraneoplastic immune response can precede tumour diagnosis by a number of years, indicating that antitumor responses might be primed even by undetectable microscopic tumours at pre-clinical stages of development (Mathew et al., 2006).

Epidemiologic studies found childhood infections might lower the risk for cancer in adulthood. Sera samples from patients with mumps induced parotitis and healthy controls were obtained, and anti-MUC-1 antibodies as well as antigen levels of the ovarian cancer antigen CA-125 and MUC-1 were analysed. The level of anti-MUC-1 antibodies was significantly higher in mumps cases compared to controls. Free circulating levels of CA-125, but not MUC-1, were also higher in mumps cases. Meta-analysis addressing the association showed a 19% decrease in risk of ovarian cancer associated with a history of mumps-induced parotitis. The suggestion is that mumps-induced parotitis may lead to the expression and immune recognition of normal or aberrant MUC-1 and creates effective immune memory against the MUC-1 antigen which may provide protection against ovarian cancer (Cramer et al., 2010).

The spontaneous recognition and destruction of human cancers by cells of the adaptive immune system substantiates the occurrence of cancer immunosurveillance in humans. However, tumours do still develop in the presence of a functioning immune system. The concept of cancer immunoediting explains how tumour can arise in seemingly immunocompetent hosts, despite the multitude of immune effector functions in place to protect against carcinogenesis.

Cancer immunoediting theory

Cancer immunoediting emphasizes the dual roles of immunity in protecting the host from tumour development whilst also promoting tumour growth (Dunn et al., 2002). The theory of immunoediting is composed of 3 phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape (Figure 1.1). The elimination phase of cancer immunoediting is the same process described in the initial theory of immunosurveillance whereby the immune cells locate, recognize, and destroy transformed cells and prevent the development of malignancy (Dunn et al., 2002).

In the equilibrium phase, the host immune system and any tumour cells that have survived the elimination phase enter into a dynamic equilibrium phase, where lymphocytes and cytokines exert potent effects sufficient to prevent any tumour expansion but not enough to completely eliminate all the tumours. The survival of the remaining tumour cells is favoured by numerous genetic instabilities and immunoselection making them resistant to immune mediated killing. This process could take place over many years (Prestwich et al., 2008). The existence of a vigorous T cell immune response to pre-malignant monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) cells that eventually progress to multiple myeloma (MM) is consistent with the equilibrium phase. At this disease stage, the immune system controls but does not eliminate the MGUS cells that eventually evolve and progress to malignancy (Dhodapkar et al., 2003, Swann and Smyth, 2007).

In breast cancer patients, successful treatment of primary tumour and subsequent relapse, at least 10 years later, of patients remaining disease free despite evidence of micrometastatic disease is suggestive of tumour dormancy (Karrison et al., 1999). Reported cases in which a donated organ transmitted tumours to the recipient is also suggestive of tumour dormancy in the donor (Myron et al., 2002). It is possible that tumour development was being controlled by the immune system of the immunocompetent donor and that transplantation of the organ into an immunosuppressed host allowed tumour outgrowth.



Figure 1.1: Cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. In cancer immunosurveillance, transformed cells escaping intrinsic tumour suppression mechanisms are subjected to extrinsic tumour suppression mechanisms that detect and eliminate developing tumours. Cancer immunoediting is composed of 3 phases: 1) Elimination of cancer cells (representing the classical concept of cancer immunosurveillance); 2) Equilibrium, a phase of tumour dormancy where tumour cells and immune cells reach a state that keeps tumour expansion in check. This phase may select for the survival of tumour cells with new mutations and favour resistance to immune control. 3) Escape, the balance between immunological control of the tumour and tumour progression tips in favour of tumour growth even in the presence of an antitumor immune response (Vesely et al., 2011).

The escape phase represents the failure of the immune system to either eliminate or control transformed cells, allowing them to become malignant. Tumour cells can evade the immune system by a host of different strategies that entail reduced immunogenicity, resistance to killing by immune effector cells or subversion of the immune responses (Zitvogel et al., 2006). Tumour cells are able to prevent T cell recognition of TAAs via the downregulation of MHC-molecules (Bai et al., 2003). In some cases, tumour cells are unable to produce the intracellular machinery that facilitates antigen processing and presentation (i.e. TAP1 and TAP2). Genomic instability of the tumour cells may result in the loss of TAA, creating antigen loss variants that are no longer detectable by the antigen-specific T cells (Vesely et al., 2011).

Resistance to immune mediated killing is accomplished by altering major mechanisms that mediate immune cytotoxicity. These alterations include impaired binding of perforin to the tumour cell surface which provides resistance to perforin mediated killing (Lehmann et al., 2000), downregulation or mutation of the cell death inducer receptor (FAS) in tumours which affects the binding of the cell death inducer ligand Fas-ligand (FasL) on T cells (Real et al., 2001), or mutations in the TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptors in tumours (Shin et al., 2001). Tumours can also evade effector lymphocytes by upregulating expression of antiapoptotic molecules such as FLIP and BCL-XL (Kataoka et al., 1998, Hinz et al., 2000) or expressing inhibitory cell surface molecules that induce cytotoxic T cell apoptosis such as programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) (Dong et al., 2002) and FasL (Li et al., 2002).

Tumour cells also secrete factors to directly subvert the function of both innate and adaptive immune cells. Antitumor immunity can be subverted at an early stage by tumour-derived factors that inhibit dendritic cell (DC) function. In response to danger or cellular stress, DC are stimulated to mature, migrate and carry tumour antigens to lymph nodes to alert the adaptive immune system to the presence of transformed cells. To inhibit this initial priming event, tumour cells secrete sterol metabolites to suppress the expression of CCR7 on the DC, thereby disrupting DC migration to the lymph nodes (Villablanca et al., 2010). Many tumours produce

vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which is critical for tumour angiogenesis, but also inhibits the ability of DC to stimulate T cells (Mimura et al., 2007). TGF- β secretion by tumour cells leads to inhibition of DC activation as well as direct inhibition of T cell and NK cell function (Wrzesinski et al., 2007). IL-10 present within tumours can suppress DC function and skew T cell responses towards a Th2-type immune response that is less effective against malignant cells (Itakura et al., 2011, Corinti et al., 2001, Aruga et al., 1997). Stromal cells in the tumour microenvironment can skew DC differentiation and function towards an immunosuppressive phenotype with elevated PD-L1 expression (Spary et al., 2014)

A variety of immunosuppressive leukocytes can suppress immune function. The production of GM-CSF, IL-1 β , VEGF, and prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) by tumour cells leads to the expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) and their accumulation within the tumour. MDSC are a heterogeneous group of myeloid progenitor cells and immature myeloid cells that can inhibit lymphocyte function by a number of mechanisms (Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009). The production of TGF- β by MDSC induces anergy of NK cells (Li et al., 2009a). MDSC inhibit T cell activation by depleting or sequestering amino acids arginine and cysteine (Srivastava et al., 2010) as well as directly disrupting the binding of specific pMHC complexes to CD8⁺ T cells (Nagaraj et al., 2007). The development of regulatory T cells (Tregs) is induced by MDSC (Huang et al., 2006).

Tregs are critical mediators of peripheral tolerance under physiological settings but are often recruited to the tumour site where they suppress antitumor immunity. They inhibit CD8⁺ T cell function in a number of ways, including IL-10 and TGF- β production, cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and PD-L1 expression, and IL-2 consumption (Terabe and Berzofsky, 2004). Furthermore, TGF- β production by tumour cells can convert effector T cells into Tregs, that in turn suppress other effector T cells, which infiltrate the tumour (Sakaguchi et al., 2009).

Cytokines, produced at the tumour site, such as IL-4, IL-13 and IL-10 induce M2 macrophages. M2 macrophages can inhibit antitumor immunity through the production of TGF- β and IL-10 and can promote stromal development and

angiogenesis through secretion of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (Sica et al., 2008).

The complexity of cancer immunobiology

According to the immunoediting hypothesis, tumour cell selection favours not only cells that can evade the immune system, but also tumour cells that may support a tumour-promoting immune response. Whereas full activation of adaptive immune cells in response to the tumours might result in eradication of malignant cells, chronic activation of various types of innate immune cells in or around pre-malignant tissue sometimes promotes tumour development (de Visser et al., 2006).

Innate immune cells, such as DC, NK cells, macrophages, neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils and mast cells, are the first line of defence against foreign pathogens. DC, macrophages and mast cells serve as sentinel cells that are found in tissues and continuously monitor their microenvironment for signs of distress. When tissue homeostasis is perturbed, sentinel macrophages and mast cells immediately release soluble mediators such as cytokines, chemokines, matrix remodelling proteases, and reactive oxygen species (ROS), as well as biochemical mediators such as histamine that induce mobilization and infiltration of additional leukocytes into damaged tissues, a process known as inflammation (de Visser et al., 2006). However, chronic inflammation can promote tumour development, with the innate cells providing proliferation and angiogenic signals. Malignant tissues that contain infiltrates of some innate cell types, such as macrophages in human breast carcinoma and mast cells in lung adenocarcinoma and melanoma, tend to be associated with an unfavourable clinical prognosis (Leek et al., 1996, Leek et al., 1999, Imada et al., 2000, Ribatti et al., 2003). Moreover, population based studies reveal that individuals who are prone to chronic inflammatory diseases have an increased risk of cancer development (Balkwill et al., 2005). In addition, over 15% of all human cancers are believed to be caused by infectious conditions (Pagano et al., 2004), some of which indirectly promote carcinogenesis through induction of chronic inflammatory states (Balkwill and Mantovani, 2001).

In contrast, infiltration of NK cells in human gastric or colorectal carcinoma is associated with a favourable prognosis (Ishigami et al., 2000, Coca et al., 1997). Therefore, the innate immune system can play a key role in initiating a protective antitumor immune response but can also inhibit it. Cancer immunoediting and tumour-promoting inflammation might not be mutually exclusive processes, but rather potentially overlapping immune responses. Both MyD88 and IL-1 β have been shown to promote tumourigenesis in a number of primary carcinogen models (Swann et al., 2008, Krelin et al., 2007), but MyD88 and IL-1β are also critical to the development of antitumor immunity against established tumours through recognition of dying tumour cells undergoing immunogenic cell death (Apetoh et al., 2007b, Ghiringhelli et al., 2009). Furthermore, while TNF-a is important for tumour apoptosis and the priming, proliferation and recruitment of T cells (Calzascia et al., 2007), it can also mediate cancer development (Szlosarek and Balkwill, 2003). The various mechanisms by which TNF- α promotes cancer growth, invasion, and metastasis include acting as a growth factor in certain tumour types by increasing concentrations of positive cell-cycle regulators (and decreasing levels of CDK inhibitors) and components of growth-factor-receptor signalling pathways such as RAS or c-MYC (Gaiotti et al., 2000). TNF- α also induces chemoresistance in several cancers (Maeda et al., 1994) and mediates androgen independence in prostate cancer (Mizkami et al., 2000).

Given the complexity of cancer immunoediting, the identification of key immune molecules and cells important for the elimination of nascent transformed cells may provide opportunities to harness specific aspects of immunity to induce tumour regression. The inhibition of tumour escape mechanisms may also render tumour cells visible for immune recognition, enabling immune mediated destruction, which is achieved by some traditional cancer treatments such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy.

Immune cells involved in antitumor responses

Dendritic Cells (DC)

DC are members of the innate immune system and function as key players during the induction phase of adaptive immune responses. For an anticancer immune response

to lead to effective killing of tumour cells, a series of events must be initiated and allowed to proceed. In the first step, tumour cells expressing TAA are captured by DC for processing; secondly, DC present the captured antigen on MHC molecules to T cells leading to the third step involving priming and activation of effector T cell responses against the tumour specific antigen.

DC are a set of antigen presenting cells (APC) present in lymph nodes, spleen and at low levels in blood that are particularly effective at stimulating T cells. They are one of the key features of the innate immune system as they have the ability to rapidly recognize pathogen and tissue injury and have the ability to signal the presence of danger to cells of the adaptive immune system. DC are unique APC as they are the only ones that are able to induce primary immune responses by priming naïve T cells thus permitting establishment of immunological memory (Banchereau et al., 2000).

The origin and subsets of human DC

DC originate from CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells within the bone marrow and circulate through the blood and lymphoid organs. In human blood, plasmacytoid DC and myeloid DC represent two major DC subsets derived from different developmental pathways. In steady state, they can be distinguished based on morphology, surface markers and gene expression profiles. Plasmacytoid DC have a plasma cell-like morphology, are negative for CD11c and CD1a and express relatively low levels of HLA-DR. They are phenotypically distinguished by the presence CD123, CD303 (BDCA-2) and CD304 (BDCA-4) (Chan et al., 2012). Plasmacytoid DC have a strong capacity to produce Type 1 interferon after viral exposure but primarily mediate regulatory rather than stimulatory T cell immune responses in a cancer setting (Wei et al., 2005).

In contrast, myeloid DC are classically characterised by the high expression of CD11c, CD1a, and HLA-DR with the distinguishing morphology of protruding dendrites (Chan et al., 2012). CD11c⁺ blood DC are divided according to the specific expression of CD1c (BDCA-1) and CD141 (BDCA3). CD14⁺ peripheral blood monocytes obtained from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and cultured with granulocyte monocyte-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-4 *in vitro* differentiate into myeloid DC (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). Myeloid DC can

produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12, can prime naïve T cells and activate T cell responses. They are also able to cross-present tumour antigens to antigen-specific T cells. Myeloid DC are widely used for human *in vitro* immunological studies (Mittag et al., 2011, Palucka and Banchereau, 2013) and in cancer vaccines (Guardino et al., 2006, Rosenblatt et al., 2011).

DC maturation

Newly generated myeloid DC home to tissues where they reside as immature cells. Immature DC (iDC) are characterised by high levels of antigen capture and processing but low T cell stimulatory capacity with low expression of co-stimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80 and CD86) and are negative for the DC maturation marker CD83. DC are recruited by chemokines such as CCL2, CCL3 and RANTES to the site of tissue damage or infection upon local inflammation. iDC efficiently capture cells or pathogens at the site using several ways such as phagocytosis, macropinocytosis and endocytosis.

DC express numerous pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), which permit sensing and transmission of danger signals to adaptive immune cells. PRRs include C-type lectins, Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD-like) receptors, as well as RIG-I like receptors (RLR). These receptors allow DC to sense pathogens, apoptotic and necrotic cells and stressed cell products. Activation of PRRs induces phenotypic changes in DC, specifically the upregulation of the CD83 maturation marker, and CCR7, increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86, and redistribution of MHC molecules from intracellular endocytic compartments to the DC surface (Aguilera et al., 2011, Banchereau et al., 2000). The maturation processes also include the loss of endocytic and phagocytic receptors and downregulation of CD14 on the cell surfaces. PRR activation on DC also leads to the secretion of IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α and IL-12 (Shen et al., 2008). These activated DC play an important role in the bystander activation of other DC, NK, NKT and CD8⁺ T cells, which secrete IFN γ and other cytokines that aid in tumour and microbe eradication (Rossi and Young, 2005).

DC migration towards secondary lymphoid organs

The ability of DC to migrate from antigen encounter to the sites of T cell priming is fundamental to their capacity to induce primary immune responses. Soon after activation, maturing DC undergo a rapid switch in the expression of chemokines. DC start downregulating the expression of the inflammatory chemokine receptors upon activation, resulting in an unresponsiveness of the maturing DC to inflammatory cytokines such as CCL2 and RANTES. At the same time, the expression of the lymphoid chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR7 are strongly upregulated, enabling maturing DC to respond to the lymphoid chemokines CXCL12, CCL21 and CCL19, which are expressed in lymphoid organs (Ricart et al., 2011, Vecchi et al., 1999, Sallusto et al., 2000).

Antigen processing and presentation

During the migration toward secondary lymphoid organs, DC switch from an antigen capturing to an antigen presenting mode allowing them to induce T cell responses. T cells only recognize antigen that has been processed and presented on MHC molecules. Antigen processing is the conversion of native proteins into MHC-associated peptides. MHC molecules play a role in the determination of adaptive immune responses, as the particular set of MHC molecules expressed influences the repertoire of antigens to which that CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells can respond (Doherty and Zinkernagel, 1975, Kaye et al., 1989).

Antigen processing and presentation to CD4⁺ T cells

The role of CD4⁺ T cells in antitumor responses is to predominantly provide help during priming of naive CD8⁺ T cell to achieve full activation and effector function of tumour-specific CD8⁺ T cells. However, they also express both Th1 and Th2 cytokines required for maximal systemic antitumor immunity and recruitment of other immune cells. CD4⁺ T cells recognize peptides bound to MHC class II molecules expressed on APC such as macrophages, DC and B cells (Germain, 1994).

Structure of MHC class II molecule

MHC Class II molecules have two nonidentical glycoprotein chains, a 33kDa α chain and a 28kDa β chain associated by non-covalent interactions. Each chain in the class II molecule contains two external domains: α 1 and α 2 domains in one chain and β 1 and β 2 domains in the other (Brown et al., 1993). MHC class II molecules interact with peptides derived from endocytic degradation of exogenous antigens. Peptides recovered from MHC class II peptide complexes generally contain 13-18 amino acid residues. The peptide-binding cleft in MHC class II molecules is open at both ends allowing longer peptides to extend beyond the ends (Rudensky et al., 1991, Hunt et al., 1992).

The MHC class II exogenous antigen presentation pathway

APC can internalise exogenous antigen by phagocytosis, endocytosis, or both. Once an antigen is internalized, it is degraded into peptides within compartments of the endocytic processing pathway. The endocytic pathway appears to involve three increasingly acidic compartments: early endosomes (pH 6.0-6.5); late endosomes, or endolysosomes (pH 5.0-6.0); and lysosomes (pH 4.5-5.0) (Clague M.J, 1998). Within the compartments of the endocytic pathway, antigen is degraded into oligopepetides of about 13 to 18 residues, which bind to MHC class II molecules and are thus protected from further proteolysis. The invariant chain interacts with the peptide-binding cleft of the class II molecules, preventing any endogenously derived peptides from binding to the cleft. The invariant chain is also involved in the folding of the class II α and β chains, their exit from the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER), and the subsequent routing of the class II molecules to the endocytic processing pathway from the trans-golgi network. As the proteolytic activity increases in each successive compartment, the invariant chain is gradually degraded leaving a short fragment of the invariant chain termed CLIP bound to the MHC class II molecule. CLIP physically occupies the peptide-binding groove of the class II MHC molecule, preventing any premature binding of the antigenic peptide. A nonclassical MHC class II molecule called HLA-DM is required to catalyze the exchange of CLIP with antigenic peptides (Kropshofer et al., 1999). Once a peptide has bound, the peptide-class II complex is transported to the plasma membrane, where the neutral pH appears to enable the complex to assume a compact, stable form (Nielsen et al., 2010, Blum et al., 2013).

Antigen processing and presentation to CD8⁺ T cells

MHC class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated cells. Given that nonhematopoietic tumour cells express MHC class I molecules, required for CD8⁺ T cell recognition, but do not express MHC class II molecules required for CD4⁺ T cell recognition, predominant tumour recognition and killing occurs by CD8⁺ T cell. The

generation of CD8⁺ T cell responses occurs in two phases, both of which involve the process of antigen presentation. In the first phase, APC such as DC gather antigens present in tissues, as described above, and then present them to naive CD8⁺ T cells in the draining lymph nodes in ways that stimulate their maturation into effector T cells. In the second phase, these effector T cells seek out and eliminate the infected or abnormal cells expressing the appropriate antigens.

Structure of MHC class I molecules

MHC class I molecules have a heavy 45kDa glycoprotein chain associated noncovalently with the small (12kDa) β_2 microglobulin molecule. The α chain of MHC class I molecules is organized into three external domains ($\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$) (Madden et al., 1992). MHC class I molecules interact with peptides derived from cytosolic degradation of endogenously synthesized proteins. The peptides that bind MHC class I molecules are eight to ten amino acid long and contain specific amino acids (motifs) in key positions that are essential for binding to a particular MHC molecule. This peptide length is most compatible with the closed-ended peptide binding cleft of the class I molecules (Madden et al., 1991).

The MHC class I endogenous antigen presentation pathway

CD8⁺ T cells seeking out and eliminating infected and abnormal cells use the endogenous antigen presentation pathway. Intracellular proteins are degraded into short peptides by cytosolic protease complexes called proteasomes. Peptides generated in the cytosol by the proteasome are translocated by the transporter protein called transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) into the RER by a process that requires the hydrolysis of ATP. The optimal peptide length of 9 amino acids for MHC class I binding is achieved by trimming with aminopeptidases present in the ER such as ERAP. The α chain and β_2 -microglobulin components of the MHC class I molecule are synthesized on polysomes along the RER. Within the RER membrane, a newly synthesized class I α chain associates with calnexin, until the β_2 microglobulin binds to the α chain. Binding to β_2 microglobulin releases calnexin and allows binding to the chaperonin calreticulin and to tapasin, which is associated with TAP. This association promotes binding of an antigenic peptide, which stabilizes the class I molecule-peptide complex, allowing its release from the RER

and transit to the cell surface via the Golgi complex (Rock et al., 2010, Blum et al., 2013).

The cross-presentation pathway of exogenous antigens

Naive antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells cannot directly eliminate tumour cells. To become effector T cells, naive CD8⁺ T cells need first to be activated by professional APC such as DC (Bousso and Robey, 2003). CD8⁺ T cells are primarily generated within the lymph nodes and tumour antigens are only present within the lymph node if the tumour cells migrate there (Ochsenbein et al., 2001). Therefore, in the majority of cases, DC acquire tumour antigens in the tumour tissue, and migrate to lymph nodes where they prime naive CD8⁺ T cells by presenting antigens on MHC class I molecules, by a mechanism known as cross-presentation (Rock et al., 2010). Following uptake, exogenous antigens are internalized into specialized organelles that are termed phagosomes for particulate/cell-associate antigens, or endosomes for soluble protein antigen (McDonnell et al., 2010). There are two best-characterized mechanisms by which peptides for cross-presentation are generated from protein.

The phagosome-cytosol pathway is one of the major cross-presentation mechanisms and involves transfer of the internalized protein from phagosomes to the cytosol. The transferred antigen is then degraded by proteasomes and the resulting peptides are transported to newly synthesized MHC class I molecules by TAP. Hence, similar to direct presentation, this pathway is proteasome- and TAP-dependent (Shen and Rock, 2006). However, the mechanism allowing transfer of proteins into the cytosol is unclear.

The second mechanism of cross-presentation is the vacuolar pathway. This pathway is TAP independent and insensitive to proteasome inhibitors thus it is clearly different from the phagosome-to-cytosol pathway. The generation of cross-presented peptides in the vacuolar pathway is inhibited by cysteine protease inhibitors such as leupeptin; therefore it is suggested that exogenous proteins are degraded into peptides by lysosomal proteases within the lumen of the phagosome or endosome (Rock et al., 2010). These peptides are then loaded onto recycling MHC class I molecules by peptide exchange. It may be dependent on the type of antigen and the mechanism of uptake that decides the internal route to cross-presentation.

Factors influencing cross-presentation

Although numerous studies have suggested that the capacity to cross-present exogenous antigen may be restricted to a specialized DC subset such as CD1c and CD141 DC, it seems that a cross-presentation program can be initiated in most if not all DC subsets (Nierkens et al., 2013). Factors emerging as important for the modulation of cross-presentation activity in DC are the type and source of antigen, presence of DC immunogenic/stimulatory factors and endocytic/signalling receptors. Potential mechanisms for transfer of tumour antigens to DC for cross-presentation include (Melief, 2008):

- Phagocytosis of cell associated antigens (Albert et al., 1998, Fonseca and Dranoff, 2008),
- o Pinocytosis/endocytosis of soluble antigen (Norbury et al., 2004),
- Capture of soluble antigens bound to heat shock proteins (Binder et al., 2007, Giodini and Cresswell, 2008),
- Transfer of small antigenic protein fragments through gap-junctions (Neijssen et al., 2005),
- Capture of antigen-carrying exosomes (Zeelenberg et al., 2008),
- Nibbling of live tumour cell membrane (Harshyne et al., 2001),
- Cross-dressing whereby DC acquire peptide-MHC complexes from contact with necrotic cells (Dolan et al., 2006).

Cell-associated antigens, especially from dead cells, are cross-presented more efficiently than soluble proteins to generate CD8⁺ T cell responses (Albert et al., 1998). Therefore, while dead cells can generate immune responses, the immunological outcome fundamentally depends on the type of cell death. DC efficiently take up a variety of apoptotic and necrotic tumour cells. However, only exposure to the latter induces DC maturation. Apoptotic cells can suppress the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokine genes, promote the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines by phagocytes and can cause DC to cross-present apoptotic cell-derived antigen in a matter that promotes immunological tolerance (Stuart et al., 2002, Rock and Kono, 2008). This event is associated with the release of anti-

inflammatory mediators like TGF- β or PGE₂ and recruitment of Tregs in order to avoid local inflammation (Tesniere et al., 2007, Lauber et al., 2012, Golden et al., 2012). In contrast, necrotic cell death, which is often passive, leads to the exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) and consequent activation of inflammatory and immune effectors (Sauter et al., 2000). Autophagy also has a role in antigen cross-presentation and T cell cross-priming with cell-associated antigen. Autophagy was required for efficient antigen cross-presentation of OVA-expressing HEK-293T cells or gp100-expressing melanoma cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Albert and Joubert, 2012, Li et al., 2009b, Li et al., 2008). This suggests that cell death modality determines how dead cells are degraded and antigens contained in them are presented.

Immunogenic cell death (ICD) signals

In 1994 Polly Matzinger proposed the 'danger theory', which states that the immune system can distinguish between dangerous and innocuous endogenous signals (Matzinger, 1994). It became evident that dying, stressed or injured cells release or expose molecules on their surface that can function as either adjuvant or danger signals for the innate immune system These signals were later called DAMPs (Garg et al., 2010). Some DAMPs are released (such ATP and high mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1)) or become exposed on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane (such as calreticulin (CRT) and heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70)). Most of these DAMPs have no immunological functions within the cells until they are secreted into the extracellular space or exposed on the plasma membrane. Table 1.1 has an overview of DAMPs associated with various types of cell death and their immunodulatory function.

Despite the growing list of players contributing to the "ideal" antigen crosspresentation setting, the plasticity of the process has also been demonstrated, for example, highly polarized (type-1) DC can efficiently prime T cells even when cocultured with apoptotic cells (Wieckowski et al., 2010). Furthermore, DC can acquire antigen from live cells for antigen cross-presentation both in tumour and viral settings (Harshyne et al., 2001, Matheoud et al., 2011, Tabi et al., 2001). In the latter, while apoptosis of infected fibroblasts is inhibited by the virus, Hsp70 expression is significantly upregulated by the infection (Santomenna and Colberg-Poley, 1990).

DAMPs	Receptor	Type of cell death	Immunomodulatory	Refs
		(and mode of	Functions	
		emergence)		
ATP	P2Y2 and	Primary necrosis	Can act as a 'find me'	(Garg et al., 2012b),
	P2X7	(passively released)	signal, causes NLRP3-	(Ghiringhelli et al.,
		immunogenic	inflammasome-based	2009),
		apoptosis, cell	IL-1β production from	(Michaud et al.,
		death accompanied	DC and mediates	2011),
		by autophagy	mitoxantrone- and	(Elliott et al., 2009)
			oxaliplatin- induced	
			antitumor immunity	
CRT	CD91	Immunogenic	A potent 'eat me'	(Obeid et al.,
		apoptosis (either	signal and mediator of	2007b),
		pre-apoptotic or	tumour	(Gardai et al., 2005)
		early or mid	immunogenicity	
		apoptotic surface	crucial for antitumor	
		exposure)	immunity.	
F-actin	DNGR1	Accidental necrosis	Helps in recognition of	(Ahrens et al., 2012)
		and secondary	necrotic cells by CD8 α^{+}	
		necrosis	dendritic cells	
Hsp70,	CD91,	Necrosis (passively	Can attract monocytes	(Garg et al., 2012a),
Hsp90,	TLR2, TLR4,	released) and	and neutrophils. Can	(Basu et al., 2000),
Hsp60,	SREC-I and	immunogenic	cause NK cell	(Vega et al., 2008)
Hsp72,	Stabilin-1	apoptosis (either	activation and DC	
GRP78		pre-apoptotic or	maturation. Surface-	
and GP96		early or mid-	exposed HSP90 can	
		apoptotic surface	mediate T cell-based	
		exposure)	antitumor immunity.	
HMGB1	TLR2, TLR4,	Primary necrosis	Can act as a strong	(Apetoh et al.,
	RAGE and	and secondary	cytokine and attract	2007a),
	TIM3	necrosis, (passively	various immune cells.	(Scaffidi et al.,
		released). Cell	Can cause DC	2002),
		death accompanied	maturation.	(Thorburn et al.,
		by autophagy	Immunostimulatory	2008),
		(early or mid	activity of HMGB1	(Chiba et al., 2012)
		apoptotic active	might be inactivated	
		secretion)	during apoptosis	

Table 1.1: An overview of DAMPs associated with various types of cell death and their immunomodulatory functions (adapted from Krysko et al., 2012). ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CRT, calreticulin; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns; DC, dendritic cells; DNGR1, dendritic cell NK lectin; F-actin, filamentous actin; GRP, glucose regulated protein; HMGB1, high-mobility group protein b1; HSP, heat shock protein; NLRP3, NRL family pyrin domain containing 3; RAGE, receptor for advanced glycation end products; SREC-I, scavenger receptor class F member 1; TIM3, T-cell Ig and mucin containing domain 3; TLR; toll like receptor.

These examples illustrate that if any key player of the antigen cross-presentation process is overexpressed or hyper-activated, it can generate a shortcut leading to antigen cross-presentation even if not all the elements, as discussed earlier, are present.

TLR4

TLRs are a family of receptors with a main role in binding a wide array of pathogens and bridge the gap between the innate and the adaptive immune system. TLRs consist of three domains: an exterior region that contains many leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), a membrane-spanning domain and an interior domain called the TIR domain. The ligand-binding site of the TLR is found among the LRRs whilst the TIR domain interacts with the signalling machinery of immune response stimulation. There are at least 10 TLRs expressed in humans. Their cytoplasmic domains are highly homologous, but because of differences in the extracellular domain structure they recognize diverse microbes differently (Kutikhin, 2010). TLR4 is one of the most investigated TLR and has been shown to be essential for tumour antigen crosspresentation in mouse models (Apetoh et al., 2007b).

The gene encoding for TLR4 is located on chromosome 9q32-q33, contains 4 exons and is expressed on lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages and DC. TLR4 binds microbial ligands such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) fusion protein and the component of Cryptococcus neoformans, glucuronoxylomannan (Kutikhin, 2010). TLR4 also binds various endogenous ligands, including Hsp60, Hsp70 and gp96, β-defensin and HMGB1. Upon association with the ligands, TLR4 transduces signals through two pathways involving distinct adaptors, Toll/IL-1R (TIR) domain containing adaptor inducing interferon (TRIF) and myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88 (MyD88) (Figure 1.2). The MyD88 adapter-like protein (MAL) mediates the MyD88 pathway. Initiation of the MyD88-dependent pathway activation leads to the activation of the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) and AP-1 and the transcription of pro-inflammatory genes. The TRIF-related adapter molecule (TRAM) mediates the TRIF-dependent pathway. Initiation of the TRIF pathway leads to the activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3), and the expression of IFN- β and IFN-inducible genes (Ferwerda et al., 2008).



Figure 1.2 TLR4 activates the MyD88-dependent and the TRIF-dependent pathways. MAL and TRAM are required for the activation of MyD88- and TRIF dependent pathways, respectively, MyD88 recruits IRAK4 and TRAF6 upon ligand stimulation. TRAF6 activates TAK1/TAB1/TAB2/TAB3 complex via K63-linked ubiquination (Ub). Activated TAK1 complex then activates the IKK complex consisting of IKKα, IKKβ and IKKγ/NEMO, which catalyze IkBs (P). IkBs are destroyed by the proteasome pathway, allowing NF-kB to translocate into nuclei. TAK1 simultaneously activates the MAP kinase pathway, which results in phosphorylation (P) and activation of AP-1. NF-kB and AP-1 control inflammatory responses by inducing pro-inflammatory cytokines. TLR4 also recruits TRAM and TRIF, which interacts with TBK1. TBK1 together with IKKi mediates phosphorylation of IRF3 (P). Phosphorylated IRF3 is dimerized and translocated into nucleus to bind DNA. TRIF also interacts with TRAF6 and RIP1, which mediate NF-kB activation. Activation of IRF3, NF-kB and AP-1 is required for induction of type I IFN, particularly IFN-β. (Adapted from (Selvarajoo, 2013))

TLR4 in antigen cross-presentation

The role of TLR4 in efficient cross-presentation has been demonstrated in TLR4^{-/-} mouse DC which failed to cross-present antigen from irradiated dying tumour cells to T cells *in vitro* (Apetoh et al., 2007b). Within TLR4^{-/-} mouse DC, antigenic particles were more rapidly destroyed via the lysosomal pathway than in wild type DC. In the same study, HMGB1 was detected in the supernatant of dying cells. Binding of HMGB1 to TLR4 was previously shown using fluorescence resonance energy transfer analyses and immunoprecipitation (Park et al., 2005) and recently knockdown or neutralization of HMGB1 was also carried out. Consequently, protection against tumours was lost and inhibition of tumour antigen presentation and lack of T cell priming were observed *in vivo*. Therefore, the research by Apetoh et al (2007) demonstrated that both the release of HMGB1 by dying tumour cells and the TLR4-MyD88 signalling pathway are required for the immune response against tumours and also for the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy in mice (Apetoh et al., 2007b).

TLR4 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)

Two cosegregating missense SNPs have been identified in the *TLR4* gene at minor allele frequencies between 8 and 10% in Caucasian populations, which result, respectively, in aspartic acid to glycine substitution at position 299 (Asp299Gly) and threonine to isoleucine substitution at position 399 (Thr399Ile) in the receptor protein. These SNPs are situated within the extracellular domain of TLR4 and are associated with impaired ligand-receptor binding (Apetoh et al., 2007b), alteration in the dimerization of the TLR4/MD2 complex (Yamakawa et al., 2013) and/or interference with the recruitment of TLR4 adaptors, MyD88 and TRIF (Figueroa et al., 2012). The Asp299Gly SNP removes a potential negative charge and increases rotational freedom about the peptide bond, while the Thr399Ile SNP increases the overall steric bulk in the extracellular domain, possibly preventing ligand/cofactor (MD2) docking (Rallabhandi et al., 2006). This results in the reduced capacity for individuals to mount immune responses against TLR4 ligands.

Activation of NF κ B leads to the release of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and co-stimulatory molecules. The inflammatory mediators can exert various atherogenic

effects involving the expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, proliferation of smooth muscle cells, activation of immune cells and activation of the acute phase response (Kiechl et al., 2002). A study by Kiechl et al (2002), showed that compared with the carriers of the wild-type TLR4, subjects with the Asp299Gly mutated allele had lower levels of some inflammatory cytokines, acute phase reactants, soluble adhesion molecules, and other mediators of inflammation such as IL-6, soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (sVCAM), and Neopterin. Most importantly, these individuals had a reduced risk of atherosclerosis. The reason for this has been suggested to be the reduced inflammatory mediators responsible for exerting atherogenic effects (Kiechl et al., 2002).

Additionally, carriers of the Asp299Gly allele appeared to be more susceptible to bacterial infections compared to those carrying the wild type (Kiechl et al., 2002). The TLR4 Asp299Gly allele was found exclusively in patients with septic shock. Patients with septic shock with the TLR4 Asp299Gly/Thr399Ile alleles had a higher prevalence of gram-negative infections (Lorenz et al., 2002). The lower levels of cytokine production in individuals with the polymorphisms may subsequently increase their susceptibility to bacterial infection, as they are unable to clear the invading microorganisms.

The functional consequence of the Asp299Gly SNP in a tumour antigen crosspresentation setting has only been demonstrated by Apetoh et al (2007). DC from individuals bearing the mutation had a severely impaired capacity to cross-present MART-1 antigen derived from dying melanoma cells to a MART-1 specific CTL clone compared to individuals with the Asp299 allele. It was suggested in the study that impaired cross-presentation might be due to defective binding of HMGB1 to the mutated TLR4 allele (Apetoh et al., 2007b).

However, contradicting studies regarding the functional effects of the TLR4 polymorphism have also been reported. Tulic et al (2007) demonstrated that impaired responses to RSV and LPS were associated with reduced NF- κ B signalling post-TLR4 engagement, reduced IFN, IL-8, IL-10 IL-12p35, IL-18 and CCL8 release and the absence of acute phase TNF- α in the group with TLR4 Asp299Gly or Thr399Ile SNPs (Tulic et al., 2007). Conversely, Dourville et al (2010) found that the TLR4

SNPs did not influence immune responses evoked by LPS and RSV infection as measured by the intermediate phenotype of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines (Douville et al., 2010). The diversity in the findings may be due to differences in the experimental systems. While Tulic et al. (2007) preactivated PBMC with IFN γ before stimulating the cells with the TLR4 ligands, Douville et al., (2010) did not. This may change the phenotype of PBMC and hence affect the results.

Although the studies above illustrate the effects of Asp299Gly and/or Thr399Ile TLR4 SNPs, there are numerous other studies that found no association between the mutations and cellular immune responses (Allen et al., 2003, Read et al., 2001, Feterowski et al., 2003). In one study, the consequences of the Asp299Gly polymorphism were investigated after stimulation of mononuclear cells with LPS, the non-LPS TLR4 microbial stimuli *Aspergillus fumigates* and *Cryptococcus neoformans*, and the endogenous TLR4 ligand Hsp60. No differences in either the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α or the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 were observed between volunteers with the wild-type allele, volunteers heterozygous for the Asp299Gly allele and one volunteer homozygous for the Asp299Gly variant (van der Graaf et al., 2005b).

Discrepancies in the results may be attributed to the genotypic differences observed between TLR4 haplotypes. Many experimental and clinical studies observed no functional differences between individuals with the cosegregating Asp299Gly/Thr399Ile haplotype and those with the wild type TLR4 allele (Calvano et al., 2006, Erridge et al., 2003, Schippers et al., 2004, Ferwerda et al., 2008). In an in vitro experiment using whole blood, Ferweda et al (2007) found that individuals with the Asp299Gly allele alone, a genotype often found within the African population, had an altered cytokine profile in response to LPS whilst individuals with both Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile alleles did not (Ferwerda et al., 2008). This was however, the only study that observed an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines therefore contradicting the other studies. In the only study that investigated the role of all TLR4 haplotypes on the susceptibility to septic shock, the presence of the Asp299Gly alone, but not that of the Asp299Gly/Thr399Ile haplotype, was associated with an increased mortality to septic shock (Lorenz et al., 2002).

Investigations to determine the haplotype functionally relevant have also been carried out in transfected cells. Transfection of THP-1 cells demonstrated that the Asp299Gly mutation (but not the Thr399Ile mutation) interrupts TLR4-mediated LPS signalling measured by NF-kB activity (Arbour et al., 2000). In another study, cells transfected with Asp299Gly TLR4 exhibited impaired LPS-induced phosphorylation of p38 and TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1), activation of NF-kB and IRF3, and induction of IL-8 and IFN-β mRNA, whereas the Thr399Ile TLR4 did not cause statistically significant changes. However, the use of transfection to investigate the phenotypic effect of certain mutations meets with several complications. Transfections represent a stripped-down model performed in altered cell lines. As a result, transfected cells may behave differently from cells expressing these mutations naturally. Furthermore, transfections only represent the homozygous state. Most studies of TLR4 haplotypes include heterozygous state, whereas the homozygous state of these polymorphisms is rare. Therefore, determination of the association between the Asp299Gly/Thr399Ile haplotype and the phenotype, and its impact on the susceptibility to Gram-negative infection or diseases (based on transfection experiments), is difficult and prone to artifacts (Ferwerda et al., 2008).

The impact of TLR4 polymorphism on the outcomes of cancer treatment

Apetoh et al (2007) investigated the clinical relevance of the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP in the response to anticancer treatments. A retrospective cohort study of 280 breast cancer patients presenting with lymph node involvement, treated with local radiation and anthracycline-based chemotherapy, was designed. No significant differences for all classical prognostic factors between normal individuals and patients bearing the mutated TLR4 allele were observed (Apetoh et al., 2007b). However, metastasis-free survival was significantly decreased in women carrying the variant allele of TLR4. Forty percent of women with the mutated allele relapsed in five years compared to twenty-six percent with the normal allele. Therefore, patients with breast cancer who carry a TLR4 polymorphic allele relapse more quickly after radiotherapy and chemotherapy than those carrying the normal TLR4 allele (Apetoh et al., 2007b).
Bergmann et al (2011) also looked at the impact of the Asp299Gly SNP on the clinical outcome of adjuvant systemic therapy with chemotherapy and radiotherapy after surgery in a large cohort of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patients. Genotype analysis was done using DNA from tissue samples of 188 patients with HNSCC. Ten percent of patients carried the TLR4 Asp299Gly allele. Patients with the heterozygous genotype TLR4 Asp299Gly had a significantly reduced disease-free and overall survival. These associations seem to be attributable to relatively poor therapy-response among HNSCC patients carrying the Asp299Gly variant receiving adjuvant treatment (Bergmann et al., 2011). Conclusively, this study demonstrates that TLR4 Asp299Gly allele may serve as a marker for prognosis of head and neck patients with adjuvant systemic therapy, particularly chemotherapy, and might indicate therapy resistance (Bergmann et al., 2011).

The relevance of immune responses in prostate cancer

Prostate cancer

PCa is the most common male malignancy in the western world. Cases have tripled over the past few years and this is largely attributable to earlier detection and screening following the introduction of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) testing into routine clinical practice in the late 1980s (Quon et al., 2011, Challapalli et al., 2012). Three-quarters of PCa cases are diagnosed in men aged over 65 years and as life expectancy increases, the prevalence will also increase in a more aged population (Cancer Research UK, 2013). At presentation approximately 60% of patients have localised, 30% locally advanced and 10% metastatic disease (Tabi et al., 2011). Based on the PSA levels, histopathological grading and clinical staging, PCa is classified as low-, intermediate- and high-risk for disease recurrence. The risk status often plays a major role in deciding further therapy.

Radiation therapy (RT) can be used as part of curative therapy for both localised and locally advanced disease but has no proven role in the metastatic setting. There are four major treatment approaches for localised PCa, active surveillance, radical prostatectomy, external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) and low-dose rate (LDR) brachytherapy. Traditional EBRT treatment requires patients to receive repeated

doses of approximately 2 Gy/fraction for a total of 50-70 Gy to control PCa (Challapalli et al., 2012). Considerable advances in EBRT technology over the last decade have led to the development of three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT) and intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), which closely match and modulate the high-dose volume to the tumour target while reducing the radiation to dose-limiting normal tissues (Challapalli et al., 2012). Hypofractionation using EBRT delivery systems (treatment in approximately 4 weeks) has also improved PCa treatment (Khoo and Dearnaley, 2008). LDR brachytherapy, which uses multiple permanently planted radioactive seeds, can be used to deliver a very high radiation dose to a highly targeted volume in a single treatment with equivalent outcomes to EBRT and surgery (Challapalli et al., 2012). As part of the treatment for locally advanced PCa, high dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy, which uses a single highintensity radiation source that is temporarily inserted into multiple positions in the prostate, can be used as a single agent or in combination with androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) and/or RT (Hoskin, 2008). ADT consists of lowering the levels of testosterone, the male hormone that fuels hormone-dependent tumour growth.

Immunotherapy in prostate cancer

PCa is an immunogenic cancer, as evidenced by a positive correlation between the frequency of CD8⁺ tumour-infiltrating T cells and PSA recurrence-free survival (Karja et al., 2005). PCa is also an ideal model for cancer immunotherapies based on the ready demonstration of humoral and cellular immunity to a range of cancer antigens as well as often slow progression (Schweizer and Drake, 2014). The majority of work has gone into developing immune-based therapies that are either antigen-specific (i.e. cancer vaccines and antibody-based therapies) or monoclonal antibodies that function as immune checkpoint inhibitors.

Unlike CD28 which is stimulatory, interaction between CTLA-4 and PD-1 and their respective ligands results in inhibitory signals which effectively turn off T cell function. The molecules that mediate thes negative interactions have collectively been termed immune checkpoints. The human anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody ipilimumab is the only Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved immune checkpoint inhibitor (Schweizer and Drake, 2014). Preclinical data support the use of

ipilimumab in PCa, not only as a monotherapy but also as a means to augment the immune response elicited by other therapies (i.e. cancer vaccines, RT). In the clinical trial with or without RT in patients with metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), the major PSA response of \geq 50% PSA decline rate among those receiving the maximum dose of ipilimumab was reported at 8/50 (16%) patients; four in the radiation group and four in the monotherapy group (Slovin et al., 2013).

Cancer vaccines work through eliciting an antigen-specific response leading to activation of effector T cells and tumour eradication. Given that both normal and cancerous prostate cells express unique antigens such as PSA and prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), there are several attractive potential targets for vaccines (Schweizer and Drake, 2014). Different vaccination approaches for treating PCa have been evaluated in both the pre-clinical and clinical settings. The most well known vaccine strategy is Sipuleucel-T, which was FDA approved in 2010 for the treatment of asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic CRPC. Sipuleucel-T is an ex vivo generated autologous DC-based vaccine designed to target PAP. It is also the only cancer vaccine ever shown to improve overall survival in the phase III setting (Kantoff et al., 2010).

Another immunotherapy strategy showing promise in clinical testing is PROSTVAC-VF, a viral-based vaccine engineered to express PSA along with three co-stimulatory molecules (CD80, ICAM-1 and LFA-3) (Madan et al., 2009). A randomized phase II trial involving 125 patients with mCRPC showed an 8.5-month improvement in median overall survival and a larger phase III trial is currently underway (Schweizer and Drake, 2014, Kaufman et al., 2004).

In regard to passive immunotherapies for PCa, there have been no major successes thus far. The humanized monoclonal antibody, J591, that targets the prostate specific membrane antigen (PSMA) has gone through perhaps the most clinical testing. While it was found to elicit a dose-dependent antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) effect, it did not produce a robust antitumor effect in patients with mCRPC (Morris et al., 2005).

Link of immune responses and radiotherapy in prostate cancer

RT is the medical use of ionising radiation (IR). IR has been harnessed for over a century to treat cancer largely on the rationale that rapidly proliferating cancer cells are more sensitive than normal cells to DNA damage induced by radiation. Cellular DNA damage induced by IR leads to the activation of a DNA damage response-signalling cascade. Depending on the extent of damage, this leads to transient or permanent cell cycle arrest, and/or cell death, respectively (Formenti and Demaria, 2009, Lauber et al., 2012).

Current understanding of cell death mechanisms demonstrate that the fate of dying cells can be classified according to phenomenological and ultrastructural changes. Based on the morphologies of dying cells, three types of cell death have been recognized. These are Type I, or apoptotic cell death; Type II, or autophagic cell death; and Type III or necrotic cell death. Cell death can either be programmed, were it is controlled by molecular processes that not only dictate the morphology but also the fate of the cell; or passive, a consequence of damage so extensive that the cell cannot survive (Tesniere et al., 2007, Green, 2011). However, IR not only exerts a local cytotoxic effect but also has the ability to augment a host's anti-cancer immune response. Radiation-induced forms of cell death trigger the production of stress or danger signals that mobilize the innate and adaptive immune system to deal with the damage and tissue repair with the goal of maintaining the integrity of the tissue and body. Some of these signals can be highly immunogenic, stimulating the clearance of tumours by innate immune cells, and improving DC activation and antigen processing, thereby switching on antitumor T cells responses. As a result, radiationinduced cell death provides an important link between innate and adaptive immunity.

Apoptosis is a programmed process of cell death and it is a constantly occurring mechanism in living organisms, which is essential for normal development, tissue homeostasis and numerous other physiological processes. Morphologically, it is characterised by cellular shrinkage, chromatin condensation, nuclear fragmentation, and membrane blebbing (Green, 2011). IR primarily regulates apoptosis via the mitochondrial intrinsic death pathway that involves permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane and the release of various proteins including

cytochrome c, and apoptosome formation. However, IR can also induce apoptosis via the extrinsic pathway through a death receptor mediated caspase activation process (Lauber et al., 2012, Golden et al., 2012). Upregulation of death receptors during apoptosis plays an important role in the elicitation of antitumor T cell responses. Radiation induced upregulation of FAS on tumour cells sensitises them to antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cells killing via the FAS/FAS ligand pathway and promotes more effective antitumor responses (Chakraborty et al., 2003). Furthermore, exposure of CRT on the membrane of pre-apoptotic and apoptotic cells following radiation, enhances phagocytosis of dying tumour cells by DC and induces a protective antitumor immune response (Obeid et al., 2007a, Gardai et al., 2005).

Autophagy, another type of programmed cell death is a major intracellular pathway for the degradation and recycling of proteins, ribosomes and entire organelles. It is characterized by membrane blebbing, partial chromatin condensation and autophagic vacuoles in the cytoplasm. In the context of response of cancer cells to RT, autophagy leads to either cell survival or cell death (Zois and Koukourakis, 2009). Autophagy is a slow process leading to the degradation of intracellular organelles after sequestration in double-membrane vacuoles (Tesniere et al., 2007). There are three major stages in the autophagy pathway. The initiation stage is the de novo formation of an isolation membrane (also called phagophore); the second stage is elongation during which the isolation membrane expands and damaged organelles or cytosolic materials are captured; and the third stage involves the formation of autophagosomes, which is followed by rapid transition into autolysosomes upon fusion with lysosomes, and targets the captured materials for degradation (Li et al., 2008). Various preclinical models have revealed that autophagy is activated in irradiated tumour cells (Ito et al., 2005, Apel et al., 2008, Chen et al., 2011). Autophagy induced by IR is immunogenic as it contributes to the release of cell death-associated danger signals that trigger antitumor host immune responses. Autophagic cell death following radiation causes the release of ATP from dying tumour cells which in turn is required for attracting immune cells including DC into the tumour tissue (Ko et al., 2014).

IR induces necrosis when applied at high doses. Necrosis is morphologically characterized by swelling of the mitochondrial, cytoplasmic and nucleic swelling,

leading to the rupture of the plasma membrane, and the release of swollen and damaged organelles (Tesniere et al., 2007). It can be caused by excessive damage and/or catastrophic energy loss and thus can be a passive process. Recent evidence has shown, however, that necrosis can be a result of regulated processes and therefore, programmed (Green, 2011). Programmed necrotic cell death is known as necroptosis and is characterized by the cellular morphology of necrosis but with a signalling that more closely resembles apoptosis. Necroptosis occurs via the activation of two kinases: receptor interaction kinase-1 (RIPK-1) and RIPK-3. In both apoptosis and necrosis, the intracellular death domain recruits the adaptor protein, Fas-associated death domain (FADD). Therefore, in both forms of cell death, the deciding factor of whether a cell commits apoptosis or necrosis depends on the FADD-associated activities of caspase-8 (for apoptosis) and RIPK-1 (for programmed necrosis/necroptosis). Necroptosis is induced in cells that are caspase-8 deficient or inhibited. However, if caspase-8 is intact and active, it can cleave RIPK-1, thereby turning off necroptosis and alter the balance of cell death in favour of apoptosis (Golden et al., 2012, Lauber et al., 2012, Green, 2011). Necrotic cell death is considered immunogenic as it often causes the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and danger signals such as HMGB1. The release of HMGB1 by irradiated tumour cells has been demonstrated in some studies (Apetoh et al., 2007a, Suzuki et al., 2012). However, further studies are required to clarify the role of necroptosis in IR-induced cell death and the subsequent spillage of immune stimulating "danger signals".

Radiation of different tumour cells induces the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , TNF- α and type 1 interferons (Formenti and Demaria, 2013, Hallahan et al., 1989, Burnette et al., 2011) and the chemokine CXCL16, which promotes recruitment of effector CD8⁺ and T-helper 1 CD4⁺ T cells, (Matsumura et al., 2008). In addition, tumour cells that receive sublethal doses of radiation undergo phenotypic changes that enhance their susceptibility to immune effectors (Garnett et al., 2004). This indicates that radiation can switch the immunosuppressive tumour milieu to a pro-immune environment.

IR can reduce tumour growth outside the field of radiation, known as the abscopal effect. The abscopal effect of radiation has been shown to be immune-mediated as

demonstrated not only in mouse tumour models (Dewan et al., 2009, Hodge et al., 2012) but also in patients with metastatic melanoma and lung adenocarcinoma (Golden et al., 2013, Postow et al., 2012). The first direct evidence to implicate the immune system was reported by Demaria et al., (2004) who showed that an abscopal effect could be elicited in mice harbouring two 67NR breast cancer cell line tumours when radiation was applied to one of the tumours in conjunction with Flt3 ligand (Flt3-L), a DC growth factor (Demaria et al., 2004). The study found that RT alone led to growth delay exclusively of the irradiated 67NR tumour, as expected. However, growth of the non-irradiated tumour was also impaired by the combination of RT and Flt3-L. As a control, Flt3-L had no effect without RT. Importantly, the abscopal effect was shown to be tumour specific, because growth of a non-irradiated A20 lymphoma in the same mice containing a treated 67NR tumour was not affected. Moreover, no growth delay of non-irradiated 67NR tumours was observed when T cell deficient (nude) mice were treated with RT plus Flt3-L (Demaria et al., 2004).

Immune responses are important for PCa radiotherapy as illustrated by Tabi et al., (2010). PBMC were collected from PCa patients with locally advanced tumour before, during and after hypofractionated RT and analysed for T cell phenotype and function. The study observed significantly more loss of naïve and early memory compared with more differentiated T cells during RT. More importantly, TAA-specific antitumor T cell responses were detectable after but not before or during RT (Tabi et al., 2010). Similar findings were observed by others (Nesslinger et al., 2007) indicating that RT induces or amplifies antigen-specific immune responses in PCa patients. Thus, immunological mechanisms may contribute to clinical outcomes after RT alone or in combination with hormone therapy.

HYPOTHESIS AND AIM

We hypothesize that (a) ionising radiation treatment of PCa cells triggers antitumor T cell responses via cross-presentation of tumour antigens and (b) this process is influenced by TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP on DC.

In order to investigate this, the aims of the thesis are to:

- 1. Determine the effects of IR on the DU145 PCa cell line, positive for the 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein.
- 2. Investigate the ability of irradiated tumour cells to induce DC activation.
- Determine the ability of the irradiated tumour cells to induce 5T4-specific T cell responses via cross-presentation.
- 4. Study the influence of TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP on tumour antigen crosspresentation.

II. Materials and Methods

DONORS

Ethical approval for the project was obtained from the South Wales Ethics Committee and informed consent to provide peripheral blood samples was obtained from both healthy donors and prostate cancer patients. HLA Class I and II typing was determined by low resolution PCR using sequence specific primers. The Welsh Blood Transfusion Service, Cardiff, UK, provided this service.

TISSUE CULTURE MEDIA

RPMI (RPMI 1640, Lonza, Belgium) was supplemented with low endotoxin fetal bovine serum (FBS, PAA Laboratories, Austria) and/or human AB serum (Sigma, UK), 100 U/ml penicillin (Gibco), 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Gibco), 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco), 25 mM Hepes buffer (Sigma, UK) and 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma, UK). This will be referred to as supplemented RPM1 (sRPMI).

CELL LINES

Cells were maintained at 37° C in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in a humidified CO₂ incubator. Mycoplasma test was carried out regularly using a MycoAlert Mycoplasma Detection Kit (Lonza). All tissue culture work was carried out in a class II biosafety cabinet. Authentication of cell lines was carried out by the supplier using cytogenetic isoenzymatic and DNA profile analysis. Cell lines in our lab are not used beyond 30 passages, however, if they were, further validation would be required.

DU145 is a prostate cancer cell line derived from a metastatic brain and obtained from ATCC. Tumour cells were grown in sRPMI 10% FBS.

LNCaP is a human prostate adenocarcinoma cell line derived from a metastatic left supraclavicular lymph node and obtained from ATCC. Tumour cells were grown in sRPMI 10% FBS.

B lymphoblastoid cell lines (BLCL) were prepared according to the standard method described below by infecting PBMC with EBV-containing B95.8 cell supernatant and PHA (Louie and King 1991). BLCL were grown in sRPMI 10% FBS.

T2 cells are a hybrid cell line derived from a B cell and a T cell lymphoblastoid line. T2 cells are HLA-A2 positive and TAP-negative (Salter 1985).

They were grown in sRPMI 10% FBS and were used as target cells in peptidespecific cytotoxicity assays.

Mesothelioma cell lines were generated by long term culture of explanted tumour biopsies and maintained by regular passaging in sRPMI 5% FBS.

ISOLATION, GENERATION AND CULTURE OF IMMUNE CELLS

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC)

Venous blood samples of healthy donors from EDTA-vacutainers were subjected to density gradient centrifugation on Histopaque (Sigma, UK) and PBMC were isolated from the buffy coat. The PBMC were either used fresh or kept cryopreserved.

T cell isolation

The EasySep[™] Human T Cell Enrichment Kit (Stem Cell Technologies) was used to isolate T cells from fresh or cryopreserved PBMC by negative selection according to the manufacturer's protocol. Unwanted cells were targeted for removal with Tetrameric Antibody Complexes recognizing CD14, CD16, CD19, CD20, CD36, CD56, CD66b, CD123, glycophorin A and dextran-coated magnetic particles. The labelled cells were separated using an EasySep magnet without the use of columns and non-labelled cells were poured off into a new tube. The recommended buffer used for this protocol was Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (Lonza), + 2% FBS with 1 mM EDTA (Sigma).

DC generation

Two methods were used to generate monocyte-derive DC.

 PBMC, setup in a 6 well tray at 1.5x10⁷ cells/well in 5 ml 1% sRPMI were incubated for 2 h at 37°C in order for cells to adhere. After gentle resuspension, non-adherent cells were removed, cryopreserved (as detailed later) and stored in liquid nitrogen. Adherent cells left on the plate were then grown in 5 ml/well 10% sRPMI in the presence of 500 ng/ml GM-CSF (Prospec-Tany Technogene Ltd., Israel) and 500 U/ml IL-4 (Peprotech, UK) for 5-6 days. 2. CD14⁺CD16⁺ monocytes were isolated from fresh or previously frozen PBMC by negative selection using the EasySep Human Monocyte Enrichment Kit without CD16 Depletion (Stem Cell Technologies) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Unwanted cells were targeted for removal with Tetrameric Antibody Complexes recognizing CD2, CD3, CD19, CD20, CD56, CD66b, CD123, glycophorin A and dextran-coated magnetic particles. The cocktail also contains an antibody to human Fc receptor to minimize nonspecific binding. The labelled cells were separated using an EasySep magnet without the use of columns and the non-labelled cells were poured off into a new tube. The isolated cells were incubated at 5x10⁶ cells/well in a 6 well tray and grown in 5 ml/well 10% sRPMI in the presence of 500 ng/ml GM-CSF and 500 U/ml IL-4 for 5-6 days. Approximately 1-2x10⁷ cells were recovered with an average purity of 70-80% CD14⁺ cells.

Generation of a 5T4 peptide-specific T-cell line (RLAR-T cells)

A CD8⁺ T-cell line was developed from a HLA-A2⁺ healthy donor by stimulation of non-adherent PBMC with autologous monocyte-derived DC, generated from adherent PBMC as described above. DC were loaded with 2 µg/ml 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide (RLARLALVL; 90.4% purity; ProImmune, UK) (Shingler et al., 2008) and treated simultaneously with 5 ng/ml LPS for 1 h. DC were washed and plated out in 24-well trays at 2×10^5 cells/well with 4×10^6 non-adherent PBMC in 2 ml. Cultures were supplemented with 1000 U/ml IL-6 and 5 ng/ml IL-12 (Fonteneau et al., 2001) and grown for eight days. Peptide-specific stimulation was repeated weekly with peptideloaded autologous DC as above, supplemented with 5 ng/ml IL-7 and 10 U/ml IL-2 (Fonteneau et al., 2001). Seven days after the fourth stimulation, a T cell specificity assay was carried out. The peptide-specific T cells were enriched using a kit specific for IFN- γ producing T cells (Miltenvi Biotech, UK). Separated T cells (1–5×10⁵) were expanded using a mixture of 5×10^6 peptide-pulsed autologous BLCL irradiated with 40 Gy, 5×10^7 allogeneic PBMC mixed from 2 to 3 donors and irradiated with 30 Gy, 50 U/ml IL-2 and 1 µl/ml OKT3 hybridoma supernatant (MRC Cooperative, Cardiff University) in 50 ml sRPMI 10% FBS and 1% AB-serum (Sigma) in a T75 flask (Al-Taei et al., 2012). The flask was placed at an angle for the first 3-4 days. Half the media was replaced at day four with fresh media containing fresh cytokines but no OKT3. CD8+ T-cell separation was carried out after seven days using the EasySep CD8+ T-cell enrichment kit (StemCell Technologies, UK). T cell assays were carried out after 7–9 days in expansion.

GENERAL METHODS

Passaging of adherent cells

To passage cells, media was first removed and cell monolayers dissociated by the addition of 2 ml Trypsin/EDTA solution (Lonza). Trypsin is a proteolytic enzyme that causes detachment of cells from the growth surface by cleaving cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesions whilst EDTA acts to chelate Ca2⁺ and Mg2⁺ ions present in FBS that otherwise act as trypsin inhibitors. After addition of the trypsin/EDTA solution, the flasks were returned to the incubator for 5-10 min until the cells had detached. Trypsin/EDTA was neutralised with 6-8 ml sRPMI 10% FBS and the cells were pelleted by centrifugation for 3 min at 1300 RPM. The cell pellet was gently resuspended in 10 ml of the appropriate medium and gently mixed to ensure no cell clumps were evident. For cell maintenance, 1 ml of this suspension, (1/10 of cell suspension volume), was diluted in sRPMI 10% FBS and used to seed a T75 flask which was then cultured as normal. Prior to setting up cells for an experiment, the resuspended cells were counted using the methods below to enable seeding at an appropriate cell density. The remaining cells were cryopreserved and stored.

Cryopreservation and Storage

Freezing media for storing cells in the liquid N₂ contained sRPMI supplemented with 20% FBS and 10% dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO, Sigma). The freezing media was always prepared fresh on the day of use and kept on ice. Cells were counted, and then centrifuged at 1300 RPM for 3 min. After this, the supernatant was removed and cells re-suspended in the freezing media to yield $2x10^7$ cells/ml for PBMC or 1- $5x10^6$ cells/ml for cell lines, DC and T cells. 1 ml aliquots of cell suspension were then transferred to pre-chilled cryogenic vials. These were placed into CoolCell alcohol-free cell freezing containers (Biocision) to ensure controlled cooling at -1°C/min in a -80°C freezer. The vials were transferred to liquid nitrogen for long-term storage within 2-3 days.

Recovery of cryopreserved cells

To recover cryopreserved cells, the vials were placed into a 37° C water bath until the liquid is partially thawed. sRPMI with 10% FBS (1 ml) was added dropwise to the partially thawed vial, re-suspended and then all the cells were transferred dropwise into a 15 ml falcon tube with pre-warmed (37° C) 10 ml sRPMI 10% FBS. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 1300 RPM for 3 min; the working media was discarded and the pellet re-suspended in 5 ml media for counting. In general, a recovery of >70% viable cells was achieved; if less than that, the cells were not used.

Evaluation of cell number and viability

The number and viability of cells was determined by using a Neaubauer haemocytometer in conjunction with trypan blue exclusion assay or by using the ViaCount Assay (Millipore).

 a) Trypan blue is membrane-impermeable and so can only penetrate dead cells thus viable cells remained unstained. A 1:10 dilution of cell suspension in 0.1% trypan blue was carried out and the cells were counted in a quadrant of known volume. The number of cells were determined by the following formula:

Mean number of cells per quadrant x dilution factor x 10^4 = number of cells/ml

b) The Guava ViaCount Assay is an alternative to trypan blue exclusion for determining absolute cell count and viability. The assay differentially stains viable and non-viable cells based on their permeability to the DNA-binding dyes in the ViaCount Reagent. A uniform cell suspension was prepared for counting. The cell samples were stained by mixing the cells with Guava ViaCount Reagent in a small tube. Following this, the cells were incubated for 5 min and the data were acquired on the Millipore Guava® EasyCyteTM8 flow cytometer. Accurate cell counting on the Guava system occurs at a concentration range of 1x10⁴-5x10⁵ cells/ml in the stained sample. Therefore, if an approximate concentration of the original cell suspension was known, then the dilution guide table below was used as a reference to determine the optimum dilution factor:

Conc. of Original Cell Suspension	Dilution Factor	Cell Suspension Volume	ViaCount Reagent Volume	Conc.of Diluted Cells
$\frac{1 \text{x} 10^5 \text{ to}}{1 \text{x} 10^6 \text{ cells/ml}}$	10	50 µl	450 µl	<1x10 ⁵ cells/ml
$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \times 10^6 \text{ up to} \\ 1 \times 10^7 \\ \text{cells/ml} \end{array} $	20	20 µl	380 µl	<5x10 ⁵ cells/ml
>1x10 ⁷ cells/ml	40^{*}	20 µl	780 µl	>2.5x10 ⁵ cells/ml

^{*}Further dilution may be necessary for highly concentrated cell suspensions.

If the concentration was not known, stained samples were prepared by mixing cells with ViaCount Reagent at a 20-fold dilution. Further dilutions were carried if the total cell number/ml value remained high.

Flow cytometry

Anti-human antibodies together with appropriate isotype controls used for flow cytometric analysis are described in the tables below (Table 1 and 2). Unstained cells were used as a negative control in some experiments. The correct dilutions of the antibodies to give efficient staining were established by titration of the antibodies. All cell staining was performed in 5 ml sterile non-pyrogenic FACS tubes. A FACSCanto, 6-colour cytometer with BD FACS-DIVA software version 6.1.2 (BD Bioscience) was used for all experiments unless otherwise stated.

Intracellular staining

Cells were fixed with 100 μ l fixation buffer (eBiosciences) for 15 min at room temperature, washed with PBS, and permeabilized with 100 μ l permeabilization buffer (eBiosciences) for 40 min at room temperature. The respective antibodies were added at the same time as the permeabilization solution in the dark.

Surface staining

Non-specific binding was reduced by firstly incubating cells with 100 μ l FACS buffer: PBS, 2% FBS and 5 mM EDTA for 10 min on ice. The cells were then stained with antibody or isotype for 40 min on ice in the dark. To remove unbound antibodies, cells were washed in 2 ml FACS buffer.

Intracellular Cytokine Staining (ICCS)

One hour after stimulation of DC or T cells, 1 μ l/ml Golgi Plug (BD Biosciences) and 0.7 μ l/ml Golgi Stop (BD Biosciences) were added for either 6 h or 12 h further incubation at 37°C. Golgi Plug contains brefeldin A while Golgi Stop contains monensin both of which block intracellular protein transport processes in lymphoid cells resulting in the accumulation of cytokines and/or proteins in the Golgi complex. Optimisation experiments in the laboratory revealed that the combined use of the two reagents results in increased sensitivity of the assays. The cells were washed with 2 ml PBS after the total incubation time and then fixed and permeabilized as above for intracellular staining with cytokine specific antibodies.

Gating strategy

Tumour cells

When assessing tumour cells for surface expression of immunogenic signals, 5T4 and HLA-ABC, a gating strategy was used. Firstly, in order to distinguish between live and dead populations, cells were stained with 7AAD, a solution with a strong affinity for DNA (Figure 2.1a). Cells with a compromised membrane readily stain for 7AAD and therefore have higher fluorescence intensity than cells with intact cell membranes. Dead cells (7AAD⁺) were gated out by gating on the 7AAD⁻ cells (Figure 2.1a). DU145 cells were gated from 7AAD⁻ cells based on the forward scatter height (FSC-H) and side scatter height (SSC-H) pattern (Figure 2.1B and C).

Dendritic cells

To analyse DC co-cultured with tumour cells, gating for the DC population was firstly based on the typical FSC-H and SSC-H pattern. DC were distinguished from tumour cells by staining with HLA-DR. Since tumour cells do not express HLA-DR, DC were identified by gating on the HLA-DR⁺ population. Phagocytosis and DC activation was assessed from the HLA-DR⁺ population.

T cells

When the size of a single cell passing through the FSC-H correlates with the forward scatter area (FSC-A), cells appear as a diagonal display on a FSC-H versus FSC-A dot plot. However, when cells clump together, this correlation is lost and as a result

doublets can be discriminated from singlets. In the gating strategy using T cells, doublets were firstly excluded by placing the gate on the singlets (Figure 2.3A). The lymphocyte population was then gated from the singlets based on the FSC-A and SSC-A pattern (Figure 2.3B). T cells were identified by gating on the CD3⁺ lymphocytes (Figure 2.3C) and CD8⁺ T cells were gated from the CD3⁺ T cell population (Figure 2.3D). The percentage of CD8⁺ T cells expressing IFN γ (Figure 2.3F) was determined by setting quadrants using unstimutaled APC (Figure 2.3E).

5-(and 6)-Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE)

CFSE is widely used for cell tracking and proliferation studies. CFSE readily crosses intact cell membranes. Once inside the cells, intracellular esterases cleave the acetate groups to yield the fluorescent carboxyfluorescein molecule. The succinimidyl ester group reacts with primary amines, cross-linking the dye to intracellular proteins. The stable incorporation of the intracellular fluorescent dye CFSE into cells provides a powerful tool to monitor cell migration, and to quantify cell division, because of the sequential decrease in fluorescent labelling in daughter cells (Parish et al., 2001).

Single cell suspension was washed twice with PBS to remove any serum. The cells were then re-suspended at $5 \cdot 10 \times 10^6$ cells/ml with PBS. A final CFSE concentration of 5 μ M was added to the cells, mixed immediately and incubated for 10 min at room temperature in the dark. The labelling was stopped by adding 4-5 volumes of cold complete sRPMI media and incubated for 5 min on ice. Following this, the cells were washed three times with sRPMI media and then used in experiments as desired.

Statistics

All statistical analysis was performed with Graphpad Prism 4 or 6 software. A student T-Test was performed when comparing 2 unpaired groups. One-way ANOVA was utilised when studying more than 2 unpaired groups. Mean and standard deviation (SD) are stated throughout the result section.



Figure 2.1: Example of gating strategy for assessing surface expression of immunogenic signals, 5T4, and MHC molecules. After detachment, cells were stained with CRT, Hsp70, 5T4 or HLA-ABC antibodies for 40 min and subsequently with 7AAD for 5 min before flow cytometry analysis. (A) Dead cells were gated out by gating on the 7AAD- cells. DU145 cells treated with (B) 0 Gy or (C) 12 Gy IR represented by the blue population were gated from 7AAD- cells based on the FSC and SSC dot plot pattern. The red population is possibly debris.





Figure 2.2: Example of gating strategy when carrying out DC phagocytosis or activation assays. (A) Gating of the DC population was based on the typical FSC-H and SSC-H pattern. (B) Tumour cells (red events) were gated out by gating on HLA-DR⁺ identified as DC (blue events).



Figure 2.3: Example of gating strategy for assessing the frequency of CD8⁺ T cells producing IFN γ . Following an overnight ICCS assay, T cells were collected for flow cytometry analysis. Cells were stained with anti-CD3-PE-Cy7, anti-CD8-PE-Cy5 and anti-IFN γ -FITC. (A) Doublets were gated out by gating on the single cells. (B) Lymphocytes were defined according to their FSC and SSC. (C) T cells were identified by gating on CD3⁺ lymphocytes and (D) CD8⁺ T cells were gating from the T cells. (E) Quadrants in dot plots were set using unstimulated T cells to assess (F) the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells producing IFN γ .

Production of Soluble Peptide-MHC Class I (pMHCI)

Soluble biotinylated MHC class I monomers were produced in Professor Linda Wooldrige's laboratory according to their established methods (Glick et al., 2002). Briefly, HLA-A2 heavy chain and β_2 m inclusion body preparations were denatured separately in 8 M urea buffer (Sigma) and mixed at a 1:1 molar ratio. pMHCI was refolded in 2-mercaptoethylamine/cystamine (Sigma) redox buffer with added synthentic peptide. HLA-A2 heavy chains were refolded with the 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide. Following buffer exchange into 10 mM Tris, pH 8.1, refolded monomer was purified by anion exchange. Purified monomers were biotinylated as previously described (O'Callaghan et al., 1999) using *d*-biotin (Sigma) and BirA enzyme. Excess biotin was removed by gel filtration.

Tetramerization and Flow Cytometry

Biotinylated pMHCI monomers were conjugated by addition of streptavidin-Rphycoerythrin (PE) (Invitrogen) at a pMHCI:streptavidin molar ratio of 4:1 to produce tetrameric pMHCI complexes. Once prepared, tetramers were stored in the dark at 4 °C. 1×10^5 5T4 specific T cells in 20 µl of PBS were stained with 1 µg of 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ specific/HLA-A2 PE-tetramer for 15 min at 37 °C, stained with CD3 and CD8 antibodies, incubated on ice for 40 min before being washed twice in PBS, and then analyzed using the FACS Canto flow cytometer.

TABLE 1

Antibody	Fluorochrome	Clone	Species	Company	Final			
			and		Concentration			
			Isotype					
PRIMARY ANTIBODY								
5T4	Alexa Fluor	H8	Mouse	Oxford	1 µg/test			
	488		IgG1	Biomedica				
Annexin V	FITC	-	-	BD	2.5 µl/test			
				Pharmingen				
Calreticulin	PE	326203	Mouse	R&D	0.25 µg/test			
			IgG2b	Systems	(10 µl/test)			
CD14	APC-eFluor	61D3	Mouse	EBioscience	0.25 µg/test			
	780		IgG1		(2.5 µl/test)			
CD3	PE-Cy7	UCHT1	Mouse	EBioscience	0.25 µg/test			
			IgG1		(2.5 µl/test)			
CD8	PE-Cy5	RPA-T8	Mouse	EBioscience	0.0625 µg/test			
			IgG1		(2.5 µl/test)			
CD8	FITC	RPA-T8	Mouse	EBioscience	0.5 µg/test			
			IgG1		2.5 µl/test			
CD83	PerCP-eFluor	HB15e	Mouse	EBioscience	0.125 µg/test			
	710		IgG1		(2.5 µl/test)			
CD86	PE	IT2.2	Mouse	EBioscience	0.25 µg/test			
			IgG2b		(2.5 µl/test)			
CD107a	PE-Cy5	eBioH4A3	Mouse	EBioscience	0.25 µg/test			
			IgG1		(2.5 µg/test)			
CD209	FITC	eB-h209	Rat	EBioscience	0.25 µg/test			
			IgG2a		(2.5 µl/test)			
CD284	Alexa Fluor	HTA125	Mouse	EBioscience	0.5 µg/test			
(TLR4)	488		IgG2a		(2.5 µl/test)			
HLA-A2	FITC	BB7.2	Mouse	BD	1 μg/test			
			IgG2b	Pharmingen	$(2 \mu l/test)$			
HLA-ABC	PE-Cy5	W6/32	Mouse	EBioscience	10 µl/test			
			IgG2a					
HLA-DR	APC	LN3	Mouse	EBioscience	0.0038 µg/test			
			IgG2b		(2.5 µl/test)			
HMGB1	PE	115603	Mouse	R&D	0.25 µg/test			
			IgG2b	Systems	(10 µl/test)			
Hsp70	FITC	C92F3A-5	Mouse	Enzo Life	1 μg/test			
			IgG1	Sciences	(1 µl/test)			
IFNγ	FITC	4S.B3	Mouse	EBioscience	0.75 µg/test			
			IgG1		(1.5 µl/test)			
MIP-1β	PE	24006	Mouse	R &D	10 µl/test			
			IgG2b	Systems				
TNF-α	APC	MAb11	Mouse	EBioscience	0.5 µg/test			
			IgG1		(2.5 µl/test)			

TABLE 2

Isotype	Fluorochrom	e Clone	Species	Company	Final				
Antibody			and		Concentration				
			Isotype						
ISOTYPES									
Mouse	Alexa Flue	r P3.6.2.8.1	Mouse	EBioscience	1µg/ml				
IgG1	488		IgG1						
Isotype									
Control									
Mouse	FITC	P3	Mouse	EBioscience	1µg/test				
IgG1			IgG1		(20µl/test)				
Isotype									
Control									
Mouse	Alexa Flue	r eBM2a	Mouse	EBioscience	0.5µg/test				
IgG2a	488		IgG2a		(1µl/test)				
Isotype									
Control									
Mouse	PE	133303	Mouse	R&D	0.25µg/test				
IgG2b			IgG2b	Systems	$(10\mu l/test)$				
Isotype			_	-	-				
Control									

ANALYSIS OF TUMOUR CELL DEATH

Tumour cell death was induced by ionising irradiation (IR) with a ¹³⁷Cs-source at a dose rate of 0.63 Gy/min. The effects of IR were assessed by cell cycle analysis, Annexin-V/PI apoptosis assay and by imaging using the Incucyte Kinetic Imaging System. For all cell death analysis experiments, tumour cells were set up and irradiated in T25 flasks unless otherwise stated. Floating cells were collected from the flasks before trypsinisation of attached cells and included in the analysis since cell detachment is a classical feature of cell death.

Cell cycle analysis

The cell cycle describes the process of the replication and division of chromosomes within the nucleus, which occurs prior to cell division. One of the ways of finding out the potential effects of cancer treatment regimes is to measure changes in cell cycle kinetics under varying conditions. The effect of IR on the tumour cells was assessed using the Guava Cell Cycle Reagent (Millipore). The Guava Cell Cycle Reagent contains the nuclear DNA stain, Propidium Iodide (PI). Resting cells (G0/G1) contain two copies of each chromosome. Cycling cells synthesize chromosomal DNA (S phase), which results in increased fluorescence intensity. When all chromosomal DNA has doubled (G2/M phase), cells fluoresce with twice the intensity of the initial population. Cells irradiated with varying doses and/or incubated for different periods after radiation were trypsinized, washed and transferred into FACS tubes. In order to fix the cells, 200 µl ice-cold 70% methanol was added drop-wise into the tubes while vortexing on medium speed. The cell preparation was refrigerated for 24 h. The methanol-fixed cells were then resuspended in 1 ml PBS, vortexed, and then incubated for 1 min at room temperature, before centrifuging at 1300 RPM, for 3 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cells re-suspended in 200 µl of Guava Cell Cycle Reagent. After 30 min incubation in the dark, all samples were transferred to 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes and analysed on the Millipore Guava® EasyCyteTM8 flow cytometer. Based on the data attained from this cell cycle analysis, 12 Gy was chosen as the IR dose to be used in further experiments and for the cross-presentation model.

Annexin-V/PI apoptosis assay

Annexin-V is used to quantitatively determine the percentage of cells undergoing apoptosis. Annexin-V is a Ca⁺⁺ dependent phospholipid-binding protein that has a high affinity for the membrane phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS). PS is translocated from the inner to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane during the early stages of apoptosis, thereby exposing PS to the external cellular environment for Annexin-V to bind. PI is a DNA-binding vital dye, which is excluded by viable cells with intact membranes but is permeable through membranes of damaged or dead cells.

The cells were transferred into FACS tubes, washed twice with cold PBS and then re-suspended in 100 μ l 1X Binding Buffer (BD). A master mix of equal volumes of FITC Annexin V and PI was prepared and 5 μ l was added to each tube. The cells were gently vortexed and incubated for 15 min in the dark at room temperature. After incubation, 400 μ l of 1X Binding Buffer was added to each tube and the cells were analysed with 2 h by flow cytometry.

Incucyte Kinetic Imaging System

The IncuCyte system (Essen BioScience) allows the microscope to be placed inside the incubator while the control of the system and access to the images and data are enabled from a computer on the local network. This imaging method provides an efficient way of documenting and understanding cellular growth, behaviour, and morphology. Irradiated and non-irradiated tumour cells were setup in 6 well plates and grown in the incubator with the system set to capture images and record the percentage of confluency after every 4 h for 3 days.

Immunocytochemistry

DU145 cells were grown on coverslips and incubated for 72 h after 0 Gy or 12 Gy radiation. They were fixed with acetone/methanol 1:1 (vol/vol) and labelled with FITC-conjugated Hsp70 antibody (Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY). The slides were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) and visualized next day using an Axiovert 40 fluorescence microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

HMGB1 ELISA

DU145 cells setup in eight T25 flasks were incubated overnight before four of the flasks were treated with 12 Gy irradiation. Both irradiated and non-irradiated cells were incubated for an extra 0, 24, 48 or 72 h. Supernatant from the cells were collected after each time point, centrifuged at 1 300 RPM for 3 min and filtered to remove debris. The supernatant was then kept at -20°C until all the time points were collected. HMGB1 levels in the supernatant were determined using a HMGB1 ELISA kit (IBL International) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Since HMGB1 can be measured in FBS in the cell culture supernatant, a control of media alone was used to determine background levels.

HMGB1 western blotting

Supernatants from irradiated DU145 cells were collected and HMGB1 was immunoprecipitated using Protein G Dynabeads (Life technologies). Broad-spectrum protein markers (Biorad, UK), HMGB1 protein (R and D Systems) and immunoprecipitated supernatants were separated on a 12% polyacrylamide gel (30% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide; Sigma) by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions, transferred to HybondTM-P PVDF membrane (GE Healthcare, UK), blocked in PBS/Tween 20 (Sigma) with 5% nonfat dry milk for 2 h and probed with a monoclonal HMGB1 antibody (Santa Cruz) overnight. Horseradish-peroxidaseconjugated secondary antibody was used (Santa Cruz). Bands were developed by ECL+ on film (GE Healthcare, UK). The arbitrary units of labelling intensity were calculated using Image J software.

DC ASSAYS

DC phagocytosis of tumour cells

DU145 cells were set up into two T25 flasks and cells were allowed to adhere overnight. One of the flasks was irradiated with 12 Gy IR while the other left untreated and both flasks were further incubated for 72 h. Following this, the cells were collected and trypsinized before being labelled with CFSE using the protocol outlined above. CFSE-labelled DU145 cells were counted and re-suspended in their original media. Tumour cells ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were co-cultured with DC ($5x10^4$ cells/well) in a 96 well U-bottom plate and incubated for 24 h at 37° C. After

incubation, the cells were collected from the wells, washed and surface stained with HLA-DR.

During FACS analysis, DC and DU145 tumour cells were distinguished from each other on the basis that DC were HLA-DR⁺CFSE⁻ while tumour cells were HLA-DR⁻CFSE⁺. Phagocytosis of tumour cells by DC was analysed by observing the population of HLA-DR⁺CFSE⁺ cells.

Cytokine ELISA

DC were co-cultured with tumour cells at a 1:1 ratio either in a 96 well U-bottom or a 24 well plate. The cells were incubated for 48 h. The supernatant from each well was collected and spun at 1300 RPM for 3 min to remove debris. The supernatant was then transferred into microcentrifugal tubes and stored at -80° C prior to assessing the cytokines released by DC. Quantitation of IL-12, IL-10 and IL-6 was performed using Standard ELISA Development Kits (PeproTech) with a Europiumbased detection method. After removal of the biotinylated detection antibody, 1 µg/ml Europium-labelled Streptavidin-conjugate (Perkin Elmer), diluted in DELFIA Assay Buffer, was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 45 min. Following washing, 100 µl DELFIA Enhancement Solution (Perkin Elmer) was added to each well and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Bound europium was measured by time-resolved fluorescence on a Wallac Victor2 1420 plate reader (Perkin Elmer).

Cytokine Array

DC were co-cultured with irradiated or non-irradiated tumour cells, respectively, at a 1:1 ratio in a 24 well plate. The cells were gently re-suspended and incubated for 48 h. The supernatant from each well was collected and spun at 1300 RPM for 3 min to remove debris. After which, the supernatant was transferred into microcentrifugal tubes and stored at -80°C prior to analysis. The cytokine profile of DC was analysed using the Proteome Profiler Human Cytokine Array Panel A kit (R&D Systems) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Inhibition of TLR4 and its pathways in DC determined by LPS stimulation

DC were treated for 1 h with different concentrations of VIPER peptide (Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010), TRIF or MyD88-inhibitory peptides or control peptides (Toshchakov et al., 2005, Loiarro et al., 2005) before stimulation with 10 ng/ml or 100 ng/ml LPS, respectively, for 1 h. GolgiPlug and GolgiStop were added and DC were incubated for a further 5 h. An ICCS was conducted to determine TNF- α positive cells.

T cell functional experiments

To determine if 5T4-specific T cells recognise and proliferate in response to 5T4 antigen on tumour cells, a ³H-thymidine incorporation assay was carried out. To ensure that the tumour cells would not proliferate and thus incorporate the ³H-thymidine, they were irradiated with 30 Gy. Irradiated tumour cells ($1x10^4$) and increasing numbers of T-cells, at Stimulator: Responder (S: R) ratios ranging from 80:1 to 2.5:1, were plated in triplicates in a 96-well tray. Control wells contained tumour cells or T cells only. Following incubation for three days, 0.5 µCi/well ³H-thymidine (GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI) was added to each well for 8 h and the plates were frozen at -20°C. Cells after thawing were harvested onto filtermats (PerkinElmer) and counted on a Wallac 1450 MicroBeta-TriLux 3 Detector (PerkinElmer).

⁵¹Cr-release assay

Peptide-pulsed or unpulsed T2 cells or tumour cells were labelled with ⁵¹Cr. Target cells $3x10^3/100\mu$ /well and increasing numbers of T cells in 100 µl, at Effector:Target (E:T) ratios ranging from 80:1 to 2.5:1, were plated in triplicates in a 96-well tray. Control wells contained target cells only with 100 µl media or 100 µl 5% Triton-X100, to determine spontaneous and maximum release, respectively. Supernatant (50 µl/well) was collected from each well 4 h later and ⁵¹Cr-release was measured on a Wallac 1450 MicroBeta-TriLux 3 Detector. The percent specific lysis from each well was calculated as [(experimental release - spontaneous release)] x 100.

T cell proliferation in response to cross-presented antigen

The rate of RLAR-T cell proliferation was measured to determine T cell activation by DC cross-presenting 5T4 antigen. DU145 cells $(1x10^5 \text{ cells/well in 1.5 ml})$ were plated out in triplicates in two 24 well plates. One of the plates was irradiated with 12 Gy while the other left untreated and both plates were incubated for 72 h. DC at $1x10^5$ cells/well in 0.5 ml were added per well to the tumour cells. Four hours later, CSFE labelled T cells $(5x10^5 \text{ cells/well})$ were added to the DC:tumour cell co-culture and the plate incubated at an angle for 48 h after which it was laid flat. After 5 days of tumour cell:DC:T cell incubation, the cells were re-suspended, collected into 5 ml FACS tubes and surface stained with CD3 and CD8 for flow cytometry analysis of CFSE dilution.

IFNγ-production in response to cross-presented antigen

DU145 cells were set up into two 96 well U-bottom plates at 5×10^3 cells/well in 200 µl. After an overnight incubation, one of the plates was irradiated with 12 Gy and both plates were further incubated for 72 h. DC were then added to the wells containing tumour cells at a 1:1 ratio. The co-cultured cells were gently re-suspended and incubated for 48 h after which RLAR-T cells were added at a 1:1:5 (Tumour cell:DC:T cell) ratio. Golgi Plug (0.25 µl/well) and Golgi Stop (0.175 µl/well) were added to the wells an hour later and the cultures were incubated overnight. An ICCS flow cytometry analysis was carried out to determine the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells producing IFN γ in response to the antigen presented by the DC.

Inhibitors and blocking antibodies

In order to determine if TLR4 or its pathways and receptors affect tumour Ag crosspresentation, DC were pretreated with inhibitory peptides before being co-cultured with the tumour cells.

VIPER (viral inhibitory peptide of TLR4) <u>KYSFKLILAEY</u>-9R (Severn Biotech) has been reported as a TLR4 inhibitor that consists of an 11 amino acid inhibitory sequence (underlined). It was derived from the A46 vaccinia virus protein and linked to a 9R (RRRRRRRR) homopolymer delivery sequence (Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010). It is thought that the TLR4 inhibitor binds to the TIR domains of the receptor and adaptor proteins, thereby inhibiting TLR4 signalling by interfering with TLR4-Mal and TLR4-TRAM (Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010).

The MyD88 and TRIF inhibitory peptides correspond to the sequence of the BB-loop of MyD88 (RDVLPGT) (Proimmune) and TRIF (FCEEFQVPGRGELH) (Invivogen), respectively, and serve as decoys by binding to the TIR domains and interfering with TLR-adaptor interactions (Loiarro et al., 2005, Toshchakov et al., 2005). The peptides are linked to protein transduction sequences, which render the peptides cell permeable (RQIKIWFQNRRMKWKK) (Derossi et al., 1994). The control peptides consist of the protein transduction sequence alone. DC were pretreated with 20 μ M MyD88 inhibitory or control peptide or 10 μ M TRIF inhibitory or control peptide, respectively, for 6h before adding DC to the irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells as described in the method for the cross-presentation assay. Glycyrrhizin acid (Sigma), an inhibitor for HMGB1, was added at 50 μ M at the time of irradiation, while VER155008 from Tocris Bioscience (R and D Systems), an

inhibitor for Hsp70, at 5 μ M to 0 Gy and 12 Gy irradiated DU145 cells at 0 h, 24 h and 48 h of the 72 h incubation, respectively, as described in the method for the cross-presentation assay.

TLR4 nucleotide sequencing for the Asp299Gly SNP

Pyrosequencing

SNP analysis was carried out in Dr Rachel Butler's laboratory in the department of Medical Genetics (Cardiff and Vale NHS Trust, University Hospital of Wales). The method comprises of DNA amplification from blood or established BLCL by PCR followed by pyrosequencing. The SNP analysis was optimised for the Asp299Gly sequence of the known TLR4 polymorphism and 68 samples were tested.

TaqMan Predesigned SNP Genotyping Assay

The TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays use TaqMan 5'-nuclease chemistry for amplifying and detecting specific TLR4 SNP (**SNP ID: rs4986790**) (Applied Biosystems) in purified genomic DNA samples. The assay was carried out on 10 samples. In order to extract genomic DNA from PBMC or BLCL samples, the cells were resuspended in 3 ml Nucleic Lysis Buffer (1 M Tris-HCL pH8, 1.5 M NaCL,

0.5 M EDTA in dH₂O), 600 µl Proteinase K (2 mg/ml in 1% SDS and 2 mM EDTA) and 200 µl 10% SDS and incubated overnight at 37°C on a rotor. After which, 1 ml 6 M NaCL was added to each sample and the samples were shaken for 15 seconds before spinning at 1300 RPM for 25 min. The supernatants were transferred into clean 15 ml falcon tubes, 8 ml 100% ethanol was added to the supernatant and supernatant+ethanol solution was mixed by inverting the tubes several times. After the extracted DNA was collected from the solution and ethanol had evaporated, the DNA samples were transferred into 100 µl dH₂O. The genomic DNA was quantitated using the Nanodrop spectrophotometer. Genomic DNA (20 ng/per well) was added to the reaction mix for a total of 20 µl/per well. All the components were purchased from Applied Biosystems.

ComponentVolume per well2X TaqMan Genotyping Master Mix10 μl40X Genotyping Assay Mix0.5 μlNuclease-Free Water5.5 μlGenomic DNA (20 ng/ml)4 μl

Preparation for reaction mix:

III. Development and Characterisation of a Tumour Antigen Cross-Presentation Model from Irradiated Tumour Cells

INTRODUCTION

The development of antitumor CD8⁺ T cell responses relies on DC to acquire tumour antigens from tumour cells and present the processed antigen on MHC class I molecules via the process of cross-presentation to CD8⁺ T cells. Cross-presentation is thought to occur through one of two main pathways. The endosome-to-cytosol pathway involves transport of exogenous antigens from endosomal vesicles into the cytosol, where they are trimmed and processed by the proteasome and subsequently loaded on MHC class I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum, similar to endogenous antigens. In the second, proteasome-independent cytosol-independent pathway, DC use endosomal proteases to process and load captured antigens directly onto MHC class I molecules in endosomal compartments (Rock et al., 2010). Antigen cross-presentation should not be confused with cross-priming, which requires additional signals in order to generate primary T cell responses.

Many tumours do not express TAA at a sufficiently high amount to cause significant cross-presentation. Moreover, most growing tumours do not cause robust DC activation to create a pro-inflammatory environment. These obstacles have been overcome in some studies by using 1) tumour cells infected with non-replicating viral vectors encoding viral or TAA proteins (Russo et al., 2000, Zhou et al., 2003); 2) tumour cells made apoptotic after infection with oncolytic viruses (Moehler et al., 2005, Donnelly et al., 2013); 3) inducing cell death using chemotherapeutic agents (Apetoh et al., 2007b). However, very few *in vitro* studies carried out with human cells have evaluated antitumor specific T cell responses when DC cross-present natural cell-associated TAA from irradiated tumour cells. Radiation increases the expression of some TAA (Sharma et al., 2011) and creates a pro-inflammatory tumour microenvironment as highlighted in the introduction. T cell responses after the cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated tumour cells have only been

documented using melanoma antigens, such as Melan A/MART-1 (Barrio et al., 2012) and gp100 (von Euw et al., 2007).

In this study the 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein, which is normally expressed in the placenta and rarely in fully developed healthy tissues, was the target antigen. It is highly expressed in a range of human carcinomas, including PCa (Southall et al., 1990). 5T4 has been detected in the majority of primary PCa tissues studied (Amato and Stepankiw, 2012). 5T4 expression is not evident in normal prostate tissues but is present at low levels in benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH). 5T4 has been linked to altering cell adhesion, motility and morphology and is associated with aggressive metastasis (Carsberg et al., 1996). In order to study T cell responses generated via cross-presentation of 5T4 antigen, an antigen-specific T cell line was required; the readout in the cross-presentation model would then be T cell proliferation and IFN γ production generated by DC in a MHC Class I-restricted manner.

In this work, monocyte-derived DC were used to take up and cross-present tumour antigen, mainly because it would have been impractical to carry out the experiments with the subset of blood DC which are highly specialised to cross-present antigen (Bachem et al., 2010, Segura et al., 2013). It has been demonstrated that monocyte-derived DC are able to cross-present exogenous antigen (Albert et al., 1998, von Euw et al., 2007). As a generally accepted, universal method for tumour antigen cross-presentation does not exist, a series of optimisation experiments need to be carried out to determine the most efficient setup in this model.

Question

Does irradiation of tumour cells generate antitumor T cell responses by crosspresentation of 5T4 antigen via DC to antigen-specific T cells?

Specific aims

- 1. Characterise PCa cell lines for the expression of 5T4 and HLA-A2.
- 2. Develop a 5T4 specific HLA-A2⁺ CD8⁺ T cell line.
- 3. Characterise the T cell line for the ability to recognise naturally expressed 5T4 antigen.
- 4. Developing an antigen cross-presentation model with irradiated PCa cells where the readout is T cell activation.

RESULTS

Characterisation of PCa cell lines

To determine which of the PCa cell lines expressed 5T4 antigen, DU145 and LNCaP lines were examined by flow cytometry for 5T4 expression using a 5T4 antibody conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 in the laboratory by Dr Saly Al-Taei (the antibody was a gift from Oxford Biomedica) (Figure 3.1). 5T4 was expressed at a significant level on DU145 but not LNCaP cells compared to the isotype control. Tumour cells can downregulate the expression of MHC class I molecules as a mechanism to escape recognition and destruction by cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cells. However, DC can acquire cellular antigens, regardless of the MHC expression on these cells, for crosspresentation. The T cell line that was generated in the lab was HLA-A2⁺ and it was desirable to use an HLA-A2⁻ tumour cell line, so direct recognition of the tumour antigen by the T cell line can be excluded. Surface staining for MHC class I expression on DU145 and LNCaP cells was carried out and analysed by flow cytometry. While both cell lines express MHC class I, the expression on LNCaP cells was slightly lower compared to that expressed on DU145 cells. The PCR data obtained from the Welsh Blood Transfusion Services revealed that DU145 cells encode for: HLA-A03, HLA-A33, HLA-B50 and HLA-B57 while LNCaP cells encode for: HLA-A01, HLA-A02, HLA-B37 and HLA-B08. Based on 5T4 positivity and the lack of HLA-A2 expression, DU145 cells were used in the crosspresentation model.

Specificity and function of the 5T4 specific HLA-A2⁺ CD8⁺ T cell line

The precursor frequency of naive $CD8^+T$ cells that recognize a specific antigen presented by MHC class I molecules is low and is estimated to be approximately 1:200 000 (Blattman et al., 2002). These small numbers of antigen-specific $CD8^+T$ cells need to undergo significant expansion in order to eradicate tumour cells and this requires activation by DC (Arens and Schoenberger, 2010). To determine the ability of 5T4 antigen from irradiated PCa cells to induce 5T4-specific T cell responses via cross-presentation, I generated a 5T4 specific $CD8^+T$ cell line (RLAR-T cells). The





Figure 3.1: 5T4 and MHC-Class I expression on PCa cell lines. (A) Representative histograms of surface or intracellular 5T4 expression on PCa cells as indicated. Cells were labelled with either IgG1-Alexa488 isotype (grey) or 5T4-Alexa Fluor 488 antibody (purple). (B) Representative histograms of the tumour cells (as indicated above the figures) labelled with HLA-ABC PE-Cy5 Ab (purple) or IgG2a PE-Cy5 isotype control (grey) antibodies.



Figure 3.2: Characterisation of the RLAR-T cells. (A) Representative dot plots of the CD8⁺ RLAR-T cell responses to the $5T4_{17-25}$ peptide. (B) Mean and SD percentage of 5T4-specific IFN γ positive T cells from duplicates shown with or without peptide. One of >10 experiments is shown.


Figure 3.3: Assessment of T cell IFN γ production by tetramer positive RLAR-T cells. (A) Representative dot plot showing the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells positive for the tetramer without or with peptide stimulation. (B) Representative dot plot showing the percentage of tetramer positive cells responding to no peptide or 5T4 peptide stimulation. The number represent the mean of triplicate samples.

RLAR-T cells were developed from a HLA-A2⁺ healthy donor by stimulation of non-adherent PBMC with autologous monocyte-derived DC, generated from adherent PBMC (Al-Taei et al., 2012), and loaded with 2 μ g/ml 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide (RLARLALVL) (Shingler et al., 2008) as described in the Methods. After CD8 enrichment, a peptide specificity assay was carried out on the RLAR-T cells. Approximately 71% of the CD8⁺ T cells responded to the 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide as evaluated by the percentage of IFNγ-producing T cells (Figure 3.2). To determine the percentage of antigen-specific T cells responding to the 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide, the RLAR-T cells were labelled with a PE-conjugated 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ specific/HLA-A2 tetramer I prepared in the laboratory of Dr Linda Wooldridge (Figure 3.3). While 94% of the CD8⁺ T cells were labelled by the tetramer (Figure 3.3A), about 73.9% of the tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells produced IFNγ upon stimulation overnight with the 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide (Figure 3.3B).

The RLAR-T cells were also tested for the ability to kill HLA-A2⁺ T2 cells with or without pulsing them with the 5T4 peptide (Figure 3.4A). In order to determine if the T cells also recognise naturally processed 5T4 on tumour cells in an HLA-A2-restricted manner, several tumour cell lines with known 5T4 expression were also tested as targets (Figure 3.4B): 5T4⁺A2⁺ M15 (mesothelioma) cells; 5T4⁺A2⁻ M38 (mesothelioma) cells; 5T4⁻A2⁺ LNCaP (PCa) cells and 5T4⁺A2⁻ DU145 cells. Due to the lack of available PCa cell lines, mesothelioma cell lines were used in these experiments as they are being studied in an independent project in the laboratory.

The RLAR-T cells killed $5T4_{17-25}$ peptide-pulsed T2 cells efficiently at any E:T ratios (2.5:1-80:1) studied, with low background lysis of peptide-unpulsed T2 cells (Figure 3.4A). However, none of the tumour cells were killed even at the highest (80:1) E:T ratio (Figure 3.4B). The RLAR-T cells were then tested for their ability to kill a larger selection of HLA-A2⁺ (M15, M18, M24, M34, M36, M40) and HLA-A2⁻ (M38) tumour cell lines, all expressing 5T4 (Figure 3.5A). Four of the six A2⁺ cell lines (M18, M24, M34, M36) were killed at a range of 16-27% specific lysis at 20:1 E:T ratio in a 5h CTL assay. The lysis of these cells was significantly higher than that of the HLA-A2⁻ cell line, M38 (Figure 3.5B). As in the previous experiment, the M15 cells were not killed, indicating that although the RLAR-T cells can recognise

naturally processed 5T4, some tumour cells are resistant to T cell killing or recognition by T cells is impaired due to 5T4 being differentially expressed.

In order to find out if the RLAR-T cells can recognise 5T4 on M15 tumour cells in spite of their inability to kill these cells, a stimulation assay with irradiated (30 Gy) M15 and negative control LNCaP cells was set up (Figure 3.6). The RLAR-T cells recognized native 5T4 antigen on M15 but not on LNCaP cells in a dose dependent manner. However, T cell proliferation was enhanced in the presence of the peptide. This confirms that the RLAR-T cells can recognise naturally processed 5T4, but shows that some tumour cells can be poor stimulators or targets of T cells. These findings have been published (Al-Taei et al., 2012).

To determine if the 5T4 antigen can be cross-presented, a model was developed and 5T4⁻ LNCaP cells were used as an antigen negative control, while DC incubated without any tumour cells were used to calculate background stimulation of T cells. Since T cell activation results in a marked expansion of T cells, cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen by DC was first evaluated by assessing the proliferation of CFSE labelled RLAR-T cells (Figure 3.7). DC were co-cultured with DU145 or LNCaP cells in a 24 well plate for 4 h before the CFSE labelled RLAR-T cells were added. T cell proliferation was measured after 5 days. Analysis of MFI by flow cytometry was carried out to determine the dilution of the CFSE label in the gated CD8⁺ T cell population. DC cross-presenting antigen from DU145 cells induced the proliferation of the RLAR-T cells above the background levels induced by DC alone. However, cross-presentation of antigen from LNCaP cells did not occur as T cell proliferation was even lower than the background (Figure 3.7).

Antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells can mobilize two main effector mechanisms: production of cytokines and chemokines and cytolysis of target cells. To determine antitumor T cell responses, 5T4 specific T cell activation with antigen, crosspresented by DC, was assessed by evaluating the percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells. Optimisation was carried out to determine the most efficient cell culture conditions. As culture of these cells in flat bottomed trays did not result in antigen cross-presentation measured by IFN γ , the cell number and vessels were optimised



Figure 3.4: Cytotoxic activity of the RLAR-T cells. Targets: (A) $5T4_{17-25}$ peptide-pulsed (*black*) and unpulsed T2 cells (*red*) and (B) Tumour cells – LNCaP, DU145, M15 and M38. Mean and SD percent of specific lysis at different effector:target (E:T) ratios from triplicate samples are shown.





Figure 3.5: 5T4-dependent mesothelioma cell killing by the RLAR-T cells. (A) 5T4 surface expression on the target cells (*mesothelioma tumour cells*) of the CTL assay. Mean and SD of MFI are shown, calculated from two independent experiments. (B) HLA-A2⁺ mesothelioma cell lines (*M15 - M40*) and an HLA-A2⁻ cell line (*M38*) were pulsed with ⁵¹Cr and served as targets of T-cell killing by the RLAR-T cells in a 5 h ⁵¹Cr-release assay at 20:1 E:T ratio. The bars represent the means and SD of percentage specific lysis from triplicate samples. (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; Student's t-test).



Figure 3.6: Proliferation of the RLAR-T cells stimulated by tumour cells. The RLAR-T cells were cultured either alone or with $5T4_{17-25}$ peptide + M15, M15 or LNCaP cells at different tumour:T cell ratios. The bars represent the mean and SD for ³H-thymidine uptake (count/min, cpm) by RLAR-T cells in response to the tumour cells or tumour+peptide from triplicate samples.



Figure 3.7: Proliferation of the CFSE labelled RLAR-T cells; cross-presentation from nonirradiated tumour cells. (A) Representative histograms showing CFSE dilution from the labelled RLAR-T cells in response to either DC alone or DC in the presence of LNCaP or DU145 tumour cells which were not irradiated. (B) The bars represent the mean and SD for the MFI of CFSE from triplicate samples. (*p < 0.05; Student's t-test). Representative of two experiments

(not shown) and it was concluded that U-bottom trays were needed to detect crosspresentation by T cell IFN γ production. DC were co-cultured with DU145 or LNCaP cells in a 96 well plate for 48 h before the RLAR-T cells were added for 6 h in the presence of Golgi blockers. DU145 and LNCaP cells were also cultured with RLAR-T cells in the absence of DC to ensure that the tumour cells were not inducing any T cell stimulation. IFN γ production by CD3⁺CD8⁺ gated population was analysed by flow cytometry. Similar to the proliferation data, DC co-cultured with DU145 cells resulted in a small but significant stimulation of IFN γ production by the RLAR-T cells above the background induced by DC alone (Figure 3.8). DC co-cultured with LNCaP cells inhibited this background cytokine production by the RLAR-T cells. The T cell proliferation and IFN γ production data demonstrate that 5T4 specific antitumor T cells responses can be generated against 5T4 antigen cross-presented by DC from non-irradiated tumour cells.

Next, the ability of irradiated DU145 cells to induce enhanced T cell activation by DC was investigated by carrying out a T cell proliferation assay with CFSE labelled RLAR-T cells (Figure 3.9). To assess effector T cell responses, in addition to measuring IFN γ production (Figure 3.10A), MIP-1 β production (Figure 3.10B and C) and T cell degranulation via CD107a mobilization (Figure 3.11) were also measured by flow cytometry in a 6 h assay.

Cross-presentation of antigen from non-irradiated DU145 cells induced significant T cell proliferation similar to data shown earlier. However, cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen was greatly increased as detected by T cell proliferation when DC cross-presented antigens from irradiated cells compared to non-irradiated ones as highlighted by further dilution of the CSFE and decrease in MFI (Figure 3.9).

Although DC, cross-presenting antigen from both irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells stimulated T cell proliferation, irradiated tumour cells induced approximately twice as many RLAR-T cells to produce IFN γ and MIP-1 β compared to that by non-irradiated tumour cells (Figure 3.10). Upon cross-presentation by DC with antigen from irradiated DU145 cells, 40% of the gated CD8⁺ T cells produced MIP-1 β compared to 28% by DC with non-irradiated cells and 20% by DC alone (Figure 3.10B). In a similar manner, 15% of the gated CD8⁺ T cells were double



Figure 3.8: RLAR-T cell stimulation by DC co-cultured with non-irradiated LNCaP or DU145 cells. Mean and SD for the percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicate samples. (*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001 Student's t-test). Representative of two experiments.





Figure 3.9: Proliferation of RLAR T cells; cross-presentation from irradiated tumour cells. (A) Representative histograms showing CFSE dilution by RLAR T cells in response to either DC alone or DC in the presence of 0 Gy or 12 Gy treated DU145 tumour cells. (B) The bars represent the mean and SD for the MFI of CFSE of the RLAR-T cells in response to either DC alone or DC in the presence of 0 Gy or 12 Gy treated DU145 tumour cells from triplicate samples. (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; Student's t-test). Representative of two experiments.

positive for MIP-1 β and IFN γ in response to DC with irradiated cells compared to 7.5% by DC with non-irradiated cells and 5.5% by DC alone (Figure 3.10C). CD107a is a marker of cytotoxic T cell degranulation and its mobilization correlates well with cytotoxic activity of CD8⁺ T cells. Yet again, cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated cells caused twice as many CD8⁺ T cells to mobilize CD107a to the cell surface and a large proportion of these cells T cells produced IFN γ (Figure 3.11A and B).

Using live (non-irradiated), necrotic (through repeated freeze thawing) and apoptotic/necrotic (12 Gy irradiated) cells, a cross-presentation experiment was carried out to determine if any form of cell death was sufficient to induce antitumor T cell responses or if IR was superior in generating 5T4 specific T cell responses. The freeze-thawed fraction was prepared by placing trypsinized DU145 cells in a -20°C freezer until completely frozen and then thawing them at room temperature. This was repeated three times. Cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen was not enhanced above background by freeze thawing the cells (Figure 3.12), indicating that the availability of the 5T4 antigen on the tumour cells alone is not sufficient for the induction of antigen cross-presentation.

In order to prove that T cell responses being observed are due to cross-presentation, the cytosolic and vacuolar cross-presentation pathways were blocked. Events within the cytosolic pathway were inhibited using lactacystin to prevent antigen degradation by proteasomes and brefeldin A to prevent loading of peptides on MHC class I molecules and transport to the cell surface through the Golgi apparatus. The inhibitors were used separately or in combination. Within the endosomal (vacuolar) pathway, aspartic proteases such as cathepsin D and E were inhibited using Pepstatin A while cysteine proteases such as cathepsin B, L and S were inhibited using Leupeptin. These inhibitors were also used either separately or in combination. Firstly, to ensure that the inhibitors were not toxic to DC, DC were pretreated with a combination of either cytosolic or endosomal pathway inhibitors before being pulsed with the $5T4_{17-25}$ peptide for T cell stimulation (Figure 3.13). Significant differences were not observed between the control group (no inhibitor) and those with the inhibitors when the percentage of IFN γ producing CD8⁺ T cells was assessed. This demonstrated that the inhibitors did not affect DC viability or function (Figure 3.13).

In the cross-presentation experiment, DC were pretreated for 1 h with the respective inhibitors or controls before co-culturing them with irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells (Figure 3.14). Cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen to RLAR-T cells was completely inhibited by blocking events of the cytosolic pathway either separately or in combination. However, inhibition of the proteases involved in the vacuolar pathway did not affect cross-presentation (Figure 3.14). This suggests that 5T4 antigen is processed by proteasomes and transported on newly synthesised MHC class I molecules out of the ER to the cell surface through Golgi apparatus.



Figure 3.10: Stimulation of RLAR-T cells after cross-presentation of irradiated and nonirradiated DU145 cells by DC measured by IFN γ and MIP-1 β production. (A) IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells. Summary of results from 6 donors. Each symbol represents a different donor and is a mean of triplicate samples. The lines represent the mean of IFN γ production in each group. Mean and SD for the percentage of (B) MIP-1 β positive or (C) MIP-1 β and IFN γ double positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicate samples are also shown. (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; Student's t-test).









Figure 3.11: Stimulation of RLAR-T cells after cross-presentation of irradiated and nonirradiated DU145 cells by DC measured by CD107a mobilisation. Mean and SD for the percentage of (A) CD107a positive or (B) CD107a and IFN γ double positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicate samples. (**p<0.01; ***p < 0.001 Student's t-test)



Figure 3.12: Stimulation of RLAR-T cells after the cross-presentation of freeze thawed (F/T), irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells by DC. Mean and SD for the percentage of IFN γ positive CD8 T cells from triplicate samples. (***p < 0.001; Student's t-test)



Figure 3.13: Stimulation of RLAR-T cells by peptide-pulsed DC treated with cytosolic or endosomal pathway inhibitors. Mean and SD for the percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicate samples. (*n.s* = not significant; Student's t-test)



Figure 3.14: Stimulation of RLAR-T cells by cross-presentation with DC treated with (A) cytosolic or (B) endosomal pathway inhibitors. Mean and SD for the percentage of IFNγ positive CD8 T cells from triplicate samples.

DISCUSSION

The question in this chapter was whether irradiation of tumour cells triggers antitumor T cell responses generated by cross-presentation of the 5T4 tumour antigen to antigen-specific T cells. In order to do this, I identified a 5T4 expressing PCa cell line (DU145) and generated a T cell line, which was then characterized for its ability to specifically recognize naturally processed 5T4 antigen. Using these cell lines, I developed an antigen cross-presentation model with irradiated PCa cells and monocyte-derived DC, where the readout was T cell activation.

Of the two PCa cell lines tested, high levels of 5T4 were detected in DU145 but not LNCaP cells, while HLA-A2 was only expressed on LNCaP but not DU145 cells. DU145 cells were used in the subsequent cross-presentation experiments and a 5T4 specific HLA-A2⁺ CD8⁺ T cell line (RLAR-T cells) was developed using the HLA-A2 binding peptide 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ (RLARLALVL) (Shingler et al., 2008). The specificity and cytotoxic capabilities of the RLAR-T cells against 5T4₁₇₋₂₅ peptide-pulsed target cells were studied using IFN γ intracellular staining and a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay, respectively, to verify the functionality of the RLAR-T cells before use in the crosspresentation experiments. Almost 71% of the RLAR-T cells produced IFNy and were also cytolytic to peptide-pulsed target cells. Cytotoxic killing of the mesothelioma cells by the RLAR-T cells and proliferation of the T cells confirmed the ability of the RLAR-T cells to recognise the naturally expressed 5T4 peptides in association with HLA-A2 on tumour cells. Other studies have also demonstrated the cytotoxic activity of CD8⁺ T cells specific for the $5T4_{17-25}$ peptide against $5T4^+$ HLA-A2⁺ renal cell carcinoma in an in vitro assay (Tykodi et al., 2012). However, to our knowledge, the antitumor potential of 5T4 specific CD8⁺ T cells against 5T4 antigen cross-presented from 5T4 positive PCa tumour cells has not been reported.

The RLAR-T cells were then characterised for their ability to specifically recognise 5T4 antigen cross-presented from the tumour cells. In our experimental setting, recognition of the 5T4 antigen by RLAR-T cells was assessed by measuring T cell proliferation and production of IFN γ in response to tumour cells alone or tumour cells co-cultured with DC. T cells cultured with tumour cells alone were not stimulated to either proliferate or produce IFN γ ; confirming the ⁵¹Cr data

demonstrating that the RLAR-T cells cannot recognise 5T4 antigen directly on DU145 or LNCaP cells. However, $5T4^+$ DU145 but not $5T4^-$ LNCaP cells cocultured with DC caused a small but significant stimulation of proliferation and IFN γ production by RLAR-T cells. This indicates that DC are required for the recognition of 5T4 antigen on DU145 cells by RLAR-T cells and that cross-presentation occurs at a low level from non-irradiated tumour cells. This is similar to findings by Matheoud et al., (2010) which demonstrated cross-priming and cross-presentation of OVA from live (non-irradiated) cells to naïve OT-1 specific CD8⁺ T cell (Matheoud et al., 2010).

Comparison of irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells co-cultured with DC revealed that antigen from irradiated tumour cells significantly enhances anti-5T4 T cell responses either measured as proliferation or production of IFN γ , MIP-1 β or CD107a. These data support the findings shown in other studies that antigen from irradiated tumour cells is cross-presented by DC and generate antigen-specific T cell responses (von Euw et al., 2007, Barrio et al., 2012) but contradicts other studies that did not find that irradiation increases antigen cross-presentation (Matheoud et al., 2010, Matheoud et al., 2011). One of the noticeable differences that might be contributing to the contradicting data within the studies is the experimental setup. Whilst our study, as well as the studies of von Euw et al., (2007) and Barrio et al., (2012) co-cultured tumour cells, DC and T cells together during a cross-presentation experiment, Matheoud et al., (2010 and 2011) purified DC using positive selection after uptake of tumour cells, and then co-cultured the purified DC with T cells. In the latter setting, the T cells may not be exposed to the immunostimulatory cytokines released by activated DC (IL-1 β and IL12) (Ghiringhelli et al., 2009, Morelli et al., 2001) and/or irradiated tumour cells (TNF- α and IFN- β) (Hallahan et al., 1989, Burnette et al., 2011). Furthermore, the radiation dose, used by Matheoud, of 100 Gy is much higher than that we used (12 Gy) and generated >70% apoptotic cells while in our model apoptotic tumour cell frequencies remained low. Another reason why we were able to detect cross-presentation may lie in the carefully optimised model where the timing and cell-to-cell contact was probably superior to that of Matheoud et al., (2010 and 2011). They co-cultured DC and tumour cells for 16 h instead of 48 h as carried out in our experiments. Cross-presentation of Mart-1 to specific CD8⁺ T cells at different times (3 - 48 h) revealed that antigen-specific T cells were stimulated more efficiently after longer periods of antigen processing as $IFN\gamma$ production increased with the co-culture time (Barrio et al., 2012).

To determine if similar results can be attained with any form of cell death or cell death induced by irradiation was necessary, a cross-presentation assay was carried out using freeze-thawed DU145 cells. The level of T cell stimulation by antigen from the necrotic (freeze-thawed) fraction was similar to that achieved by non-irradiated cells. It has been suggested that apoptotic or programmed cell death is immunologically silent while necrotic cell death is not. Apoptotic cell death is physiological and normal and, as such, poses no danger, while necrotic cell death releases danger signals upon rupturing, hence, immunogenic. However, very few studies have shown tumour lysates prepared from freeze-thawed cells to be immunogenic and to elicit potent antitumor responses (Chiang et al., 2011). My study as well as work by others clearly demonstrates that only irradiated and not freeze-thawed necrotic tumour cells induce potent antitumor immune responses (Scheffer et al., 2003, Buckwalter and Srivastava, 2013).

Cross-presentation of antigen can occur via two distinct mechanisms, as discussed in the introduction. To assess if 5T4 derived from DU145 cells is delivered from endosomes to cytosol and require proteasome degradation for presentation, lactacystin was used as it blocks the catalytic activity of the β -subunits of the proteasome (Craiu et al., 1997). Other studies have shown that cross-presentation by human DC of exogenous viral antigens derived from infected cells could be blocked by the inhibition of the proteasome (Arrode et al., 2000, Fonteneau et al., 2003). In our study, cross-presentation of tumour antigens is likely to occur via the cytosolic pathway, because we found treating DC with the proteasome inhibitor completely diminished their ability to stimulate IFN γ production by the RLAR-T cells.

Newly synthesized MHC class I molecules loaded with peptides are transported from the ER to the cell surface through the Golgi apparatus for presentation. In the presence of brefeldin A, MHC class I complexes are withheld in the ER (Yewdell et al., 1999). However, a modified phagosome-to-cytosol model has been proposed, which involves proteasomal processing and the return of antigenic peptides to the phagosome by TAP. This does not require newly synthesized MHC class I molecules in the ER and bypasses the Golgi apparatus so brefeldin A does not block crosspresentation (Houde et al., 2003, Mant et al., 2012). Cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen to the RLAR-T cells by DC treated with brefeldin A was completely inhibited in our experimental setting, therefore demonstrating that processed 5T4 antigen is transported on newly synthesized MHC class I molecules out of the ER to the cell surface through the Golgi apparatus.

In the endosomal pathway, antigens enter the endocytic pathway and progressively pass through increasing acidic compartments. In a late acid endosomal compartment, the antigens undergo proteolysis; this requires either the aspartic (cathepsin D) or cysteine (cathepsin B and S) proteases to process/degrade antigen (Riese and Chapman, 2000). Inhibition of aspartic proteases using pepstatin A or cysteine proteases using leupeptin did not affect the cross-presentation of 5T4 antigen. This demonstrates that 5T4 antigen processing in our cross-presentation model occurs in the cytosolic compartment and not the endosomal compartment of the DC.

In conclusion, the RLAR-T cells I generated can recognise cross-presented 5T4 antigen in an antigen-specific manner as they responded to 5T4⁺HLA-A2⁻ DU145 but not 5T4⁻HLA-A2⁺ LNCaP cells co-cultured with DC. Antitumor T cell responses are several fold enhanced when DC cross-present antigen from irradiated DU145 cells compared to that from non-irradiated cells. Antigen cross-presentation is likely to proceed via the cytosolic pathway. T cell responses are dependent on the effects induced by ionising radiation and not only on the presence of dead cells, as shown by tumour cells rendered necrotic by freeze-thawing. Therefore, in the next chapter I will analyse what is causing the immunogenicity of irradiated cells.

IV. Investigating the Immunogenicity of Irradiated Tumour Cells

INTRODUCTION

Cell succumbing to immunogenic cell death induced by chemotherapeutic agents or IR undergo specific changes in their surface characteristics and release proimmunogenic factors. This stimulates DC to efficiently take up tumour cells, process them and cross-present tumour antigens to CD8⁺ T cells, thus eliciting antitumor specific responses (Kepp et al., 2011). Since in the previous chapter, IR was shown to induce significant antigen-specific antitumor T cell responses by DC from PCa tumour cells, this chapter will focus on examining what is driving the immunogenicity of irradiated cells. In addition, I will study if IR-induced cell death activates DC.

Question

What are the immunogenic changes ionising radiation causes in tumour cells?

Specific aims

- 1. Investigate cell cycle and proliferation changes in DU145 cells induced by IR.
- 2. Examine the type of cell death in DU145 cells induced by IR.
- 3. Investigate if immunogenic signals are translocated or upregulated in DU145 cells following IR treatment.
- Determine whether irradiation of DU145 cells enhances their phagocytosis by DC.
- 5. Determine the ability of the irradiated DU145 cells to induce DC activation.
- 6. Examine the cytokine and chemokine profile of DC in response to irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells.

RESULTS

In vitro IR alters tumour cell morphology and proliferation

In order to investigate the growth of irradiated DU145 cells, the Incucyte Kinetic Imaging System was used. DU145 cells were either irradiated with 12 Gy or left untreated before placing the plate in the imaging system for 72 h (Figure 4.1 and 4.3). During this incubation period, the system monitored cell morphology and growth by capturing images and recording the percentage of confluence every 4 h.

The images revealed fundamental morphological differences between the irradiated and non-irradiated cells. Cell senescence and breakdown of the monolayer; debris, disintegration of the membrane, cell swelling, as well as membrane damage (signs of necrosis) and also cell membrane blebbing and apoptotic bodies (Figure 4.1B), were evident in the irradiated cultures. The use of flow cytometry analysis also showed how irradiation causes morphological changes in the irradiated cells as they became enlarged and more granular, as illustrated by the forward scatter versus side scatter dot plot (Figure 4.2). Cell growth slowed down 18 h after IR to approximately 67% confluency and to less than 80% at 72 h. Non-irradiated cells continued to grow until they reached 98% confluence (Figure 4.3) at approximately 42 h. The differences in confluence reflect those shown by the images (Figure 4.1).

IR causes cell cycle arrest and necrotic cell death

IR induces damages to the cellular DNA, which leads to the activation of a DNA damage response signalling cascade. Depending on the extent of damage, this may result in transient or permanent cell cycle arrest, and/or cell death, respectively (Lauber et al., 2012). To investigate the radio-sensitivity of DU145 cells, the cell line was irradiated with increasing IR doses (0 Gy, 3 Gy, 6 Gy, 12 Gy and 24 Gy) and incubated for different periods post-irradiation. Cell cycle analysis was carried out using the Guava easyCyte flow cytometer.

Accumulation of cells arrested at the G2/M phase, (Figure 4.4), became detectable after the cells had been incubated for 24 h after IR with \geq 12-24 Gy. IR also caused

(A) Non-Irradiated DU145 cells



(B) 12 Gy Irradiated DU145 cells



Figure 4.1: Images of DU145 cells using the Incucyte Kinetic Imaging System. Images of (A) Non-irradiated and (B) irradiated DU145 cells taken 72 h after 12 Gy IR. Red arrows indicate the morphological features only observed in the irradiated cultures.



Figure 4.2: Increased scatter parameters displayed by irradiated DU145 cells. Non-irradiated and irradiated 12 Gy DU145 cells analysed by flow cytometry 72 h after IR. P1 gate (Red) illustrates the change in cell size while the black events represent increased debris compared to non-irradiated cells.



Figure 4.3: Growth kinetics of non-irradiated (red) versus irradiated (blue) DU145 cells. Graph shows the mean of metrics calculated across multiple regions of a cell culture plate captured every 4 h for 3 days by the Incucyte Kinetic Imaging System.

DNA fragmentation detectable by the increased proportion of cells in the Sub-GO fraction (Figure 4.4). IR effects such as ER stress and ROS accumulation may occur immediately but the detection method being used is optimum for detecting events only after 24 h. 12 Gy was chosen as the IR dose to be used in further experiments and for the cross-presentation model.

An Annexin-V/PI assay was carried out to investigate more closely the extent and the type of cell death induced by IR. DU145 cells were irradiated with 12 Gy and incubated for 24 h, 48 h and 72 h (Figure 4.5A and B). Non-irradiated cells only had 6.3% total cell death. The relatively high percentage of cell death detected in the non-irradiated group might be due to lack of adhesion. 24 h post-IR, the percentage of cell death doubled to 13.3% and a gradual increase was observed after 48 h (18.2%) and 72 h (23%). While longer incubation periods allowed the detection of the increased proportion of late apoptotic/necrotic cells, the proportion of early apoptotic cells remained constant throughout the entire period (Figure 4.5A and B).

The effect of IR on tumour antigen and MHC Class I expression

Radiation can lead to alterations in the tumour cells, including de novo synthesis of particular proteins such as tumour antigens and the upregulation of MHC class I expression (Sharma et al., 2011). In the previous section, we established that 12 Gy had significant effects on cell cycle and survival of DU145 cells measured at 72 h post IR. Therefore, these conditions were used to determine if IR alters the expression of 5T4 and MHC class I molecules on the DU145 cells, which would affect their immunological behaviour. To determine the total expression of 5T4 and permeabilized with eBioscience buffers.

Surface and total 5T4 expression was higher on irradiated DU145 cells compared to non-irradiated cells (Figure 4.6A). However, MHC class I expression was not increased following IR treatment (Figure 4.6B). This suggests that IR increases the amount of antigen that can be processed by DC upon uptake of tumour cells.







Figure 4.4: Cell cycle analysis of irradiated cells. (A) Representative cell cycle graphs. (B) DU145 cells were irradiated with increasing doses of IR (x-axis) and incubated for 4 h, 24 h and 48 h. Means were calculated from triplicate samples.



Figure 4.5: Analysis of DU145 cell death after irradiation. (A) Representative figure of the population of cells in different stages of cell death as labelled on the dot plot. (B) Summary of triplicate samples Mean and SD of duplicate samples are shown. NT = non-irradiated



Figure 4.6: IR-induced effect on (A) 5T4 and (B) MHC class I expression. (A) Mean and SD of MFI for surface and intracellular (A) 5T4 or (B) MHC class I expression from triplicate samples after background from isotype has been subtracted.

Chemotherapy- or irradiation-induced cell death results in the translocation of immunologically relevant molecules from within the cell to the plasma membrane or release in the extracellular space (Zitvogel et al., 2010). The translocation of CRT, Hsp70 and HMGB1 were examined in irradiated DU145 cells. The intracellular form of CRT is important for protein folding and assembly and maintaining ER calcium homeostasis. It also contributes to the quality control of MHC class I assembly, and has multiple roles in the MHC class I pathway. Although CRT is normally ER-resident, it can also be found on the surface of living and dying cancer cells. Upon induction of cell death, surface CRT increases as cells become more damaged and is redistributed into patches. Cell surface CRT is an "eat me" signal that mediates phagocytic uptake and immunogenicity of dying cells (Gardai et al., 2005, Raghavan et al., 2012).

It has been reported that surface exposure of CRT correlates with the downregulation and redistribution of CD47, a "don't eat me" signal (Gardai et al., 2005). CD47 binds to SIRPα, which prevents viable cells from mistakenly being ingested, hence contributing to appropriate dying cell recognition (Kepp et al., 2011). To assess if CD47 is downregulated on dying tumour cell while CRT is upregulated, irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells were surface stained with an APC conjugated CD47 and PE conjugated CRT antibody or respective isotypes and analysed by flow cytometry. Upon irradiation, the proportion of surface CRT positive cells increased more than 8-fold. About a third of CRT positive cells did not express CD47 (Figure 4.7).

Intracellular Hsp70 plays an essential role as molecular chaperone by assisting the correct folding of nascent and stress-accumulated misfolded proteins and preventing their aggregation. Hsp70 levels are high in tumour cells compared to normal cells due to their increased requirement for molecular chaperones needed to stabilize the abundant mutant and over-expressed oncoproteins found in cancer and act as a powerful antiapoptotic protein in the cytosol (Schmitt et al., 2007, Joly et al., 2010). In response to stress such as IR, Hsp70 levels within the cell increase and the protein can be translocated to the plasma membrane for cell surface exposure or even

104

released into the extracellular space. Extracellular exposure/release in response to radiation is considered as an immunogenic signal (Schildkopf et al., 2011).

Immunocytochemistry was carried out to examine the effects of IR on cellular and surface expression of Hsp70 on DU145 cells (Figure 4.8A). The surface expression on the tumour cells was also confirmed by flow cytometry 24-72 h after irradiation with 12 Gy (Figure 4.8B). A correlation between Hsp70 and CRT was also assessed by flow cytometry (Figure 4.8C). Radiation of DU145 cells induced the translocation of Hsp70 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm and cell surface (Figure 4.8A). Hsp70 surface expression was significantly elevated by 24 h after irradiation compared to the non-irradiated controls as measured by flow cytometry and further increased by 72 h (Figure 4.8B). Upon irradiation, the proportion of surface Hsp70 positive cells increased more than two-fold and CRT surface expression increased more than 10-fold. Most CRT expressing cells were also positive for surface Hsp70 (Figure 4.8C).

HMGB1 is passively released by dving tumour cells in response to anthracyline or IR treatment. HMGB1 secretion into the supernatant of dying cells is associated with the reduction of its nuclear expression (Apetoh et al., 2007a). Therefore, in order to determine if radiation of DU145 cells causes changes in cellular HMGB1 levels in our experimental setting, intracellular HMGB1 was analysed by flow cytometry. DU145 cells were irradiated with 12 Gy and incubated for 24 h, 48 h, and 72 h before analysis. After a significant initial increase at 24 h, there was a gradual decrease of cellular HMGB1 content with time (Figure 4.9A). In order to determine if the decrease in cellular HMGB1 levels was due its release into the extracellular space, an ELISA assay was carried out from the supernatant collected from the cells used in Figure 4.9A. Since HMGB1 can be measured in FBS in the cell culture supernatant, a control of media alone was used to determine background levels. When supernatants from irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells were assessed, HMGB1 concentrations above background levels were only detected 48 and 72 h after IR treatment. The concentration of HMGB1 at these later time points were significantly higher in the irradiated group compared to the non-irradiated (Figure 4.9B).



Figure 4.7: IR-induced effects on surface CRT and CD47 expression. 0 Gy and 12 Gy treated DU145 cells were analysed by flow cytometry 72 h after IR. Representative dot plots; the numbers represent means of triplicate samples.







Figure 4.8: IR-induced translocation of Hsp70 to the cytosol and surface. (A) Immunoflouresence staining of nuclear and cytoplasmic Hsp70 in DU145 cells 72 h post-IR. (B) Surface staining of Hsp70 24 h and 72 h post-IR. Mean and SD of triplicate samples for MFI of Hsp70 after background of the Isotype has been subtracted. (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; Student's t-test). (C) IR induced exposure of surface Hsp70 and CRT on DU145 72 h after IR. Representative dot plots; the numbers represent means of triplicate samples.



Figure 4.9: Cellular and extracellular levels of HMGB1 after different incubation periods post irradiation with 12 Gy. (A) Intracellular HMGB1 staining of irradiated DU145 cells. (B) Extracellular HMGB1 detected from cell supernatant. Mean and SD of triplicate samples showing the MFI of HMGB1 after background of the Isotype has been subtracted. The dotted line represents the levels detected from media alone. (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; Student's t test)



Figure 4.10: Detection of HMGB1 in the supernatant of DU145 cells following irradiation. (A) Western blot of immunoprecipitated proteins. Samples listed above were probed with mouse anti-HMGB1 primary antibody and goat anti-mouse HPR-conjugated secondary antibody (1:5000) (B) Pixel densitometry of the western blotting bands for 0 Gy and 12 Gy irradiated DU145 cells.
Levels of released HMGB1 were also analysed by western blotting. The tumour supernatants were concentrated using immunoprecipitation for enhanced detection. The band detected at approximately 50-60 kDa was albumin as the media contained 0.5% FBS. The band at approximately 30-36 kDa was HMGB1 (Figure 4.10A). Quantification of the bands sizes was carried out using imageJ (Figure 4.10A and B). Pixel densities calculated using imageJ confirmed that supernatants from irradiated DU145 cells had more HMGB1 compared to the non-irradiated supernatant (Figure 4.10B).

Phagocytosis of tumour cells

Dying cells undergo specific surface changes that signal professional APC such as DC to bind and engulf them. Among these markers is the surface exposure of PS as well as the translocation of CRT to the cell surface. Both PS and CRT were highly expressed on the surface of irradiated DU145 cells in our experiments. To investigate if DC preferentially take up irradiated tumour cells versus non-irradiated cells, a phagocytosis experiment was carried out. DC were co-cultured overnight with CFSE labelled irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells. To identify DC in the DC:Tumour cell co-culture, DC were labelled with a HLA-DR antibody since DU145 cells are negative for HLA-DR. Engulfment of CFSE labelled tumour cells by DC was determined by flow cytometry, by assessing the percentage of HLA-DR and CFSE double positive cells. Although uptake of non-irradiated tumour cells was observed, approximately 30% more double positive DC were detected after co-culture of irradiated DU145 cells with DC (Figure 4.11), indicating that radiation induces cellular changes in tumour cells which enhance their phagocytic uptake.

DC activation: maturation and cytokine release following uptake of tumour cells

Nearly all processes mediated by DC depend on their differentiation and maturation state. These processes involve migration to peripheral lymphoid organs as well as expression of MHC molecules, co-stimulatory molecules, and cytokines resulting in T cell stimulation. Thus, IR-induced changes in the state of DC maturation and





Figure 4.11: Phagocytosis of DU145 cells by DC. (A) Dot plots with cells labelled with HLA-DR antibody (*y-axis*) representing DC and CFSE (*x-axis*) representing DU145 cells. Double positive population represents DC with phagocytosed tumour cells. (B) HLA-DR and CFSE double positive DC, following uptake of non-irradiated DU145 cell (red) versus irradiated DU145 cells (blue). Summary of results from 6 donors. Each symbol represents a different donor and is a mean of triplicate samples. The lines represent the mean of DC in each group.

activation would affect cellular immunity. The ability of the tumour cells to mature DC was assessed by co-culturing irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells with DC at 1:1 ratio for 48 h before phenotypic analysis. The phenotype of immature and mature DC was characterised by detecting the expression of cell surface molecules HLA-DR, CD83, CD86 and CCR7 by flow cytometry (Figure 4.12). Immature DC express high to medium levels of surface HLA-DR, relatively low levels of co-stimulatory molecules (CD86), and are negative for CD83 and CCR7. DC co-cultured with irradiated tumours displayed significant upregulation of HLA-DR, CD86, CCR7 and CD83 compared to those co-cultured with non-irradiated tumour cells (Figure 4.12).

As shown above, when tumour cells undergo IR-induced cell death, they translocate immunogenic signals to the cell surface. Release of danger signals such as Hsp70, HMGB1 and ATP into the extracellular space by irradiated tumour cells has also been reported (Garg et al., 2012a, Apetoh et al., 2007a, Ko et al., 2014). To determine whether signals from the two cellular compartments work together or independently, to induce activation and improve tumour antigen cross-presentation, the original supernatant (IR/non-IR conditioned supernatant) from irradiated and non-irradiated tumour cells was removed and replaced with fresh media before DC were added. The conditioned supernatant was transferred into new wells and DC were added to these. DC activation was assessed by the upregulation of CD86 molecules (Figure 4.13A). Irradiated tumour cells were able to activate DC in the absence of the IR conditioned supernatant. However, the conditioned supernatant alone from irradiated cells was not able to activate DC. Similar to the results obtained above, upregulation of the co-stimulatory molecule was not observed when DC were cultured with non-irradiated cells in the presence or absence of non-IR conditioned media or with non-IR conditioned supernatant alone (Figure 4.13A). This suggests that only signals on the surface of irradiated tumour cells are able to activate DC.

Conversely, DC cross-presentation of antigens from irradiated DU145 cells in the absence of IR conditioned supernatant moderately reduced T cell stimulation compared to when DC were co-cultured with irradiated cells in the presence of conditioned supernatant (Figure 4.13B). Cross-presentation of antigens from non-



Figure 4.12: DC maturation by non-irradiated and irradiated DU145 cells. Mean and SD of MFI for CD86, CD83, HLA-DR and CCR7 for triplicate samples are shown. A representative of three repeated experiments from different donors.



Figure 4.13: Effects of soluble factors vs. cellular elements of DU145 cells on (A) DC activation and (B) 5T4 specific T cell responses. (A) Mean and SD of CD86 (MFI) expression on DC from triplicate samples are shown. (B) Mean and SD of percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicates samples. (*p < 0.5; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; Student's t test).

irradiated DU145 was not affected by the presence or absence of non-IR conditioned media. This demonstrates that the signals on the irradiated tumour cells and not those released into the extracellular space are important for DC activation while the latter partially improves antigen cross-presentation. Not only the dying cell itself, but also soluble factors, released by dying cells contribute to the immunological outcome in a cross-presentation setting (Figure 4.13B).

Production of certain cytokines during the DC maturation process can influence DC to induce either anti- or pro-inflammatory immune responses. A standard ELISA protocol was used to assess IL-6, IL-12 and IL-10 produced by DC in response to the irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells. DC produced significantly more IL-6 in response to irradiated DU145 cells compared to the non-irradiated cells (Figure 4.14A). IL-12 release was only detected from DC that had taken up irradiated cells (Figure 4.14B) while IL-10 produced by DC cultured with irradiated versus non-irradiated cells was not significantly different (Figure 4.14C). The events provide evidence that irradiated tumour cells are able to activate DC, upregulate co-stimulatory molecules and produce pro-inflammatory cytokines required for T cell stimulation during antigen cross-presentation.

Cytokine and Chemokine Array

After establishing that IR causes a pro-inflammatory cytokine shift, a protein profiler array was carried out to investigate which other cytokines or chemokines are produced by DC in response to irradiated tumour cells. Supernatants were collected from 48 h co-cultures of DC with irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells. Supernatants from DC alone or irradiated DU145 cells alone were used as controls (Figure 4.15). The Protein Profiler Array revealed that DC downregulated CCL2 secretion by 56%, but upregulated CXCL10 secretion by 58% following uptake of irradiated tumour cells compared to that of non-irradiated tumour cells (Figure 4.15 and 4.16). As CCL2 is a Th2-type, while CXCL10 is a Th1-type chemokine, the switch in their ratio is a further confirmation of irradiation inducing pro-inflammatory changes in DC.



Figure 4.14: Secretion of IL-6, IL-12 and IL-10 by DC. Supernatants from DC co-cultured with irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells for 48 h were analysed by ELISA. Mean and SD for IL-6, IL-12 or IL-10 concentration of triplicate samples are shown.



Figure 4.15A: Proteome Profiler Human Cytokine Array- Scanned images of the membranes used in the array for each group as shown above.



Figure 4.15B: Cytokine and chemokine responses by DC following uptake of irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells. Densitometry of proteins was carried using ImageJ software and data was normalized by subtracting the averages of the negative control from the test samples. Mean and SD of pixel densities from duplicate samples are shown.



Figure 4.16: Significant differences in cytokine and chemokine production by DC following the uptake of irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells. Densitometry as on Figure 4.15B from the same experiment. Mean and SD of pixel densities from duplicate samples are shown.

DISCUSSION

The question in this chapter was whether IR causes immunogenic changes in tumour cells. In order to answer this, the effects of IR on DU145 cells in the context of cell cycle arrest, proliferation, type of cell death and translocation of immunogenic signals were examined. Furthermore, the activation status of DC upon uptake of irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells was investigated.

The DNA damage induced by IR initiates signals that can ultimately activate either temporary checkpoints that permit time for genetic repair or irreversible growth arrest that results in cell death (necrosis or apoptosis) (Pawlik and Keyomarsi, 2004). In mammalian cells, progression through the cell cycle can be halted at G1 and/or G2 in response to IR. The cell-cycle DNA damage checkpoints occur late in G1, which prevents entry to S phase, and late in G2, which prevents entry to mitosis (DiPaola, 2002). Irradiating DU145 cells caused cell cycle arrest at the G2/M phase in a radiation dose dependent manner. Our findings are in agreement with the work by others (Xu et al., 2002, Miyata et al., 2001, Aquilina et al., 1999) which showed late G2/M accumulation in irradiated cells.

Many of the common solid tumours take a long time to respond to cytotoxic treatments such as radiotherapy or chemotherapy. The rate usually correlates with the turnover of cells within the tumour, and this reflects the mechanism of mitotic catastrophe. Mitotic catastrophe is a form of cell stress, which occurs as a result of failed mitosis. In this mechanism, treated cells remain viable until they enter the cell cycle, either initially or at some later point, when the accumulated genetic damage makes the cell non-viable (Shinomiya, 2001, Garcia-Lora et al., 2003). Based on the growth curve of irradiated DU145 cells, altered proliferation was not detectable for the first 18 h after IR treatment. The occurrence of G2/M arrest, which prevents damaged cells from proceeding to mitosis for cell division, probably contributed to the halt in proliferation observed in tumour cells. Images of irradiated cultures taken by the Incucyte system showed among other signs, cell senescence, a form of irreversible growth arrest. The hallmarks of cell senescence include enlarged and flattened cellular morphology and increased granularity. This correlates with some of the data obtained from the flow cytometry analysis where irradiated DU145 cells

were larger and more granular compared to non-irradiated cells. Numerous signs of cell death were also observed in the images.

Prolonged incubation after IR treatment allowed the detection of increased cell death using the Annexin-V/PI staining protocol. At 72 h, I observed higher levels of late-apoptotic/necrotic cell death than apoptotic death. IR-induced necrotic tumour cell death provides an abundant cellular source of tumour antigen for uptake and presentation by APC. Although not in a cross-presentation experiment, a study has demonstrated that irradiation of a NY-ESO negative breast cancer cell line induced de novo synthesis and upregulation of NY-ESO on the tumour cells. Consequently, NY-ESO CD8⁺ T were able to recognize and respond to the breast cancer cell line in an antigen-specific manner (Sharma et al., 2011). In a cross-presentation setting, antigen from tumour cells taken up by DC is processed and presented to CD8⁺ T cells in the context of MHC class I molecules. Therefore, it seems likely that the increased expression of 5T4 on DU145 cells in response to radiation provides DC with more tumour antigen to process and present to T cells compared to the antigen from non-irradiated cells. This sequentially would enhance the stimulation of CD8⁺ T cells.

HMGB1 concentrations above background levels (media alone) were only detected in the supernatant from irradiated DU145 cells suggesting passive release by dying tumour cells in response to IR. This confirms the work by Apetoh et al. (2007a and b). In order to detect HMGB1 by western blotting, immunoprecipitation of the supernatant was carried out. Although HMGB1 was detected in the supernatants of both irradiated and non-irradiated cells after immunoprecipitation, there was more in the supernatant from irradiated DU145 cells. While the positive control of the rhHMGB1 was observed at approximately 30-36 kDa, the bands from the DU145 cell supernatants were observed at approximately 26-33 kDa. The predicted molecular mass for human HMGB1 is 25 kDa, however it is usually detected at 25-36 kDa on western blots. The difference between the predicted band size and the observed band size could be due to the post-translational modifications, which increases the size of the protein. HMGB1 undergoes a number of post-translational modifications, which determine its interactions with other proteins and modulate its biological activity (Sioud et al., 2007, Yang et al., 2013). IR increased translocation of CRT to the surface of treated cells. The translocation of CRT to the surface of the cell membrane acts as an 'eat me' signal (Obeid et al., 2007a). One suggested mechanism for cell surface exposure of CRT involves the association of cytoplasmic CRT with phosphatidylserine (PS) on the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, thereby allowing CRT to become exposed during apoptosis and necrosis (Raghavan et al., 2012). Sites of CRT exposure have been shown to significantly correspond with localized areas of PS exposure, suggesting there is a combined role for each in optimum apoptotic cell recognition and induction of uptake (Gardai et al., 2005). These data suggest that the increased exposure of CRT on irradiated DU145 cells could enhance cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen by enabling increased uptake of irradiated tumour cells.

Hsp70 expressed on the cell surface may serve as a danger signal and induce DC activation. Hsp70 was significantly exposed on the surface of irradiated compared to non-irradiated DU145 cells. It also acts as a vehicle to deliver its associated antigen to DC, and then facilitates antigen cross-presentation to CD8⁺ T cells. A suggested mechanism for Hsp70 externalisation is by binding to PS upon tumour cell death, similar to CRT (Schilling et al., 2009). Numerous studies have demonstrated the immunosuppressive effects of PS (Hoffmann et al., 2005). Therefore it is possible that the PS-binding function of CRT and Hsp70 influences immunogenicity by binding to SREC-I or CD91, thus blocking other PS-dependent interactions, such as those involving TIM-4 and TAM family of receptors, which are known to be tolerance inducing (Freeman et al., 2010, Lemke and Rothlin, 2008).

In the immature state, DC are specialized to recognize and capture specific antigens, including tumour antigens. Indeed, DC phagocytosed significantly more irradiated DU145 cells compared to the non-irradiated cells possibly due to the upregulated expression of the 'eat me' signal on the former compared to the latter group. However, although immature DC are highly phagocytic, they express relatively low levels of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules and are therefore unable to efficiently activate T cells resulting in T cell anergy (Tan and O'Neill, 2005).

Distinct DC development and activation plays a role in the induction of tolerance versus immunity. Activated DC are matured to become immunostimulatory. DC maturation is associated with the upregulation of the DC maturation marker (CD83), co-stimulatory (CD86) and MHC molecules as well as chemokine receptors such as CCR7. Primarily, in an *in vivo* tumour antigen cross-presentation setting, CCR7 enables DC to migrate from the tumour tissue to the tumour draining lymph node, where DC present peptides derived from antigen acquired from the tumour in the context of MHC class I molecules to naïve CD8 T cells (Breckpot and Escors, 2009). These phenotypic changes were displayed by DC following the uptake of irradiated DU145 cells compared to that of non-irradiated cells.

Activated and immunogenic DC produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-12 (Morelli et al., 2001, Lutz and Schuler, 2002). IL-6 which is also has an important role in T cell migration (Weissenbach et al., 2004), was highly produced by DC in response to irradiated compared to non-irradiated DU145 cells. IL-12 was only secreted by DC co-cultured with irradiated tumour cells. A study showed that IL-12 enhances cross-presentation of tumour antigens and reverses the immunosuppressive function of tumour-resident myeloid cells (Kerkar et al., 2011). The aim for carrying out the cytokine/chemokine array was to identify any other inflammatory mediators being secreted by DC, which may influence the crosspresenting ability of DC. DC downregulated CCL2 but upregulated CXCL10 following uptake of irradiated compared to non-irradiated DU145 cells. CCL2 within the tumour microenvironment has been associated with tumour progression and metastasis by inducing M2-type macrophage polarization (Roca et al., 2009) and prevents normal DC development (Spary et al., 2014). Conversely, CXCL10 is important for trafficking of T cells to the tumour microenvironment (Franciszkiewicz et al., 2012). CD8⁺ T cell infiltration in the irradiated tumour tissue serves as a prognostic factor (Golden et al., 2013, Postow et al., 2012, Tabachnyk et al., 2012, Schmidtner et al., 2009, Suwa et al., 2006) indicating that radiation can switch the immunosuppressive tumour milieu to a pro-immune environment.

Co-culturing DC with tumour cells alone, supernatant alone, or tumour cells and supernatant provided an idea regarding which signals might be contributing to the immunogenicity of irradiated tumour cells. Signals translocated to the surface of tumour cells upon IR treatment include CRT and Hsp70. Both have been shown to activate DC through binding to CD91 (Pawaria and Binder, 2011). Hsp70 also activates and matures DC through binding to TLR2 and TLR4 (Chen et al., 2009, Asea et al., 2002). Signals often released into the extracellular space by dying tumour cells include HMGB1, Hsp70 and ATP. Although the soluble factors were not able to activate DC, they did contribute to the enhanced cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated DU145 cells. HMGB1 can aid cross-presentation by preventing antigen degradation within the DC (Apetoh et al., 2007b), Hsp70 facilitates the transportation of antigen through the MHC class I pathway in DC (Kato et al., 2012), and ATP induces IL-1 β production, which is required for efficient T cell priming (Ghiringhelli et al., 2009). Given that cross-presentation was only affected by supernatant from irradiated but not non-irradiated cells, it is conclusive that the signals induced by IR are responsible for improved cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated DU145 cells.

In conclusion, IR drives the immunogenicity of irradiated DU145 cells by inducing the type of cell death that provides immunogenic signals such as CRT, Hsp70 and HMGB1. IR also increases the expression of 5T4 on irradiated DU145 cells. Therefore, CRT might be triggering DC to take up more antigens from irradiated than non-irradiated cells. DC then become activated and subsequently process the antigen with the aid of the immunogenic signals thus allowing better cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen to 5T4 specific CD8⁺T cells.

V. The Mechanism of Tumour Antigen Cross-Presentation from Irradiated Tumour Cells and the Role of TLR4 and TLR4 Polymorphism

INTRODUCTION

HMGB1 is a ligand for TLR4 and it is widely published that HMGB1 is released when cells undergo necrosis. HMGB1 was detected in the supernatant of irradiated DU145 cells. Hsp70, another ligand for TLR4, was highly expressed in irradiated DU145 cells. The presence of the TLR4 ligands in the experimental setting suggests that TLR4 contributes to the antitumor antigen T cell responses observed in the cross-presentation model.

DC require signalling through TLR4 and its adaptor MyD88 for efficient processing and cross-presentation of antigen from dying tumour cells (Apetoh et al., 2007b). The activation of tumour antigen-specific T cell immunity involved the ligation of HMGB1 with TLR4 expressed on mouse DC (Apetoh et al., 2007b). In the same study, DC from individuals bearing the Asp299Gly SNP showed impaired ability to cross-present MART1 from oxaliplatin-treated melanoma cells to MART1 specific CD8⁺ T cells compared to normal DC in HMGB1-dependent manner (Apetoh et al., 2007b). However, a chemotherapeutic agent and not IR was used to induce cell death. Therefore, this chapter will investigate role of TLR4 and the TLR4 polymorphism in the cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated tumour cells.

Questions:

Does TLR4 play a role in the cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated tumour cells and does Asp299Gly SNP of TLR4 interfere with antigen cross-presentation?

Specific aims:

- a) Block TLR4 and its potential ligands HMGB1 and Hsp70 in the tumour antigen cross-presentation model.
- b) Identify donors with TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP.
- c) Determine the characteristics of DC with TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP.
- d) Determine if TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP impairs the ability of DC to cross present the 5T4 antigen from irradiated tumour cells better than the nonirradiated tumour cells.
- e) If the role for TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP in the above experiments has been demonstrated, carry out SNP analysis from PCa patients with known clinical history post radiation therapy.

RESULTS

Analysis of TLR4 expression

TLR4 surface expression was evaluated on monocytes and DC. Monocytes expressed approximately 6 times more surface TLR4 molecules compared to DC (Figure 5.1). Total TLR4 expression levels were also compared to the surface levels after monocytes were incubated with GM-CSF alone (monocytes) or IL4+GM-CSF (DC) for different time periods (Figure 5.2). In DC, surface TLR4 was downregulated after 5 days while total levels remained unchanged. However, the level of TLR4 expressed on the surface of monocytes increased after 5 days. This suggests that the presence of IL4 in the culture results in the downregulation of TLR4 on the surface of monocyte-derived DC but their intracellular content did not change significantly.

LPS responsiveness and TLR4 blocking

In order to block TLR4, several approaches were used. Vaccinia virus encodes the A46 protein, which binds to multiple TIR-domain containing proteins, ultimately preventing TLRs from signalling. An 11 amino acid long peptide (KYSFKLILAEY) from A46 was termed Viral inhibitory peptide of TLR4 (VIPER). When fused to a cell-penetrating delivery sequence (9R), VIPER specifically inhibited TLR4 mediated responses such as TNF- α production by RAW264.7 cells, THP-1 cells and PBMC. CXCL2, RANTES and IL-6 responses by murine immortalized bone marrow derived macrophages (iBMDM) (Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010) were also inhibited. VIPER binds to the TIR domains of the adaptor proteins, thereby inhibiting TLR4 signalling by interfering with TLR4-Mal and TLR4-TRAM interactions (Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010). As an attempt to block TLR4 function, I carried out an experiment to stimulate DC with LPS in the presence of VIPER. VIPER was added either at increasing concentrations to 10 ng/ml LPS stimulation (Figure 5.3). No inhibition of TNF- α production by any concentration of VIPER was observed. Instead of inhibition, VIPER alone was able to stimulate DC as determined by the significant expression of TNF- α even in the absence of LPS compared to the control without VIPER and LPS. Thus, the VIPER peptide was not used in the crosspresentation assay to investigate the role of TLR4.

(A)



Figure 5.1: TLR4 surface expression on monocytes and DC. A) Histograms of TLR4 (Purple) and isotype control (Grey) B) Mean and SD of the percentage of TLR4 positive cells (%) from triplicate samples are shown. Antibody binding to monocytes (left) or DC (right)

(A) Monocytes DAY 2 DAY 5 Surface Surface Total Total GM-CSF Only GM-CSF Only GM-CSF Onl Count Count Count Count TLR4 FITC-A TLR4 FITC-A TLR4 FITC-A TLR4 FITC-A



(B) DC



Figure 5.2: TLR4 expression on monocytes and DC *in vitro*. (A) Monocytes (GM-CSF) or (B) DC (IL4+GM-CSF). TLR4 expression was measured after 2 and 5 days of incubation in both groups. Representative histograms of cells (as indicated above the figures) labelled with TLR4 (Purple) or isotype control (Grey) antibodies. Means and SD of percentage change in MFI of TLR4 compared to isotype from duplicate samples are shown.



Figure 5.3: The effect of VIPER on DC stimulation. VIPER concentrations are shown in the x-axis. TNF- α production by DC in response to 10 ng/ml LPS is shown. Mean and SD of the percentage of TNF- α positive cells from triplicate samples are shown.

MyD88 and TRIF inhibition

Activation of cell surface or endosomal TLR4 drives the recruitment of the adaptor pairs Mal/MyD88 and TRAM/TRIF respectively, through the interaction of the TIR domain on TLR4 with the TIR domain on the adaptors via a loop referred to as the BB-loop (Figure 1.2). In order to investigate the TLR4 adaptor function, MyD88 and TRIF were blocked using peptides containing amino acids that correspond to the sequence of the BB loop of MyD88 (RDVLPGT) and TRIF (FCEEFQVPGRGELH). The peptides function as decoys by binding to their TIR domain and interfering with TLR-adaptor interactions (Loiarro et al., 2005, Toshchakov et al., 2005).

In order to determine the ability of the inhibitory peptides to block TLR4 signalling, DC were pretreated with different concentration of the peptides for 6 h before 100 ng LPS was added. The MyD88 inhibitory peptide set (both test and control) proved to be cytotoxic to DC when used at 50 μ M and more (data not shown), therefore, lower concentrations, ranging from 5-20 μ M, were used in the LPS stimulation assay. A dose dependent reduction in the percentage of cells producing TNF- α was observed. However, significant differences between the control and test peptide were only evident at 15 μ M and 20 μ M (Figure 5.4A). Peptide concentrations against TRIF were used from 5-50 μ M. When compared to the control peptide, the test peptide inhibited TLR4 signalling via TRIF at all the concentrations used (Figure 5.4B).

In the cross-presentation model, DC were pretreated with 20 μ M MyD88 test/control peptide (Figure 5.5A) or 10 μ M TRIF (Figure 5.5B) test/control peptide for 6 h before adding the DC to the irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells. Blocking individual signalling pathways did not affect cross-presentation from irradiated cells, as there were no significant differences observed between the MyD88 or TRIF test and control peptides (Figure 5.5A and B). As there is a synergy between the adaptors (Meissner et al., 2013), DC were also pretreated with both the MyD88 and TRIF test or control peptides to ensure inhibition of both adaptor molecules (Figure 5.5C). Inhibition of both MyD88 and TRIF signalling pathways with the test peptide partially reduced T cell stimulation by cross-presented antigen from irradiated DU145 cells and this was significant compared to the control peptide. The treatment did not significantly affect T cell stimulation by antigen from non-irradiated cells



Figure 5.4: Dose dependent inhibition of TNF- α production in DC by (A) MyD88 or (B) TRIF inhibitors. MyD88 and TRIF inhibitory peptide or control peptide concentrations are shown on the x-axis. TNF- α production by DC in response to 100 ng/ml LPS is shown. Mean and SD of the percentage of TNF- α positive cells from triplicate samples are shown.



Figure 5.5: Inhibition of cross-presentation by MyD88 or TRIF inhibitors. 5T4 specific T cell stimulation after cross-presentation of antigen from irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells by DC in the presence of either control peptides or (A) MyD88 – 20 μ M or (B) TRIF – 10 μ M inhibitory peptides. (C) 25 μ M of control peptide or MyD88 and TRIF inhibitory peptides together. Mean and SD of percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicates samples are shown.

(Figure 5.5C). This illustrated that a ligand released by irradiated cells was partially contributing to TLR4 signalling in DC.

HMGB1 and Hsp70 inhibition

It has been demonstrated that ligation of TLR4 with HMGB1 (Messmer et al., 2004, Dumitriu et al., 2006, Apetoh et al., 2007b) and Hsp70 (Basu et al., 2000, Joly et al., 2010, Bendz et al., 2007) induces DC activation and improves antigen processing. Therefore, in order to determine if HMGB1 and Hsp70 might be contributing to the antitumor T cells responses being observed in our model, blocking experiments of the ligands were carried out. In this study, HMGB1 function was inhibited using glycyrrhizin. Glycyrrhizin has been shown to inhibit chemoattractant and mitogenic activities caused by HMGB1 binding to RAGE (Mollica et al., 2007) and to reduce cytokine production induced by HMGB1 binding to TLR4 (Wang et al., 2013). It binds directly to HMGB1 by interacting with two shallow concave surfaces formed by the two arms of both HMG boxes.

Glycyrrhizin (50 μ M) was added to irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells once every 24 h over a 72 h incubation period before co-culturing them with DC. HMGB1 inhibition had no effect on DC activation, as CD86 remained constant in both the presence and absence of glycyrrhizin (Figure 5.6A). However, it did significantly reduce cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen from irradiated tumour cells almost to the level observed with non-irradiated DU145 cells (Figure 5.6B).

In order to assess the function of Hsp70, VER 155008 (5 μ M) an inhibitor for Hsp70 was added to irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells once every 24 h over a 72 h incubation period (Figure 5.7). The molecular chaperone activity of Hsp70 is conferred by two functional domains: a dedicated binding domain that seizes client polypeptides and an ATPase domain. HSPs are allosteric molecules, one domain reciprocally affecting the other, and when polypeptide moieties bind to the peptide binding domain, ATP is hydrolysed to ADP but when ATP binds, associated peptides are released (Massey, 2010). As such, VER 155008 functions as an ATP mimetic and binds to the ATPase pocket of Hsp70 (Massey et al., 2010), thereby inhibiting the activity of Hsp70.



Figure 5.6: Effects of HMGB1 inhibition on (A) DC activation and (B) RLAR T cell activation in a cross-presentation experiment. (A) Mean and SD of MFI of CD86 on DC exposed to DU145 cells from triplicate samples are shown. (B) Mean and SD of the percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicates samples. (*p < 0.5; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; Student's t test). Representative data of several experiments.



Figure 5.7: Effects of Hsp70 inhibition on (A) DC activation and (B) RLAR T cell activation in a cross-presentation experiment. (A) Mean and SD of MFI of CD86 on DC exposed to DU145 cells from triplicate samples are shown. (B) Mean and SD of the percentage of IFN γ positive CD8⁺ T cells from triplicates samples. (*p < 0.5; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; Student's t test). Representative data of several experiments.

Inhibition of Hsp70 significantly impaired the ability of irradiated DU145 cells to activate DC; CD86 remained low on DC co-cultured with irradiated tumour cells and the levels were similar to those expressed on DC co-cultured with non-irradiated cells (Figure 5.7A). In the cross-presentation experiment, T cell responses generated by antigen cross-presented from irradiated DU145 cells were not significantly different to those induced by non-irradiated cells (although both were reduced), demonstrating that inhibition of Hsp70 completely inhibited the advantage irradiated tumour cells had over the non-irradiated cells (Figure 5.7B).

Patients and healthy donors identified for TLR4 polymorphism

In the experiments shown in this chapter, we have demonstrated that TLR4 (and its potential ligands) play a role in antigen cross-presentation. Next, we wanted to analyse if TLR4 SNP affects this function. In order to identify individuals with the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP, DNA amplification from blood or established BLCL cells was carried out by PCR followed by pyrosequencing in Dr Rachel Butler's laboratory (Cardiff and Vale NHS Trust, University Hospital of Wales). Samples from 50 health donors (HD) and 18 PCa patients were tested. The percentage of people with the TLR4 SNP was slightly higher in the population with PCa (11.1%) compared to the healthy individuals (6%) (Table 5.1).

In order to investigate if DC with TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP differs significantly from DC with normal TLR4 allele, I planned to carry out phenotypic and functional assays on DC from donors belonging to each group. A Taqman Predesigned SNP Genotyping Assay for SNP ID rs4986790 was done on 10 donors (5 SNP and 5 Normal) to confirm the results attained from the pyrosequencing. When the data from the two genotyping experiments were compared (Figure 5.8.1 and 5.8.2), it was evident that all the donors with the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP were heterozygous. Analysis of the pyrosequencing data revealed that the A allele had 100% detection in the wild type donors, while for the SNP donors the G allele had a higher percentage of detection but did not reach 100%. Additionally, the TaqMan Predesigned Assay showed that wild type donors only had the A allele while the SNP donors had both the A and G alleles. In both assays, although the A allele was detected in the SNP donors, the levels were lower compared to the wild type. However, the TaqMan Predesigned Assay highlighted that one of the two the PCa patients initially shown to have the SNP based on the pyrosequencing data actually had a normal allele. This assay was repeated three times and the same result was attained each time. Therefore, the assays were carried out on 6 DC with the normal TLR4 allele and 4 DC with the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP allele (unless otherwise stated).

	HD	PCa	Total
Normal	47	17	63
SNP	3	2	5
Percentage of SNP	6%	11.1%	7.4%

Table 5.1: TLR4 SNP results based on pyrosequencing. Data represents the TLR4 allele (as indicated on the left of the table) of healthy donors (HD) and patients with PCa

(A) Donor with normal/wild type TLR4 Asp299 allele



(B) Donor with the variant TLR4 Asp299Gly allele



Figure 5.8.1: Pyrosequencing peaks. Representative peaks from 70 donors. (A) Donor with normal/wild type TLR4 Asp299 allele. (B) Donor with the variant TLR4 Asp299Gly allele. Red dotted line = 100% mark. Red Box = position 299



Figure 5.8.2: SNP genotyping: Allelic discrimination plots showing signal intensities (Δ Rn) for Normal (Asp299) versus SNP (Asp299Gly) TLR4 alleles from 10 donors. Each shape represents the genotype of an individual sample. Variant type/SNP donors are heterozygous and contain both A and G allele and Wild type/normal donors are homozygous for the A allele. Data are an average of 3 assays.



Figure 5.9: Total TLR4 expression in (A) monocytes and (B) DC carrying the normal (Black n=5 and n=6) **or SNP** (Red n=4) **TLR4 allele.** Percentage of TLR4 positive monocytes and DC are shown. Each symbol represents a different donor and is a mean of triplicate samples. The lines represent the mean of TLR4 expression in each group.

TLR4 polymorphism and LPS stimulation

Total TLR4 expression on monocytes and DC was assessed to evaluate if it differs between individuals with the normal allele vs. those with the polymorphic allele (Figure 5.9). Whilst varying levels of TLR4 expression were detected among all individuals, there were no significant differences observed between the two groups either on monocytes or DC.

To determine if the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP affects DC responses to LPS stimulation, DC from individuals bearing the SNP and those with normal TLR4 allele were stimulated with LPS and TNF- α production or phenotypic changes were analysed by flow cytometry (Figures 5.10 and 5.11). DC responses were assessed by either calculating the percentage of DC producing TNF- α (Figure 5.10) or evaluating DC maturation based on the upregulation of HLA-DR, CD86 and CD83 (Figure 5.11). Both sets of DC produced similar levels of TNF- α in response to LPS. Furthermore, no significant differences were observed in the maturation of DC after stimulation with 100 ng/ml LPS for 24 h. This demonstrates that the TLR4 SNP does not affect the function and phenotype of DC in response to LPS.

TLR4 polymorphic DC maturation by irradiated tumour cells

As demonstrated in the previous chapter, irradiated DU145 cells provided maturation signals for DC. To determine if the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP affects DC maturation by irradiated tumour cells, DC from individuals bearing the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP and those with normal TLR4 allele were co-cultured with irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells for 48 h before phenotyping the cells for flow cytometry analysis (Figure 5.12). The SNP did not affect the maturation of DC by irradiated cells, as there were no significant differences in the MFI for CD86, CD83 and HLA-DR between the two DC groups. The differences between irradiated and non-irradiated cells were also evident in both SNP and normal DC.



Figure 5.10: LPS stimulation of DC carrying the normal or SNP TLR4 allele. Percentage of TNF- α positive cells are shown. Each symbol represents a different donor and is a mean of triplicate samples. The lines represent the mean of TNF- α production in each group.



Figure 5.11: LPS stimulation of DC carrying the normal or SNP TLR4 allele. MFIs for CD86, CD83 and HLA-DR on DC are shown. Each symbol represents a different donor and is a mean of triplicate samples. The lines represent the mean of CD86, CD83 and HLA-DR expression in each group.






Figure 5.13: Cross-presentation of 5T4 antigen from irradiated and non-irradiated DU145 cells by DC carrying either normal or SNP TLR4 alleles. Percentage of IFN γ positive cells are shown. Each symbol represents a different donor and is a mean of triplicate samples. The lines represent the mean of IFN γ production in each group.

Cross-presentation of 5T4 antigen by TLR4 polymorphic DC to 5T4 specific T cells

To determine if the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP impairs the ability of DC to cross-present antigen to tumour-specific T cells, DC from individuals bearing the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP and those with normal TLR4 allele were co-cultured with irradiated or non-irradiated DU145 cells before addition of RLAR-T cells. DC with the TLR4 SNP stimulated approximately four times more T cells following uptake of irradiated tumour cells compared to non-irradiated cells. These responses were similar to those induced by DC with the normal TLR4 allele. Based on these results, we concluded that TLR4 SNP does not influence cross-presentation of tumour antigen from irradiated tumour cells (Figure 5.13).

Albeit the *in vitro* comparative analysis of DC function from Asp299 and Asp299Gly carrying alleles was carried out from a relatively small number of donors, the results suggest that if there were differences to be detected (especially in cross-presentation experiments), a large number of donors would be needed. As we only had access to approximately 200 PCa patients' DNA with post-RT clinical data for 10 years or more, it was concluded that it is unlikely that a correlation analysis between TLR4 SNP and post-RT clinical outcome from these patients would be conclusive. Thus, unlike in the original plan, TLR4 SNP screening was not carried out from PCa patients.

DISCUSSION

The questions in this chapter were whether TLR4 plays a role in the crosspresentation of antigen from irradiated tumour cells and if the effect of TLR4 SNP in this process. In order to answer this, inhibition of TLR4 via its adaptor molecules MyD88 and TRIF as well as via two TLR4 ligands (HMGB1 and Hsp70) was carried out. SNP analysis was carried out on cells from healthy and patient donors in order to identify individuals with the Asp299Gly TLR4 SNP.

TLR4 phenotyping revealed that its surface expression is high on monocytes while there is little to no surface expression on DC. However, intracellular expression is high in both monocytes and DC. This confirms the results by Uronen-Hansson et al., (2004) who demonstrated that TLR4 is highly expressed intracellularly but not on the surface of DC while monocytes express TLR4 both on the surface and intracellularly. IL-4 seems to be the key cytokine that downregulates TLR4 (Uronen-Hansson et al., 2004, Mita et al., 2002).

The attempt to inhibit TLR4 with the A46 VIPER peptide failed as LPS stimulation of DC in the presence of VIPER did not inhibit TNF- α production but rather stimulated it in our experimental setting. The study that identified VIPER demonstrated that it could inhibit TLR4 mediated responses such as proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine production, specifically upon stimulation of PBMC, THP-1 cells, RAW264.7 and iBMDM with LPS (Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010). To our knowledge, VIPER has not been tested in human DC. Therefore, it is possible that VIPER is not able to inhibit TLR4 function in DC. Furthermore, Oda et al., (2011) provided evidence demonstrating that VIPER does not interact with Mal *in vitro* contradicting the findings by Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010 (Oda et al., 2011, Lysakova-Devine et al., 2010).

Therefore, we turned our attention to block TLR4 signalling via the adaptor proteins MyD88 and TRIF. In the presence of both signalling adaptors, the immune response to ligands is determined by adaptor interplay, which can be synergistic or redundant. For example, synergistic adaptor interplay during LPS stimulation causes cytokine production to be reduced as long as one adaptor is absent. However, if there is

redundant adaptor interplay, cytokine production in the WT and single KOs is comparable and differences can only be observed in the double KOs. This may allow efficient mechanisms to achieve full responses regardless of the route that the signal travels (Meissner et al., 2013). During the cross-presentation experiments, inhibition of either pathway on its own did not affect T cell responses to antigen from irradiated cells even though the concentrations used had significantly reduced the outcome of LPS stimulation. T cell responses and cross-presentation of antigen was only reduced when both MyD88 and TRIF were inhibited at the same time. This indicates that dual signalling is required for efficient cross-presentation when using irradiated tumour cells and the output is likely to be determined by redundant adaptor interplay between MyD88 and TRIF.

Inhibition of HMGB1 revealed that while HMGB1 expressed or released by irradiated cells is unlikely to activate DC, it does however contribute to the enhanced cross-presentation of irradiated DU145 cells. Although other studies have demonstrated the ability of HMGB1 to activate DC, their studies used HMGB1 released by immune cell such as monocytes and macrophages and not from dying cells (Messmer et al., 2004, Dumitriu et al., 2006). Inhibition of the HMGB1 signalling pathway only inhibited cross-presentation from irradiated and not nonirradiated DU145 cells. This demonstrates that a TLR ligand released or highly expressed by irradiated cells is contributing to the enhanced cross-presentation of 5T4. However, because cross-presentation from irradiated cells was only partially reduced by HMGB1 inhibition and T cell responses were still significantly higher compared to that with non-irradiated cells, it suggests that other receptors or signalling pathways are also contributing to the enhanced cross-presentation. The function of HMGB1 in antigen cross-presentation but not DC activation is in agreement with the work by Apetoh et al (2007b), who found that HMGB1 was not required for the maturation of DC. Rather, their results suggested that ligation of TLR4 and HMGB1 prevented the accelerated degradation of the phagocytic cargo within the DC, thereby allowing for optimum cross presentation. Therefore, one of the conclusions from the experiments presented in this chapter is that TLR4 activity and HMGB1 from irradiated tumour cells contribute to enhanced antigen crosspresentation.

Hsp70 has been demonstrated to have dual roles as it is 1) a danger signal with the ability to induce DC maturation and 2) a peptide chaperone that protects peptides from degradation along the MHC class I pathway (Joly et al., 2010, Binder et al., 2012). Inhibition of Hsp70 with VER 155008 impaired DC activation by irradiated tumour cells and completely abrogated antigen cross-presentation. In responses to stress, Hsp70 can be translocated or mobilized to the plasma membrane for cell surface expression or even be released into the extracellular environment. In the previous chapter, it was demonstrated that supernatant alone from irradiated tumour cells was inadequate to activate DC maturation and irradiated tumours cells were required for the upregulation of CD86 on DC. Therefore, we can speculate that the cell surface membrane bound Hsp70 may play a role in DC maturation observed in our experimental setting and this function is inhibited by VER 155008. It has been shown that TLR4 either on its own or in combination with TLR2 is required for DC activation (Vabulas et al., 2002, Asea et al., 2002, Palliser et al., 2004). Since, according to our data, TLR4 contributes to the enhanced cross-presentation of irradiated tumour cells, it is possible that Hsp70 binds to TLR4 for the upregulation of CD86. However, Hsp70 also utilizes other receptors on DC such as CD91 to activate NF-KB and p38 MAPK for the release of a number of cytokines (Pawaria and Binder, 2011). The chemokine and cytokine profile observed in the previous chapter after DC stimulation with irradiated DU145 cells is similar to those activated via CD91 (published by Pawaria and Binder, (2011)), i.e. possess high CXCL10 and IL-6 expression. Hence, the possible contribution of other receptors beside TLR4 in association with Hsp70 cannot be ignored.

Due to the inherent chaperone activity of HSPs, Hsp70 can potently bind intracellular peptides, including peptides from tumour cells and "piggyback" them outside the cells. The initial interaction of APC with Hsp70 is mediated through binding to cell surface receptors like CD91, TLR4/TLR2, as well as LOX-1 (Delneste et al., 2002). Following binding, the HSP with the chaperoned peptide is internalized into endosomal vesicles. While HSP90 facilitates the translocation of antigen from the endosomal vesicles into the cytosol, Hsp70 facilitates the transportation of antigen to the proteasome for antigen degradation. Antigen-derived peptides generated by the proteasome enter the same endosome from which it dislocates to the cytosol through TAP molecules and associate with MHC I molecules for presentation to CD8⁺ T cells

(Kato et al., 2012). Treating DU145 cells with VER 155008 could have inhibited the peptide-chaperoning ability of Hsp70, resulting in the failure to transport the antigen for presentation to $CD8^+$ T cells.

Since we attained data showing the influence of TLR4 activity in our crosspresentation experiments, the effect of the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP was investigated. Our data demonstrated that the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP does not influence TLR4 expression and DC function including cross-presentation of tumour antigen from irradiated tumour cells. This contradicts the findings by Apetoh et al., 2007 where cross-presentation of antigen from oxaliplatin treated cells was impaired in DC with the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP and this was HMGB1 dependent. Firstly, the important thing to note is that cell death in our study was induced by IR and not oxaliplatin treatment. It is possible that these treatments induce a different type of cell death, which may activate different danger signals. Secondly, TLR4 signalling only partially affected cross-presentation of the irradiated DU145 cells and as mentioned above, TLR4 may work in combination with other receptors. Therefore, other receptors, such as RAGE for HMGB1, CD91 or LOX-1 for Hsp70 as well as TLR2 for both HMGB1 and Hsp70 may compensate for the loss of function in TLR4 signalling caused by the Asp299Gly SNP. Lastly, numerous other studies have found no association between the Asp299Gly SNP and cellular immune responses (Allen et al., 2003, Read et al., 2001, Feterowski et al., 2003, van der Graaf et al., 2005b).

In conclusion, dual signalling via MyD88 and TRIF partially contributes to enhanced cross-presentation of antigens from irradiated DU145 cells through potential binding of TLR4 with HMGB1 and/or Hsp70. However, the TLR4 Asp299Gly SNP does not affect T cell responses in our cross-presentation model.

General Discussion

Antigen cross-presentation has been indicated as an important mechanism for generating CD8⁺ T cell responses against solid tumours, which do not migrate into lymph nodes or viruses, which do not infect professional antigen presenting cells. Our study addresses the question of antigen cross-presentation from irradiated human tumour cells, as the abscopal effect observed in patients undergoing radiation therapy has been demonstrated to be immune mediated and is likely to involve antigen cross-presentation from irradiated tumour cells (Golden et al., 2013, Postow et al., 2012). Our experiments employ a tumour-specific T cell line as a detector of cross-presentation thus, we demonstrate the key mechanism of antigen cross-presentation but not that of cross-priming. There is a paucity of information about the mechanism of radiation-mediated antigen cross-presentation, and thus there has been a need for mechanistic studies in order to better understand how cancer radiation therapy could be made more successful.

The radiation dose (12 Gy) used in these experiments reflects the continuously evolving field of radiation therapy in prostate cancer and other malignancies. High dose brachytherapy and intensity modulated radiotherapy offer fewer fractions with higher doses delivered more precisely to the cancer (Zaorsky et al., 2013). The effect of high dose (>2 Gy) radiation is complex as it results not only in different types of cell death but also in senescence and growth arrest. We observed cell cycle arrest at the G2/M phase, as reported by others (Janicke et al., 2001), and a gradual increase of cell death with time following radiation. However, in our model, the latter was predominantly of late apoptotic/necrotic type. The p53 gene is mutated in DU145 cells, which may impact on the radiation-mediated repair response and apoptosis (Lehmann et al., 2007). As p53 mutations are frequent in PCa (Ritter et al., 2002), our observations are likely to be representative of the physiological behaviour of the majority of tumour cells. However, hypoxia, which may occur in larger tumours, can increase tumour cell resistance to radiation (Marignol et al., 2008), with as yet unmapped immunological consequences. IR increases the expression of tumour antigens (Sharma et al., 2011). Therefore, it seems likely that the increased expression of 5T4 on DU145 cells in response to radiation provides DC with more

tumour antigen to process and present to T cells compared to that from non-irradiated cells.

IR induced the translocation of CRT, HMGB1 and Hsp70, which are potentially important contributors to immunogenic cell death. HMGB1 was also detected in the supernatant of irradiated DU145 cells. HMGB1 is a nuclear protein that signals tissue damage when released into the extracellular medium and thus works as a DAMP. Although extracellular HMGB1 can act as a chemoattractant for leukocytes and as a pro-inflammatory mediator, inhibition of HMGB1 function using Glycyrrhizin in our experimental setting did not inhibit DC activation. Recent studies have shown that the pro-inflammatory activity of HMGB1 depends on its redox state (Yang et al., 2012, Venereau et al., 2012).

HMGB1 contributed to the enhanced antitumor T cell responses upon crosspresentation of antigen from irradiated tumour cells. This is in agreement with the work by Apetoh et al (2007b). It has been suggested that HMGB1 is preventing the accelerated degradation of the phagocytic cargo within the DC, thereby allowing for optimum cross presentation (Apetoh et al., 2007b), although its exact contribution has not been elucidated.

Cell surface CRT is an "eat me" signal that mediates phagocytic uptake and immunogenicity of dying cells (Gardai et al., 2005, Raghavan et al., 2012). Obeid et al., (2007) found that surface exposure of CRT allowed irradiated dying tumour cells to be efficiently engulfed by DC thereby setting the stage for efficient presentation of cancer specific antigen to CD8⁺ T cells (Obeid et al., 2007a). A significant increase in surface CRT was observed after DU145 cells were treated with 12 Gy ionising radiation and uptake of the irradiated DU145 cells by DC was significantly enhanced compared to that of non-irradiated cells. Therefore, there is a possibility that the increased exposure of CRT on irradiated DU145 cells enhances cross-presentation of the 5T4 antigen by stimulating increased uptake of irradiated tumour cells.

The pathway by which surface CRT is exposed depends on the stage of cell death during which the exposure takes place. Depending on the cell death stage, one molecular pathway might exclusively execute the trafficking of surface CRT, or several signalling pathway might co-exist, and depending on the cell death inducer, one pathway might dominate. CRT exposure in some cases precedes PS exposure and the morphological signs of apoptosis. The study by Obeid et al., (2007) showed that while irradiation had no or little effect on PS at 1 or 4 h post treatment, respectively, CRT exposure was observed as early as 1 h after treatment, as detected by immunofluorescence and microscopy. This demonstrates that irradiation-mediated CRT exposure occurs at the pre-apoptotic stage. The translocation of this pre-apoptotic surface CRT depends on the ER to Golgi transport, PERK-governed proximal and a PI3K-mediated distal secretory pathway for its trafficking (Garg et al., 2012b).

However, for later stages of cell death, another suggested mechanism for cell surface exposure of CRT involves the association of cytoplasmic CRT with PS on the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, thereby allowing CRT to become exposed during apoptosis (Raghavan et al., 2012). Given that irradiation of DU145 with 12 Gy in our experimental setting, which included a 72 h incubation, predominantly resulted in late apoptotic/necrotic cell death, it likely that the association of cytoplasmic CRT with PS might be the main mechanism of CRT exposure in the treated cells.

Significant translocation of Hsp70 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm was observed in the DU145 cells treated with 12 Gy. Hsp70 is a stress-inducible protein and therefore the translocation observed is a stress response to irradiation. This nuclearto-cytoplasmic translocation of Hsp70 has also been observed in response to heat shock treatment (Martin et al., 1993). Exogenous stress may also change the environment within the cytosol (e.g. induction of oxidative stress), which may cause Hsp70 to adopt a more structured conformation favourable to association with peptides. The gain of the Hsp70 secondary structure allows better accessibility of peptides to the peptide-binding pocket and therefore makes Hsp70 a more effective chaperone. The secondary structure was not observed in a resting cytosol (Callahan et al., 2002). As the damaged cells succumb to cell death, it is assumed that cytosolic Hsp70 could be transported to the cell surface in concert with other proteins possessing transmembrane domains that fulfil shuttle functions. Hsp70 has been shown to be externalised upon binding to PS upon tumour cell death (Schilling et al., 2009). Significantly more Hsp70 was detected on the surface irradiated DU145 cells compared to the non-irradiated cells. Hsp70 expressed on the cell surface serves as a danger signal and interacts in different ways with the innate immune system. Firstly, they can act as a cytokine and induce DC activation. Secondly, due to their chaperone function, Hsp70 proteins can act as carriers that will deliver peptides to DC (Murshid et al., 2011).

Upon uptake of irradiated DU145 cells, DC were activated to express significantly higher levels of CD86 and HLA-DR as well as release more pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-12 and IL-6) and chemokines (CXCL10) compared to the non-irradiated cells. The co-stimulatory molecules expressed on activated but not resting DC are needed to bind to the cell surface receptor CD28 on T cells for effective T cell activation. The secretion of mediators such as IL-12 aid in creating a pro-inflammatory environment required for the elicitation of antitumor T cell responses. Inhibition of Hsp70 function using VER 155008 inhibited the upregulation of CD86 on DC upon uptake of irradiated DU145 cells. This suggests that Hsp70 from irradiated tumour cells contributes to the activation of DC. Membrane-bound Hsp70 has been shown to activate macrophages in another study (Vega et al., 2008).

An investigation into the ability of irradiated tumour cells to activate DC confirmed that cell associated factors were responsible for DC activation because the supernatant alone from irradiated DU145 failed to upregulate CD86 on DC. Surface-bound immunogenic signals translocated as a result of IR in our system were CRT and Hsp70. While some work using CRT isolated from murine cells (Pawaria and Binder, 2011, Hong et al., 2010) or transfected HEK293 human cells have shown that CRT can activate APC, no studies have demonstrated the ability of surface-bound CRT to stimulate DC.

It is also suggested that in a cross-presentation setting, Hsp70 bound to peptides facilitates the transportation of antigen to the proteasome for antigen degradation. VER 155008 diminished the ability of DC to cross-present the 5T4 antigen highlighting the importance of Hsp70 in antigen cross-presentation. Given that inhibition of the MyD88 and TRIF pathway partially reduced the cross-presentation of antigens from irradiated DU145 cells, it can be concluded that TLRs are involved in our cross-presentation setting. TLR4 might be binding to HMGB1 and/or Hsp70

being released by the irradiated DU145 cells. However, because the effects of inhibition with the MyD88 and TRIF inhibitors were only partial, other receptors must also be involved. Since the HSPs in our system seem to have the most impact, we have examined the expression of potential HSP receptors on monocyte-derived DC used in our cross-presentation experiments. CD91, SREC-I and TLR2 are present on monocyte-derived DC and therefore might be working in an additive or synergistic manner with TLR4 to initiate DC activation and enhance antigen cross-presentation. Due to the lack of time, this part of the work has not been completed before submission of the thesis.

Furthermore, I studied the consequences of the Asp299Gly SNP of TLR4, which is associated with structural changes of the TLR4 extracellular domain, with a potential impact on LPS binding (Ohto et al., 2012). LPS-induced cytokine production has not been affected by this TLR4 SNP even when present in a homozygous form (van der Graaf et al., 2005a). However, Asp299Gly SNP was demonstrated to have a detrimental effect on antigen cross-presentation, similar to that observed in TLR4 -/- knockout mice (Apetoh et al., 2007b). While our experiments confirmed the lack of LPS-induced cytokine production effect by Asp299Gly SNP in DC, we observed no effect on antigen cross-presentation. Our donors were heterozygous for the SNP allele thus functionally not comparable to the TLR4-/- mice. However, the discrepancy of the human DC results with that observed by others (Apetoh et al., 2007b) calls for caution in generalizing antigen cross-presentation data regardless of the model they were obtained in.

Taken together, we have observed that ionising radiation induces immunologically relevant changes in DU145 cells. Upregulation of the tumour-associated antigen in question and radiation induced CRT and PS exposure are likely to work collectively to stimulate DC to take up dying/stressed DU145 cells and process them via the cytosolic cross-presentation pathway. Cytokine and chemokine production by DC indicates how radiation can switch the immunosuppressive tumor milieu to a proimmune environment. Surface Hsp70 is also required for DC activation as well as for aiding antigen processing and/or presentation. My work has some unfinished elements, due to time and funds coming to an end but it also raises some important questions, which may provide projects for future students. As Hsp70 and other HSP chaperones have been used successfully to immunise mice to a range of tumour types and Hsp70 and Grp94 are undergoing clinical trials (Murshid et al., 2011), it would be useful to have more information about their role in combination with RT. As an example, the uptake and signalling mechanism of Hsp70 could be further studied by blocking or silencing the receptors reported to be used by Hsp70. Other future work could investigate the effect of stromal cells in the cross-presentation model. Given that solid tumours are complex tissues with a local microenvironment made up of stromal and myeloid-derived cells that support growth and progression of transformed cells (Spary et al., 2014), multicomponent conventional or tumour spheroid (MCTS) cultures should be used to assess if they are also able to generate immune responses. The model established as described in this thesis would be appropriate to study these and further questions about tumour antigen cross-presentation.

References

- Aguilera, R., Saffie, C., Tittarelli, A., Gonzalez, F. E., Ramirez, M., Reyes, D., Pereda, C., Hevia, D., et al. 2011. Heat-Shock Induction of Tumor-Derived Danger Signals Mediates Rapid Monocyte Differentiation into Clinically Effective Dendritic Cells. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 17, 2474-2483.
- Ahrens, S., Zelenay, S., Sancho, D., Hanc, P., Kjaer, S., Feest, C., Fletcher, G., Durkin, C., et al. 2012. F-Actin Is an Evolutionarily Conserved Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern Recognized by DNGR-1, a Receptor for Dead Cells. *Immunity*, 36, 635-645.
- Al-Taei, S., Salimu, J., Lester, J. F., Linnane, S., Goonewardena, M., Harrop, R., Mason, M. D. & Tabi, Z. 2012. Overexpression and potential targeting of the oncofoetal antigen 5T4 in malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Lung cancer* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 77, 312-318.
- Albert, M. & Joubert, P.-E. 2012. Antigen cross-priming of cell-associated proteins is enhanced by macroautophagy within the antigen donor cell. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 3.
- Albert, M. L., Sauter, B. & Bhardwaj, N. 1998. Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I-restricted CTLs. *Nature*, 392, 86-89.
- Allen, A., Obaro, S., Bojang, K., Awomoyi, A. A., Greenwood, B. M., Whittle, H., Sirugo, G. & Newport, M. J. 2003. Variation in toll-like receptor 4 and susceptibility to group a meningococcal meningitis in Gambian children. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 22, 1018-1019.
- Amato, R. J. & Stepankiw, M. 2012. Clinical efficacy of TroVax in the treatment of progressive castration-resistant prostate cancer *Clinical Medicine Insights: Oncology*, 6, 67-73.
- Apel, A., Herr, I., Schwarz, H., Rodemann, H. P. & Mayer, A. 2008. Blocked Autophagy Sensitizes Resistant Carcinoma Cells to Radiation Therapy. *Cancer Research*, 68, 1485-1494.
- Apetoh, L., Ghiringhelli, F., Tesniere, A., Criollo, A., Ortiz, C., Lidereau, R., Mariette, C., Chaput, N., et al. 2007a. The interaction between HMGB1 and TLR4 dictates the outcome of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Immunology Reviews*, 220, 47 - 59.
- Apetoh, L., Ghiringhelli, F., Tesniere, A., Obeid, M., Ortiz, C., Criollo, A., Mignot, G., Maiuri, M. C., et al. 2007b. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nature Medicine*, 13, 1050 - 1059.

- Aquilina, G., Crescenzi, M. & Bignami, M. 1999. Mismatch repair, G2/M cell cycle arrest and lethality after DNA damage. *Carcinogenesis*, 20, 2317-2326.
- Arbour, N. C., Lorenz, E., Schutte, B. C., Zabner, J., Kline, J. N., Jones, M., Frees, K., Watt, J. L., et al. 2000. TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. *Nature Genetics*, 25, 187 - 191.
- Arens, R. & Schoenberger, S. P. 2010. Plasticity in programming of effector and memory CD8⁺ T-cell formation. *Immunological Reviews*, 235, 190-205.
- Arrode, G., Boccaccio, C., Lule, J., Allart, S., Moinard, N., Abastado, J.-P., Alam, A. & Davrinche, C. 2000. Incoming Human Cytomegalovirus pp65 (UL83) Contained in Apoptotic Infected Fibroblasts Is Cross-Presented to CD8⁺ T Cells by Dendritic Cells. *Journal of Virology*, 74, 10018-10024.
- Aruga, A., Aruga, E., Tanigawa, K., Bishop, D. K., Sondak, V. K. & Chang, A. E. 1997. Type 1 versus type 2 cytokine release by Vbeta T cell subpopulations determines in vivo antitumor reactivity: IL-10 mediates a suppressive role. *The Journal of Immunology*, 159, 664-73.
- Asea, A., Rehli, M., Kabingu, E., Boch, J. A., Bare, O., Auron, P. E., Stevenson, M. A. & Calderwood, S. K. 2002. Novel Signal Transduction Pathway Utilized by Extracellular Hsp70: Role of Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 15028-15034.
- Bachem, A., Guttler, S., Hartung, E., Ebstein, F., Schaefer, M., Tannert, A., Salama, A., Movassaghi, K., et al. 2010. Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c⁺CD141⁺ cells as homologues of mouse CD8⁺ dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 207, 1273-1281.
- Bai, X.-F., Liu, J., Li, O., Zheng, P. & Liu, Y. 2003. Antigenic drift as a mechanism for tumor evasion of destruction by cytolytic T lymphocytes. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 111, 1487-1496.
- Baier, P. K., Wimmenauer, S., Hirsch, T., V. Specht, B. U., V. Kleist, S., Keller, H. & Farthmann, E. H. 1998. Analysis of the T Cell Receptor Variability of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Colorectal Carcinomas. *Tumor Biology*, 19, 205-212.
- Balkwill, F., Charles, K. A. & Mantovani, A. 2005. Smoldering and polarized inflammation in the initiation and promotion of malignant disease. *Cancer Cell*, 7, 211-217.
- Balkwill, F. & Mantovani, A. 2001. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *The Lancet*, 357, 539-545.
- Banchereau, J., Briere, F., Caux, C., Davoust, J., Lebecque, S., Liu, Y.-J., Pulendran, B. & Palucka, K. 2000. Immunobiology of Dendritic Cells. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 18, 767-811.

- Barrio, M. M., Abes, R., Colombo, M., Pizzurro, G., Boix, C., Roberti, M. P., Gelize, E., Rodriguez-Zubieta, M., et al. 2012. Human Macrophages and Dendritic Cells Can Equally Present MART-1 Antigen to CD8+ T Cells after Phagocytosis of Gamma-Irradiated Melanoma Cells. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e40311.
- Basu, S., Binder, R. J., Suto, R., Anderson, K. M. & Srivastava, P. K. 2000. Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-κB pathway. *International Immunology*, 12, 1539-1546.
- Bellil, Y. & Edelman, M. 2006. Bronchogenic carcinoma in solid organ transplant recipients. *Current Treatment Options in Oncology*, 7, 77-81.
- Bendz, H., Ruhland, S. C., Pandya, M. J., Hainzl, O., Riegelsberger, S., Braã¼chle, C., Mayer, M. P., Buchner, J., et al. 2007. Human Heat Shock Protein 70 Enhances Tumor Antigen Presentation through Complex Formation and Intracellular Antigen Delivery without Innate Immune Signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282, 31688-31702.
- Bergmann, C., Bachmann, H., Bankfalvi, A., Lotfi, R., Putter, C., Wild, C., Schuler, P., Greve, J., et al. 2011. Toll-like receptor 4 single-nucleotide polymorphisms Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 9, 139.
- Binder, R. J., Kelly, J. B., Vatner, R. E. & Srivastava, P. K. 2007. Specific Immunogenicity of Heat Shock Protein gp96 Derives from Chaperoned Antigenic Peptides and Not from Contaminating Proteins. *The Journal of Immunology*, 179, 7254-7261.
- Binder, R. J., Zhou, Y. J., Messmer, M. N. & Pawaria, S. 2012. CD91-Dependent Modulation of Immune Responses by Heat Shock Proteins: A Role in Autoimmunity. *Autoimmune Diseases*, 2012, 11.
- Birkeland, S. A., Storm, H. H., Lamm, L. U., Barlow, L., Blohmé, I., Forsberg, B., Eklund, B., Fjeldborg, O., et al. 1995. Cancer risk after renal transplantation in the nordic countries, 1964–1986. *International Journal of Cancer*, 60, 183-189.
- Blattman, J. N., Antia, R., Sourdive, D. J. D., Wang, X., Kaech, S. M., Murali-Krishna, K., Altman, J. D. & Ahmed, R. 2002. Estimating the Precursor Frequency of Naive Antigen-specific CD8 T Cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 195, 657-664.
- Blum, J. S., Wearsch, P. A. & Cresswell, P. 2013. Pathways of Antigen Processing. Annual Review of Immunology, 31, 443-473.
- Boshoff, C. & Weiss, R. 2002. Aids-related malignancies. *Nature Review Cancer*, 2, 373-382.
- Bousso, P. & Robey, E. 2003. Dynamics of CD8⁺ T cell priming by dendritic cells in intact lymph nodes. *Nature Immunology*, 4, 579-585.

- Breckpot, K. & Escors, D. 2009. Dendritic Cells for Active Anti-Cancer Immunotherapy: Targeting Activation Pathways Through Genetic Modification. *Endocrine, Metabolic and Immune Disorders Drug Targets*, 9, 328-343.
- Brown, J. H., Jardetzky, T. S., Gorga, J. C., Stern, L. J., Urban, R. G., Strominger, J. L. & Wiley, D. C. 1993. Three-dimensional structure of the human class II histocompatibility antigen HLA-DR1. *Nature*, 364, 33-39.
- Buckwalter, M. R. & Srivastava, P. K. 2013. Mechanism of dichotomy between CD8⁺ responses elicited by apoptotic and necrotic cells. *Cancer Immunity*, 13, 2-15.
- Burnet, F. M. 1970. The concept of immunological surveillance. *Progress in* experimental tumor research, 13, 1-27.
- Burnette, B. C., Liang, H., Lee, Y., Chlewicki, L., Khodarev, N. N., Weichselbaum, R. R., Fu, Y.-X. & Auh, S. L. 2011. The Efficacy of Radiotherapy Relies upon Induction of Type I Interferon-Dependent Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *Cancer Research*, 71, 2488-2496.
- Callahan, M. K., Chaillot, D., Jacquin, C., Clark, P. R. & Menoret, A. 2002. Differential Acquisition of Antigenic Peptides by Hsp70 and Hsc70 under Oxidative Conditions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 33604-33609.
- Calvano, J. E., Bowers, D. J., Coyle, S. M., Macor, M., Reddell, M. T., Kumar, A., Calvano, S. E. & Lowry, S. F. 2006. Response to systemic endotoxemia among humans bearing polymorphisms of the Toll-like receptor 4 (hTLR4). *Clinical Immunology*, 121, 186-190.
- Calzascia, T., Pellegrini, M., Hall, H., Xe, K., Sabbagh, L., Ono, N., Elford, A. R., Mak, T. W., et al. 2007. TNF-α is critical for antitumor but not antiviral T cell immunity in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117, 3833-3845.
- Cancer Research Uk. 2013. Prostate cancer Key Facts. Available: <u>http://publications.cancerresearchuk.org/downloads/products/CF_KF_PROS</u> <u>TATE.pdf</u> [Accessed 2013].
- Carsberg, C. J., Myers, K. A. & Stern, P. L. 1996. Metastasis-associated 5T4 antigen disrupts cell-cell contacts and induces cellular motility in epithelial cells. *International Journal of Cancer*, 68, 84-92.
- Chakraborty, M., Abrams, S. I., Camphausen, K., Liu, K., Scott, T., Coleman, C. N. & Hodge, J. W. 2003. Irradiation of Tumor Cells Up-Regulates Fas and Enhances CTL Lytic Activity and CTL Adoptive Immunotherapy. *The Journal of Immunology*, 170, 6338-6347.
- Challapalli, A., Jones, E., Harvey, C., Hellawell, G. O. & Mangar, S. A. 2012. High dose rate prostate brachytherapy: an overview of the rationale, experience and emerging applications in the treatment of prostate cancer. *British Journal of Radiology*, 85, S18-S27.

- Chan, V. S.-F., Nie, Y.-J., Shen, N., Yan, S., Mok, M.-Y. & Lau, C.-S. 2012. Distinct roles of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 11, 890-897.
- Chaturvedi, A. K., Pfeiffer, R. M., Chang, L., Goedert, J., Biggar, R. J. & Engels, E. A. 2007. Elevated risk of lung cancer among people with AIDS. *AIDS*, 21, 207-213.
- Chen, T., Guo, J., Han, C., Yang, M. & Cao, X. 2009. Heat Shock Protein 70, Released from Heat-Stressed Tumor Cells, Initiates Antitumor Immunity by Inducing Tumor Cell Chemokine Production and Activating Dendritic Cells via TLR4 Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, 182, 1449-1459.
- Chen, Y. S., Song, H. X., Lu, Y., Li, X., Chen, T., Zhang, Y., Xue, J. X., Liu, H., et al. 2011. Autophagy inhibition contributes to radiation sensitization of esophageal squamous carcinoma cells. *Diseases of the Esophagus*, 24, 437-443.
- Chiang, C. L.-L., Hagemann, A. R., Leskowitz, R., Mick, R., Garrabrant, T., Czerniecki, B. J., Kandalaft, L. E., Powell, D. J., Jr., et al. 2011. Day-4 Myeloid Dendritic Cells Pulsed with Whole Tumor Lysate Are Highly Immunogenic and Elicit Potent Anti-Tumor Responses. *PLoS ONE*, 6, e28732.
- Chiba, S., Baghdadi, M., Akiba, H., Yoshiyama, H., Kinoshita, I., Dosaka-Akita, H., Fujioka, Y., Ohba, Y., et al. 2012. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. *Nature Immulogy*, 13, 832-842.
- Clague M.J 1998. Molecular aspects of the endocytic pathway. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 336, 271-282.
- Clark, W. H., Elder, D. E., Guerry, D., Braitman, L. E., Trock, B. J., Schultz, D., Synnestvedt, M. & Halpern, A. C. 1989. Model Predicting Survival in Stage I Melanoma Based on Tumor Progression. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 81, 1893-1904.
- Clemente, C. G., Mihm, M. C., Bufalino, R., Zurrida, S., Collini, P. & Cascinelli, N. 1996. Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in the vertical growth phase of primary cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer*, 77, 1303-1310.
- Coca, S., Perez-Piqueras, J., Martinez, D., Colmenarejo, A., Saez, M. A., Vallejo, C., Martos, J. A. & Moreno, M. 1997. The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 79, 2320-2328.
- Corinti, S., Albanesi, C., La Sala, A., Pastore, S. & Girolomoni, G. 2001. Regulatory Activity of Autocrine IL-10 on Dendritic Cell Functions. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166, 4312-4318.
- Craiu, A., Gaczynska, M., Akopian, T., Gramm, C. F., Fenteany, G., Goldberg, A. L.
 & Rock, K. L. 1997. Lactacystin and clasto-Lactacystin β-Lactone Modify

Multiple Proteasome β -Subunits and Inhibit Intracellular Protein Degradation and Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Antigen Presentation. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 272, 13437-13445.

- Cramer, D., Vitonis, A., Pinheiro, S., Mckolanis, J., Fichorova, R., Brown, K., Hatchette, T. & Finn, O. 2010. Mumps and ovarian cancer: modern interpretation of an historic association. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 21, 1193-1201.
- Criscitiello, C. 2012. Tumor-Associated Antigens in Breast Cancer. Breast Care, 7, 262-266.
- De Visser, K. E., Eichten, A. & Coussens, L. M. 2006. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 6, 24-37.
- Delneste, Y., Magistrelli, G., Gauchat, J.-F., Haeuw, J.-F., Aubry, J.-P., Nakamura, K., Kawakami-Honda, N., Goetsch, L., et al. 2002. Involvement of LOX-1 in Dendritic Cell-Mediated Antigen Cross-Presentation. *Immunity*, 17, 353-362.
- Demaria, S., Ng, B., Devitt, M. L., Babb, J. S., Kawashima, N., Liebes, L. & Formenti, S. C. 2004. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. *International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics*, 58, 862-870.
- Derossi, D., Joliot, A. H., Chassaing, G. & Prochiantz, A. 1994. The third helix of the Antennapedia homeodomain translocates through biological membranes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 10444-50.
- Dewan, M. Z., Galloway, A. E., Kawashima, N., Dewyngaert, J. K., Babb, J. S., Formenti, S. C. & Demaria, S. 2009. Fractionated but Not Single-Dose Radiotherapy Induces an Immune-Mediated Abscopal Effect when Combined with Anti–CTLA-4 Antibody. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 15, 5379-5388.
- Dhodapkar, M. V., Krasovsky, J., Osman, K. & Geller, M. D. 2003. Vigorous Premalignancy-specific Effector T Cell Response in the Bone Marrow of Patients with Monoclonal Gammopathy. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 198, 1753-1757.
- Dighe, A. S., Richards, E., Old, L. J. & Schreiber, R. D. 1994. Enhanced in vivo growth and resistance to rejection of tumor cells expressing dominant negative IFNγ receptors. *Immunity*, 1, 447-456.
- Dipaola, R. S. 2002. To Arrest or Not To G2-M Cell-Cycle Arrest : Commentary re: A. K. Tyagi et al., Silibinin Strongly Synergizes Human Prostate Carcinoma DU145 Cells to Doxorubicin-induced Growth Inhibition, G2-M Arrest, and Apoptosis. . *Clinical Cancer Research*, 8, 3311-3314.
- Doherty, P. C. & Zinkernagel, R. M. 1975. Enhanced immunological surveillance in mice heterozygous at the H-2 gene complex. *Nature*, 256, 50-52.

- Dolan, B. P., Gibbs, K. D. & Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2006. Dendritic Cells Cross-Dressed with Peptide MHC Class I Complexes Prime CD8+ T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 177, 6018-6024.
- Donnelly, O. G., Errington-Mais, F., Steele, L., Hadac, E., Jennings, V., Scott, K., Peach, H., Phillips, R. M., Bond, J., Pandha, H., Harrington, K., Vile, R., Russell, S., Selby, P. & Melcher, A. A. (2013) Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. *Gene Therapy*, 20, 7-15.
- Dong, H., Strome, S. E., Salomao, D. R., Tamura, H., Hirano, F., Flies, D. B., Roche, P. C., Lu, J., et al. 2002. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: A potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nature Medicine*, 8, 793-800.
- Douville, R. N., Lissitsyn, Y., Hirschfeld, A. F., Becker, A. B., Kozyrskyj, A. L., Liem, J., Bastien, N., Li, Y., et al. 2010. TLR4 Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile Polymorphisms: No Impact on Human Immune Responsiveness to LPS or Respiratory Syncytial Virus. *PLoS ONE*, 5, e12087.
- Dumitriu, I. E., Bianchi, M. E., Bacci, B., Manfredi, A. A. & Rovere-Querini, P. 2006. The secretion of HMGB1 is required for the migration of maturing dendritic cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 81, 84-91.
- Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., Ikeda, H., Old, L. J. & Schreiber, R. D. 2002. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nature Immulogy*, 3, 991-998.
- Ehrlich, P. 1909. Urber den jetzigen Stand der Karzinomforschung. Ned. Tijdschr. Geneeskd, 5 (Part 1), 273-290.
- Elliott, M. R., Chekeni, F. B., Trampont, P. C., Lazarowski, E. R., Kadl, A., Walk, S. F., Park, D., Woodson, R. I., et al. 2009. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature*, 461, 282-286.
- Erridge, C., Stewart, J. & Poxton, I. R. 2003. Monocytes Heterozygous for the Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile Mutations in the Toll-like Receptor 4 Gene Show No Deficit in Lipopolysaccharide Signalling. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 197, 1787-1791.
- Ferwerda, B., Mccall, M. B., Verheijen, K., Kullberg, B. J., Van Der Ven, A. J., Van Der Meer, J. W. & Netea, M. G. 2008. Functional consequences of toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms. *Molecular Medicine*, 14, 346 - 352.
- Feterowski, C., Emmanuilidis, K., Miethke, T., Gerauer, K., Rump, M., Ulm, K., Holzmann, B. & Weighardt, H. 2003. Effects of functional Toll-like receptor-4 mutations on the immune response to human and experimental sepsis. *Immunology*, 109, 426-431.
- Figueroa, L., Xiong, Y., Song, C., Piao, W., Vogel, S. N. & Medvedev, A. E. 2012. The Asp299Gly Polymorphism Alters TLR4 Signaling by Interfering with Recruitment of MyD88 and TRIF. *The Journal of Immunology*, 188, 4506-4515.

- Fonseca, C. & Dranoff, G. 2008. Capitalizing on the Immunogenicity of Dying Tumor Cells. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14, 1603-1608.
- Fonteneau, J.-F. O., Larsson, M., Somersan, S., Sanders, C., Munz, C., Kwok, W.
 W., Bhardwaj, N. & Jotereau, F. 2001. Generation of high quantities of viral and tumor-specific human CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell clones using peptide pulsed mature dendritic cells. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 258, 111-126.
- Fonteneau, J. F., Kavanagh, D. G., Lirvall, M., Sanders, C., Cover, T. L., Bhardwaj, N. & Larsson, M. 2003. Characterization of the MHC class I crosspresentation pathway for cell-associated antigens by human dendritic cells. *Blood*, 102, 4448-4455.
- Formenti, S. C. & Demaria, S. 2009. Systemic effects of local radiotherapy. *The Lancet Oncology*, 10, 718-726.
- Formenti, S. C. & Demaria, S. 2013. Combining Radiotherapy and Cancer Immunotherapy: A Paradigm Shift. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 105, 256-265.
- Franciszkiewicz, K., Boissonnas, A., Boutet, M., Combadiere, C. & Mami-Chouaib, F. 2012. Role of Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors in Shaping the Effector Phase of the Antitumor Immune Response. *Cancer Research*, 72, 6325-6332.
- Freeman, G. J., Casasnovas, J. M., Umetsu, D. T. & Dekruyff, R. H. 2010. TIM genes: a family of cell surface phosphatidylserine receptors that regulate innate and adaptive immunity. *Immunological Reviews*, 235, 172-189.
- Gabrilovich, D. I. & Nagaraj, S. 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 9, 162-174.
- Gaiotti, D., Chung, J., Iglesias, M., Nees, M., Baker, P. D., Evans, C. H. & Woodworth, C. D. 2000. Tumor necrosis factor-α promotes human papillomavirus (HPV) E6/E7 RNA expression and cyclin-dependent kinase activity in HPV-immortalized keratinocytes by a ras-dependent pathway. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 27, 97-109.
- Garcia-Lora, A., Algarra, I. & Garrido, F. 2003. MHC class I antigens, immune surveillance, and tumor immune escape. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 195, 346-355.
- Gardai, S. J., Mcphillips, K. A., Frasch, S. C., Janssen, W. J., Starefeldt, A., Murphy-Ullrich, J. E., Bratton, D. L., Oldenborg, P.-A., et al. 2005. Cell-Surface Calreticulin Initiates Clearance of Viable or Apoptotic Cells through trans-Activation of LRP on the Phagocyte. *Cell*, 123, 321-334.
- Garg, A., Krysko, D., Vandenabeele, P. & Agostinis, P. 2012a. Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. *Cancer Immunology*, *Immunotherapy*, 61, 215-221.

- Garg, A. D., Krysko, D. V., Verfaillie, T., Kaczmarek, A., Ferreira, G. B., Marysael, T., Rubio, N., Firczuk, M., et al. 2012b. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *The EMBO Journal*, 31, 1062-1079.
- Garg, A. D., Nowis, D., Golab, J., Vandenabeele, P., Krysko, D. V. & Agostinis, P. 2010. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: An emerging amalgamation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, 1805, 53-71.
- Garnett, C. T., Palena, C., Chakarborty, M., Tsang, K., Schlon, J. & Hogde, T. W. 2004. Sublethal Irradiation of Human Tumour Cells Modulates Phenotype Resulting in Enhanced Killing by Cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Cancer Research*, 64, 7985-7994.
- Germain, R. N. 1994. MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: Providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. *Cell*, 76, 287-299.
- Ghiringhelli, F., Apetoh, L., Tesniere, A., Aymeric, L., Ma, Y. T., Ortiz, C., Vermaelen, K., Panaretakis, T., et al. 2009. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1 beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nature Medicine*, 15, 1170-U99.
- Giodini, A. & Cresswell, P. 2008. Hsp90-mediated cytosolic refolding of exogenous proteins internalized by dendritic cells. *The EMBO Journal*, 27, 201-211.
- Glick, M., Price, D. A., Vuidepot, A.-L., Andersen, T. B., Hutchinson, S. L., Laugel, B., Sewell, A. K., Boulter, J. M., et al. 2002. Novel CD8⁺ T Cell Antagonists Based on α2-Microglobulin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 20840-20846.
- Golden, E., Pellicciotta, I., Demaria, S., Barcellos-Hoff, M. H. & Formenti, S. C. 2012. The Convergence of Radiation and Immunogenic Cell Death Signaling Pathways. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 2.
- Golden, E. B., Demaria, S., Schiff, P. B., Chachoua, A. & Formenti, S. C. 2013. An Abscopal Response to Radiation and Ipilimumab in a Patient with Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 1, 365-372.
- Green, Douglas r. 2011. The End and After: How Dying Cells Impact the Living Organism. *Immunity*, 35, 441-444.
- Guardino, A. E., Rajapaksa, R., Ong, K. H., Sheehan, K. & Levy, R. 2006. Production of myeloid dendritic cells (DC) pulsed with tumor-specific idiotype protein for vaccination of patients with multiple myeloma. *Cytotherapy*, 8, 277-289.
- Haliotis, T., Ball, J. K., Dexter, D. & Roder, J. C. 1985. Spontaneous and induced primary oncogenesis in natural killer (NK)-cell-deficient beige mutant mice. *International Journal of Cancer*, 35, 505-513.

- Hallahan, D. E., Spriggs, D. R., Beckett, M. A., Kufe, D. W. & Weichselbaum, R. R. 1989. Increased tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA after cellular exposure to ionizing radiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86, 10104-10107.
- Harshyne, L. A., Watkins, S. C., Gambotto, A. & Barratt-Boyes, S. M. 2001. Dendritic Cells Acquire Antigens from Live Cells for Cross-Presentation to CTL. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166, 3717-3723.
- Hinz, S., Trauzold, A., Boenicke, L., Sandberg, C., Beckmann, S. & et al. 2000. Bcl-XL protects pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells against CD95- and TRAILreceptor-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene*, 19, 5477-5486.
- Hodge, J. W., Sharp, H. J. & Gameiro, S. R. 2012. Abscopal regression of antigen disparate tumors by antigen cascade after systemic tumor vaccination in combination with local tumor radiation. *Cancer Biotherapy and Radiopharmaceuticals*, 27, 12-22.
- Hoffmann, P. R., Kench, J. A., Vondracek, A., Kruk, E., Daleke, D. L., Jordan, M., Marrack, P., Henson, P. M., et al. 2005. Interaction between Phosphatidylserine and the Phosphatidylserine Receptor Inhibits Immune Responses In Vivo. *The Journal of Immunology*, 174, 1393-1404.
- Hong, C., Qiu, X., Li, Y., Huang, Q., Zhong, Z., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Sun, L., et al. 2010. Functional Analysis of Recombinant Calreticulin Fragment 39-272: Implications for Immunobiological Activities of Calreticulin in Health and Disease. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185, 4561-4569.
- Hoskin, P. 2008. High dose rate brachytherapy for prostate cancer. *Cancer/Radiotherapie*, 12, 512-514.
- Houde, M., Bertholet, S., Gagnon, E., Brunet, S., Goyette, G., Laplante, A., Princiotta, M. F., Thibault, P., et al. 2003. Phagosomes are competent organelles for antigen cross-presentation. *Nature*, 425, 402-406.
- Huang, B., Pan, P.-Y., Li, Q., Sato, A. I., Levy, D. E., Bromberg, J., Divino, C. M. & Chen, S.-H. 2006. Gr-1+CD115+ Immature Myeloid Suppressor Cells Mediate the Development of Tumor-Induced T Regulatory Cells and T-Cell Anergy in Tumor-Bearing Host. *Cancer Research*, 66, 1123-1131.
- Hunt, D. F., Henderson, R. A., Shabanowitz, J., Sakaguchi, K., Michel, H., Sevilir, N., Cox, A. L., Appella, E., et al. 1992. Characterization of peptides bound to the class I MHC molecule HLA-A2.1 by mass spectrometry. *Science*, 255, 1261-1263.
- Imada, A., Shijubo, N., Kojima, H. & Abe, S. 2000. Mast cells correlate with angiogenesis and poor outcome in stage I lung adenocarcinoma. *European Respiratory Journal*, 15, 1087-1093.
- Ishigami, S., Natsugoe, S., Tokuda, K., Nakajo, A., Che, X., Iwashige, H., Aridome, K., Hokita, S., et al. 2000. Prognostic value of intratumoral natural killer cells in gastric carcinoma. *Cancer*, 88, 577-583.

- Itakura, E., Huang, R.-R., Wen, D.-R., Paul, E., Wunsch, P. H. & Cochran, A. J. 2011. IL-10 expression by primary tumor cells correlates with melanoma progression from radial to vertical growth phase and development of metastatic competence. *Modern Pathology*, 24, 801-809.
- Ito, H., Daido, S., Kanzawa, T., Kondo, S. & Kondo, Y. 2005. Radiation-induced autophagy is associated with LC3 and its inhibition sensitizes malignant glioma cells. *International Journal of Oncology*, 26, 1401-1410.
- Jäger, E., Nagata, Y., Gnjatic, S., Wada, H., Stockert, E., Karbach, J., Dunbar, P. R., Lee, S. Y., et al. 2000. Monitoring CD8 T cell responses to NY-ESO-1: Correlation of humoral and cellular immune responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 4760-4765.
- Jäger, E., Stockert, E., Zidianakis, Z., Chen, Y.-T., Karbach, J., Jäger, D., Arand, M., Ritter, G., et al. 1999. Humoral immune responses of cancer patients against "Cancer-Testis" antigen NY-ESO-1: Correlation with clinical events. *International Journal of Cancer*, 84, 506-510.
- Janicke, R. U., Engels, I. H., Dunkern, T., Kaina, B., Schulze-Osthoff, K. & Porter, A. G. 2001. Ionizing radiation but not anticancer drugs causes cell cycle arrest and failure to activate the mitochondrial death pathway in MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells. *Oncogene*, 20, 5043-53.
- Joly, A. L., Wettstein, G., Mignot, G., Ghiringhelli, F. & Garrido, C. 2010. Dual Role of Heat Shock Proteins as Regulators of Apoptosis and Innate Immunity. *Journal of Innate Immunity*, 2, 238-247.
- Kantoff, P. W., Higano, C. S., Shore, N. D., Berger, E. R., Small, E. J., Penson, D. F., Redfern, C. H., Ferrari, A. C., et al. 2010. Sipuleucel-T Immunotherapy for Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 363, 411-422.
- Kaplan, D. H., Shankaran, V., Dighe, A. S., Stockert, E., Aguet, M., Old, L. J. & Schreiber, R. D. 1998. Demonstration of an interferon γ-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95, 7556-7561.
- Karja, V., Aaltomaa, S., Lipponen, P., Isotalo, T., Talja, M. & Mokka, R. 2005. Tumour-infiltrating Lymphocytes: A Prognostic Factor of PSA-free Survival in Patients with Local Prostate Carcinoma Treated by Radical Prostatectomy. *Anticancer Research*, 25, 4435-4438.
- Karrison, T. G., Ferguson, D. J. & Meier, P. 1999. Dormancy of Mammary Carcinoma After Mastectomy. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 91, 80-85.
- Kataoka, T., Schroter, M., Hahne, M., Schneider, P., Irmler, M., Thome, M., Froelich, C. J. & Tschopp, J. R. 1998. FLIP Prevents Apoptosis Induced by Death Receptors But Not by Perforin/Granzyme B, Chemotherapeutic Drugs, and Gamma Irradiation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 161, 3936-3942.

- Kato, Y., Kajiwara, C., Ishige, I., Mizukami, S., Yamazaki, C., Eikawa, S., Kakimi, K. & Udono, H. 2012. HSP70 and HSP90 Differentially Regulate Translocation of Extracellular Antigen to the Cytosol for Cross-Presentation. *Autoimmune Diseases*, 2012, 10.
- Kaufman, H. L., Wang, W., Manola, J., Dipaola, R. S., Ko, Y.-J., Sweeney, C., Whiteside, T. L., Schlom, J., et al. 2004. Phase II Randomized Study of Vaccine Treatment of Advanced Prostate Cancer (E7897): A Trial of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22, 2122-2132.
- Kaye, J., Hsu, M.-L., Sauron, M.-E., Jameson, S. C., Gascoigne, N. R. J. & Hedrick, S. M. 1989. Selective development of CD4⁺ T cells in transgenic mice expressing a class II MHC-restricted antigen receptor. *Nature*, 341, 746-749.
- Kepp, O., Galluzzi, L., Martins, I., Schlemmer, F., Adjemian, S., Michaud, M., Sukkurwala, A., Menger, L., et al. 2011. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 30, 61-69.
- Kerkar, S. P., Goldszmid, R. S., Muranski, P., Chinnasamy, D., Yu, Z., Reger, R. N., Leonardi, A. J., Morgan, R. A., et al. 2011. IL-12 triggers a programmatic change in dysfunctional myeloid-derived cells within mouse tumors. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121, 4746-4757.
- Khoo, V. S. & Dearnaley, D. P. 2008. Question of Dose, Fractionation and Technique: Ingredients for Testing Hypofractionation in Prostate Cancer the CHHiP Trial. *Clinical Oncology*, 20, 12-14.
- Kiechl, S., Lorenz, E., Reindl, M., Wiedermann, C. J., Oberhollenzer, F., Bonora, E., Willeit, J. & Schwartz, D. A. 2002. Toll-like Receptor 4 Polymorphisms and Atherogenesis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347, 185-192.
- Kirk, G. D., Merlo, C., O'driscoll, P., Mehta, S. H., Galai, N., Vlahov, D., Samet, J. & Engels, E. A. 2007. HIV Infection Is Associated with an Increased Risk for Lung Cancer, Independent of Smoking. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 45, 103-110.
- Ko, A., Kanehisa, A., Martins, I., Senovilla, L., Chargari, C., Dugue, D., Marino, G., Kepp, O., et al. 2014. Autophagy inhibition radiosensitizes in vitro, yet reduces radioresponses in vivo due to deficient immunogenic signalling. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 21, 92-99.
- Kominsky, S., Johnson, H. M., Bryan, G., Tanabe, T., Hobeika, A. C., Subramaniam, P. S. & Torres, B. 1998. IFNgamma inhibition of cell growth in glioblastomas correlates with increased levels of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21WAF1/CIP1. *Oncogene*, 17, 2973-2979.
- Krelin, Y., Voronov, E., Dotan, S., Elkabets, M., Reich, E., Fogel, M., Huszar, M., Iwakura, Y., et al. 2007. Interleukin-1β Driven Inflammation Promotes the Development and Invasiveness of Chemical Carcinogen-Induced Tumors. *Cancer Research*, 67, 1062-1071.

- Kropshofer, H., Hämmerling, G. J. & Vogt, A. B. 1999. The impact of the nonclassical MHC proteins HLA-DM and HLA-DO on loading of MHC class II molecules. *Immunological Reviews*, 172, 267-278.
- Krysko, D. V., Garg, A. D., Kaczmarek, A., Krysko, O., Agostinis, P. & Vandenabeele, P. 2012. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 12, 860-875.
- Kutikhin, A. G. 2010. Impact of Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms on risk of cancer. *Human Immunology*, 72, 193-206.
- Lauber, K., Ernst, A., Orth, M., Herrmann, M. & Belka, C. 2012. Dying cell clearance and its impact on the outcome of tumor radiotherapy. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 2.
- Leek, R. D., Landers, R. J., Harris, A. L. & Lewis, C. E. 1999. Necrosis correlates with high vascular density and focal macrophage infiltration in invasive carcinoma of the breast. *British Journal of Cancer*, 79, 991-995.
- Leek, R. D., Lewis, C. E., Whitehouse, R., Greenall, M., Clarke, J. & Harris, A. L. 1996. Association of Macrophage Infiltration with Angiogenesis and Prognosis in Invasive Breast Carcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 56, 4625-4629.
- Lehmann, B. D., Mccubrey, J. A., Jefferson, H. S., Paine, M. S., Chappell, W. H. & Terrian, D. M. 2007. A dominant role for p53-dependent cellular senescence in radiosensitization of human prostate cancer cells. *Cell cycle*, *6*, 595-605.
- Lehmann, C., Zeis, M., Schmitz, N. & Uharek, L. 2000. Impaired binding of perform on the surface of tumor cells is a cause of target cell resistance against cytotoxic effector cells. *Blood*, 96, 594-600.
- Lemke, G. & Rothlin, C. V. 2008. Immunobiology of the TAM receptors. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8, 327-336.
- Li, H., Han, Y., Guo, Q., Zhang, M. & Cao, X. 2009a. Cancer-Expanded Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Induce Anergy of NK Cells through Membrane-Bound TGF-Î²1. *The Journal of Immunology*, 182, 240-249.
- Li, J.-H., Rosen, D., Sondel, P. & Berke, G. 2002. Immune privilege and FasL: two ways to inactivate effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes by FasL-expressing cells. *Immunology*, 105, 267-277.
- Li, Y., Wang, L., Yang, G., Hao, F., Urba, W. J. & Hu, H. 2008. Efficient Crosspresentation Depends on Autophagy in Tumor Cells. *Cancer Research*, 68, 6889-6895.
- Li, Y., Wang, L.-X., Pang, P., Twitty, C., Fox, B. A., Aung, S., Urba, W. J. & Hu, H.-M. 2009b. Cross-presentation of tumor associated antigens through tumorderived autophagosomes. *Autophagy*, 5, 576-577.
- Loiarro, M., Sette, C., Gallo, G., Ciacci, A., Fantò, N., Mastroianni, D., Carminati, P. & Ruggiero, V. 2005. Peptide-mediated interference of TIR domain

dimerization in MyD88 inhibits IL-1-dependent activation of NF-kB. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.

- Lorenz, E., Mira, J. P., Frees, K. L. & Schwartz, D. A. 2002. Relevance of mutations in the TLR4 receptor in patients with gram-negative septic shock. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 162, 1028 - 1032.
- Louie, L. G. & King M.C. (1991) A novel approach to establishing lymphoblastoid cell lines: Epstein Barr virus transformation of cryopreserved lymphocytes. *The American Society of Human Genetics*, 48, 637-638.
- Lutz, M. B. & Schuler, G. 2002. Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? *Trends in Immunology*, 23, 445-449.
- Lysakova-Devine, T., Keogh, B., Harrington, B., Nagpal, K., Halle, A., Golenbock, D. T., Monie, T. & Bowie, A. G. 2010. Viral inhibitory peptide of TLR4, a peptide derived from vaccinia protein A46, specifically inhibits TLR4 by directly targeting MyD88 adaptor-like and TRIF-related adaptor molecule. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185, 4261-4271.
- Madan, R. A., Arlen, P. M., Mohebtash, M., Hodge, J. W. & Gulley, J. L. 2009. Prostvac-VF: a vector-based vaccine targeting PSA in prostate cancer. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 18, 1001-1011.
- Madden, D. R., Gorga, J. C., Strominger, J. L. & Wiley, D. C. 1991. The structure of HLA-B27 reveals nonamer self-peptides bound in an extended conformation. *Nature*, 353, 321-325.
- Madden, D. R., Gorga, J. C., Strominger, J. L. & Wiley, D. C. 1992. The threedimensional structure of HLA-B27 at 2.1 A resolution suggests a general mechanism for tight peptide binding to MHC. *Cell*, 70, 1035-1048.
- Maeda, M., Watanabe, N., Okamoto, T. & Yoshiro Niitsu, N. T. 1994. Endogenous tumor necrosis factor functions as a resistant factor against adriamycin. *International Journal of Cancer*, 58, 376-379.
- Mant, A., Chinnery, F., Elliott, T. & Williams, A. P. 2012. The pathway of crosspresentation is influenced by the particle size of phagocytosed antigen. *Immunology*, 136, 163-175.
- Marignol, L., Coffey, M., Lawler, M. & Hollywood, D. 2008. Hypoxia in prostate cancer: a powerful shield against tumour destruction? *Cancer treatment reviews*, 34, 313-27.
- Martin, F., Requena, J. M., Martin, J., Alonso, C. & Lopez, M. C. 1993. Cytoplasmic-Nuclear Translocation of the HSP70 Protein during Environmental Stress in Trypanosoma cruzi. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 196, 1155-1162.
- Massey, A., Williamson, D., Browne, H., Murray, J., Dokurno, P., Shaw, T., Macias, A., Daniels, Z., et al. 2010. A novel, small molecule inhibitor of

Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90 inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 66, 535-545.

- Massey, A. J. 2010. ATPases as Drug Targets: Insights from Heat Shock Proteins 70 and 90. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 53, 7280-7286.
- Matheoud, D., Baey, C., Vimeux, L., Tempez, A., Valente, M., Louche, P., Le Bon, A. S., Hosmalin, A., et al. 2011. Dendritic Cells Crosspresent Antigens from Live B16 Cells More Efficiently than from Apoptotic Cells and Protect from Melanoma in a Therapeutic Model. *PLoS ONE*, 6, e19104.
- Matheoud, D., Perie, L., Hoeffel, G., Vimeux, L., Parent, I., Maranon, C., Bourdoncle, P., Renia, L., et al. 2010. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells from live cells induces protective immune responses in vivo. *Blood*, 115, 4412-4420.
- Mathew, R. M., Cohen, A. B., Galetta, S. L., Alavi, A. & Dalmau, J. 2006. Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration: Yo-expressing tumor revealed after a 5-year follow-up with FDG-PET. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 250, 153-155.
- Matsumura, S., Wang, B., Kawashima, N., Braunstein, S., Badura, M., Cameron, T. O., Babb, J. S., Schneider, R. J., et al. 2008. Radiation-Induced CXCL16 Release by Breast Cancer Cells Attracts Effector T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181, 3099-3107.
- Matzinger, P. 1994. Tolerance, Danger, and the Extended Family. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 12, 991-1045.
- Mcdonnell, A. M., Robinson, B. W. S. & Currie, A. J. 2010. Tumor Antigen Cross-Presentation and the Dendritic Cell: Where it All Begins? 10.1155/2010/539519. *Clinical and Developmental Immunology*, 2010.
- Meissner, F., Scheltema, R. A., Mollenkopf, H. & Mann, M. 2013. Direct Proteomic Quantification of the Secretome of Activated Immune Cells. *Science*, 6131, 475-478.
- Melief, C. J. M. 2008. Cancer Immunotherapy by Dendritic Cells. *Immunity*, 29, 372-383.
- Messmer, D., Yang, H., Telusma, G., Knoll, F., Li, J., Messmer, B., Tracey, K. J. & Chiorazzi, N. 2004. High Mobility Group Box Protein 1: An Endogenous Signal for Dendritic Cell Maturation and Th1 Polarization. *The Journal of Immunology*, 173, 307-313.
- Michaud, M. L., Martins, I., Sukkurwala, A. Q., Adjemian, S., Ma, Y., Pellegatti, P., Shen, S., Kepp, O., et al. 2011. Autophagy-Dependent Anticancer Immune Responses Induced by Chemotherapeutic Agents in Mice. *Science*, 334, 1573-1577.

- Mimura, K., Kono, K., Takahashi, A., Kawaguchi, Y. & Fujii, H. 2007. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits the function of human mature dendritic cells mediated by VEGF receptor-2. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 56, 761-770.
- Mita, Y., Dobashi, K., Endou, K., Kawata, T., Shimizu, Y., Nakazawa, T. & Mori, M. 2002. Toll-like receptor 4 surface expression on human monocytes and B cells is modulated by IL-2 and IL-4. *Immunology Letters*, 81, 71-75.
- Mittag, D., Proietto, A. I., Loudovaris, T., Mannering, S. I., Vremec, D., Shortman, K., Wu, L. & Harrison, L. C. 2011. Human Dendritic Cell Subsets from Spleen and Blood Are Similar in Phenotype and Function but Modified by Donor Health Status. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186, 6207-6217.
- Miyata, H., Doki, Y., Yamamoto, H., Kishi, K., Takemoto, H., Fujiwara, Y., Yasuda, T., Yano, M., et al. 2001. Overexpression of CDC25B Overrides Radiationinduced G2-M Arrest and Results in Increased Apoptosis in Esophageal Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 61, 3188-3193.
- Mizkami, A., Gotoh, A., Yamada, H., Keller, E. T. & Matsumoto, T. 2000. Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Represses Androgen Sensitivity In The LNCaP Prostate Cancer Cell Line. *The Journal of Urology*, 164, 800-805.
- Moehler, M. H., Zeidler, M., Wilsberg, V., Cornelis, J. J., Woelfel, T., Rommelaere, J., Galle, P. R. & Heike, M. 2005. Parvovirus H-1-induced tumor cell death enhances human immune response in vitro via increased phagocytosis, maturation, and cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Human gene therapy*, 16, 996-1005.
- Mollica, L., De Marchis, F., Spitaleri, A., Dallacosta, C., Pennacchini, D., Zamai, M., Agresti, A., Trisciuoglio, L., et al. 2007. Glycyrrhizin Binds to High-Mobility Group Box 1 Protein and Inhibits Its Cytokine Activities. *Chemistry* & biology, 14, 431-441.
- Morelli, A. E., Zahorchak, A. F., Larregina, A. T., Colvin, B. L., Logar, A. J., Takayama, T., Falo, L. D. & Thomson, A. W. 2001. Cytokine production by mouse myeloid dendritic cells in relation to differentiation and terminal maturation induced by lipopolysaccharide or CD40 ligation. *Blood*, 98, 1512-1523.
- Morris, M. J., Divgi, C. R., Pandit-Taskar, N., Batraki, M., Warren, N., Nacca, A., Smith-Jones, P., Schwartz, L., et al. 2005. Pilot Trial of Unlabeled and Indium-111-Labeled Anti-Prostate-Specific Membrane Antigen Antibody J591 for Castrate Metastatic Prostate Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 11, 7454-7461.
- Murshid, A., Gong, J., Stevenson, M. A. & Calderwood, S. K. 2011. Heat shock proteins and cancer vaccines: developments in the past decade and chaperoning in the decade to come. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 10, 1553-1568.

- Myron, K. H., Mcbride, M. A., Cherikh, W. S., Spain, P. C., Marks, W. H. & Roza, A. M. 2002. Transplant tumour registry: donor related malignancies. *Transplantation Journal*, 74, 358-362.
- Nagaraj, S., Gupta, K., Pisarev, V., Kinarsky, L., Sherman, S., Kang, L., Herber, D. L., Schneck, J., et al. 2007. Altered recognition of antigen is a mechanism of CD8⁺ T cell tolerance in cancer. *Nature Medicine*, 13, 828-835.
- Nakachi, K., Hayashi, T., Imai, K. & Kusunoki, Y. 2004. Perspectives on cancer immuno-epidemiology. *Cancer Science*, 95, 921-929.
- Neijssen, J., Herberts, C., Drijfhout, J. W., Reits, E., Janssen, L. & Neefjes, J. 2005. Cross-presentation by intercellular peptide transfer through gap junctions. *Nature*, 434, 83-88.
- Nesslinger, N. J., Sahota, R. A., Stone, B., Johnson, K., Chima, N., King, C., Rasmussen, D., Bishop, D., et al. 2007. Standard Treatments Induce Antigen-Specific Immune Responses in Prostate Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13, 1493-1502.
- Nielsen, M., Lund, O., Buus, S. R. & Lundegaard, C. 2010. MHC Class II epitope predictive algorithms. *Immunology*, 130, 319-328.
- Nierkens, S., Tel, J., Janssen, E. & Adema, G. J. 2013. Antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cell subsets: one general or all sergeants? *Trends in Immunology*, 34, 361-370.
- Norbury, C. C., Basta, S., Donohue, K. B., Tscharke, D. C., Princiotta, M. F., Berglund, P., Gibbs, J., Bennink, J. R., et al. 2004. CD8⁺ T Cell Cross-Priming via Transfer of Proteasome Substrates. *Science*, 304, 1318-1321.
- O'callaghan, C. A., Byford, M. F., Wyer, J. R., Willcox, B. E., Jakobsen, B. K., Mcmichael, A. J. & Bell, J. I. 1999. BirA Enzyme: Production and Application in the Study of Membrane Receptor-Ligand Interactions by Site-Specific Biotinylation. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 266, 9-15.
- Obeid, M., Panaretakis, T., Joza, N., Tufi, R., Tesniere, A., Van Endert, P., Zitvogel, L. & Kroemer, G. 2007a. Calreticulin exposure is required for the immunogenicity of [gamma]-irradiation and UVC light-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 14, 1848-1850.
- Obeid, M., Tesniere, A., Ghiringhelli, F., Fimia, G. M., Apetoh, L., Perfettini, J.-L., Castedo, M., Mignot, G., et al. 2007b. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nature Medicine*, 13, 54-61.
- Ochsenbein, A. F., Sierro, S., Odermatt, B., Pericin, M., Karrer, U., Hermans, J., Hemmi, S., Hengartner, H., et al. 2001. Roles of tumour localization, second signals and cross priming in cytotoxic T-cell induction. *Nature*, 411, 1058-1064.

- Oda, S.-I., Franklin, E. & Khan, A. R. 2011. Poxvirus A46 protein binds to TIR domain-containing Mal/TIRAP via an α-helical sub-domain. *Molecular Immunology*, 48, 2144-2150.
- Ohto, U., Yamakawa, N., Akashi-Takamura, S., Miyake, K. & Shimizu, T. 2012. Structural analyses of human Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms D299G and T399I. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 287, 40611-7.
- Pagano, J. S., Blaser, M., Buendia, M.-A., Damania, B., Khalili, K., Raab-Traub, N. & Roizman, B. 2004. Infectious agents and cancer: criteria for a causal relation. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 14, 453-471.
- Palliser, D., Huang, Q., Hacohen, N., Lamontagne, S. P., Guillen, E., Young, R. A. & Eisen, H. N. 2004. A Role for Toll-Like Receptor 4 in Dendritic Cell Activation and Cytolytic CD8⁺ T Cell Differentiation in Response to a Recombinant Heat Shock Fusion Protein. *The Journal of Immunology*, 172, 2885-2893.
- Palucka, K. & Banchereau, J. 2013. Dendritic-Cell-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines. *Immunity*, 39, 38-48.
- Parish, C. R., Glidden, M. H., Quah, B. J. C. & Warren, H. S. 2001. Use of the Intracellular Fluorescent Dye CFSE to Monitor Lymphocyte Migration and Proliferation. *Current Protocols in Immunology*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Park, J. S., Gamboni-Robertson, F., He, Q., Svetkauskaite, D., Kim, J., Strassheim, D. & et al. 2005. High Mobility Group Box 1 Protein interacts with multiple Toll-like receptors. *Receptors and Signal Trnasduction*, 290, 917-924.
- Pawaria, S. & Binder, R. J. 2011. CD91-dependent programming of T-helper cell responses following heat shock protein immunization. *Nature Communication*, 2.
- Pawlik, T. M. & Keyomarsi, K. 2004. Role of cell cycle in mediating sensitivity to radiotherapy. *International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics*, 59, 928-942.
- Piersma, S. J., Jordanova, E. S., Van Poelgeest, M. I. E., Kwappenberg, K. M. C., Van Der Hulst, J. M., Drijfhout, J. W., Melief, C. J. M., Kenter, G. G., et al. 2007. High Number of Intraepithelial CD8⁺ Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes Is Associated with the Absence of Lymph Node Metastases in Patients with Large Early-Stage Cervical Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 67, 354-361.
- Posner, J. B. 2003. Immunology of Paraneoplastic Syndromes. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 998, 178-186.
- Postow, M. A., Callahan, M. K., Barker, C. A., Yamada, Y., Yuan, J., Kitano, S., Mu, Z., Rasalan, T., et al. 2012. Immunologic Correlates of the Abscopal Effect in a Patient with Melanoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 366, 925-931.

- Prestwich, R. J., Errington, F., Hatfield, P., Merrick, A. E., Ilett, E. J., Selby, P. J. & Melcher, A. A. 2008. The Immune System — is it Relevant to Cancer Development, Progression and Treatment? *Clinical Oncology*, 20, 101-112.
- Quon, H., Loblaw, A. & Nam, R. 2011. Dramatic increase in prostate cancer cases by 2012. *British Journal of Urology*, 108, 1734-1738.
- Raghavan, M., Wijeyesakere, S. J., Peters, L. R. & Del Cid, N. 2012. Calreticulin in the immune system: ins and outs. *Trends in Immunology*, 34, 13-21.
- Rallabhandi, P., Bell, J., Boukhvalova, M. S., Medvedev, A., Lorenz, E., Arditi, M., Hemming, V. G., Blanco, J. C. G., et al. 2006. Analysis of TLR4 Polymorphic Variants: New Insights into TLR4/MD-2/CD14 Stoichiometry, Structure, and Signaling. *The Journal of Immunology*, 177, 322-332.
- Read, R. C., Pullin, J., Gregory, S., Borrow, R., Kaczmarski, E. B., Di Giovine, F. S., Dower, S. K., Cannings, C., et al. 2001. A Functional Polymorphism of Tolllike Receptor 4 Is Not Associated with Likelihood or Severity of Meningococcal Disease. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 184, 640-642.
- Real, L. M., Jimenez, P., Kirkin, A., Serrano, A., García A., Cantón, J., Zeuthen, J., Garrido, F., et al. 2001. Multiple mechanisms of immune evasion can coexist in melanoma tumor cell lines derived from the same patient. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 49, 621-628.
- Ribatti, D., Ennas, M. G., Vacca, A., Ferreli, F., Nico, B., Orru, S. & Sirigu, P. 2003. Tumor vascularity and tryptase-positive mast cells correlate with a poor prognosis in melanoma. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 33, 420-425.
- Ricart, B. G., John, B., Lee, D., Hunter, C. A. & Hammer, D. A. 2011. Dendritic Cells Distinguish Individual Chemokine Signals through CCR7 and CXCR4. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186, 53-61.
- Riese, R. J. & Chapman, H. A. 2000. Cathepsins and compartmentalization in antigen presentation. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 12, 107-113.
- Ritter, M. A., Gilchrist, K. W., Voytovich, M., Chappell, R. J. & Verhoven, B. M. 2002. The role of p53 in radiation therapy outcomes for favorable-to-intermediate-risk prostate cancer. *International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics,* 53, 574-80.
- Roca, H., Varsos, Z. S., Sud, S., Craig, M. J., Ying, C. & Pienta, K. J. 2009. CCL2 and Interleukin-6 Promote Survival of Human CD11b⁺ Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells and Induce M2-type Macrophage Polarization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284, 34342-34354.
- Rock, K. L., Farfan-Arribas, D. J. & Shen, L. 2010. Proteases in MHC Class I Presentation and Cross-Presentation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 184, 9-15.
- Rock, K. L. & Kono, H. 2008. The Inflammatory Response to Cell Death. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, 3, 99-126.

- Rosenblatt, J., Vasir, B., Uhl, L., Blotta, S., Macnamara, C., Somaiya, P., Wu, Z., Joyce, R., et al. 2011. Vaccination with dendritic cell/tumor fusion cells results in cellular and humoral antitumor immune responses in patients with multiple myeloma. *Blood*, 117, 393-402.
- Rossi, M. & Young, J. W. 2005. Human Dendritic Cells: Potent Antigen-Presenting Cells at the Crossroads of Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *The Journal of Immunology*, 175, 1373-1381.
- Rudensky, A. Y., Preston-Hurlburt, P., Hong, S.-C., Barlow, A. & Janeway, C. A. 1991. Sequence analysis of peptides bound to MHC class II molecules. *Nature*, 353, 622-627.
- Russo, V., Tanzarella, S., Dalerba, P., Rigatti, D., Rovere, P., Villa, A., Bordignon, C. & Traversari, C. 2000. Dendritic cells acquire the MAGE-3 human tumor antigen from apoptotic cells and induce a class I-restricted T cell response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 2185-2190.
- Sakaguchi, S., Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P. & Yamaguchi, T. 2009. Regulatory T cells: how do they suppress immune responses? *International Immunology*, 21, 1105-1111.
- Sallusto, F. & Lanzavecchia, A. 1994. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 179, 1109-1118.
- Sallusto, F., Mackay, C. R. & Lanzavecchia, A. 2000. The Role of Chemokine Receptors in Primary, Effector, and Memory Immune Responses. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 18, 593-620.
- Sampaio, M. S., Cho, Y. W., Qazi, Y., Bunnapradist, S., Hutchinson, I. V. & Shah, T. 2012. Post-transplant Malignancies in Solid Organ Adult Recipeints: An Analysis of the US National Transplant Database. *Transplantation Journal*, 94, 990-998.
- Santomenna, L. D. & Colberg-Poley, A. M. 1990. Induction of cellular hsp70 expression by human cytomegalovirus. *Journal of Virology*, 64, 2033-2040.
- Sauter, B., Albert, M. L., Francisco, L., Larsson, M., Somersan, S. & Bhardwaj, N. 2000. Consequences of Cell Death: Exposure to Necrotic Tumor Cells, but Not Primary Tissue Cells or Apoptotic Cells, Induces the Maturation of Immunostimulatory Dendritic Cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 191, 423-434.
- Scaffidi, P., Misteli, T. & Bianchi, E. 2002. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature*, 418, 191-195.
- Scheffer, S. R., Nave, H., Korangy, F., Schlote, K., Pabst, R., Jaffee, E. M., Manns, M. P. & Greten, T. F. 2003. Apoptotic, but not necrotic, tumor cell vaccines

induce a potent immune response in vivo. *International Journal of Cancer*, 103, 205-211.

- Schildkopf, P., Frey, B., Ott, O. J., Rubner, Y., Multhoff, G., Sauer, R., Fietkau, R. & Gaipl, U. S. 2011. Radiation combined with hyperthermia induces HSP70dependent maturation of dendritic cells and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines by dendritic cells and macrophages. *Radiotherapy and oncology : journal of the European Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology*, 101, 109-115.
- Schilling, D., Gehrmann, M., Steinem, C., De Maio, A., Pockley, A. G., Abend, M., Molls, M. & Multhoff, G. 2009. Binding of heat shock protein 70 to extracellular phosphatidylserine promotes killing of normoxic and hypoxic tumor cells. *The FASEB Journal*, 23, 2467-2477.
- Schippers, E. F., Van 'T Veer, C., Van Voorden, S., Martina, C. a. E., Le Cessie, S. & Van Dissel, J. T. 2004. TNF-α promoter, Nod2 and toll-like receptor-4 polymorphisms and the in vivo and ex vivo response to endotoxin. *Cytokine*, 26, 16-24.
- Schmidtner, J., Distel, L. V., Ott, O. J., Nkenke, E., Sprung, C. N., Fietkau, R. & Lubgan, D. 2009. Hyperthermia and irradiation of head and neck squamous cancer cells causes migratory profile changes of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes. *International Journal of Hyperthermia*, 25, 347-354.
- Schmitt, E., Gehrmann, M., Brunet, M., Multhoff, G. & Garrido, C. 2007. Intracellular and extracellular functions of heat shock proteins: repercussions in cancer therapy. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 81, 15-27.
- Schweizer, M. & Drake, C. 2014. Immunotherapy for prostate cancer: recent developments and future challenges. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 1-15.
- Segura, E., Durand, M. & Amigorena, S. 2013. Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organ-resident dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 210, 1035-1047.
- Selvarajoo, K. 2013. Decoding the Signaling Mechanism of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Pathways in Wild Type and Knockouts. *In:* NANDA VEL ARJUNAN, S., DHAR, P. K. & TOMITA, M. (eds.) *E-Cell System: Basic Concepts and Applications.*
- Shankaran, V., Ikeda, H., Bruce, A. T., White, J. M., Swanson, P. E., Old, L. J. & Schreiber, R. D. 2001. IFN[gamma] and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature*, 410, 1107-1111.
- Sharma, A., Bode, B., Wenger, R. H., Lehmann, K., Sartori, A. A., Moch, H., Knuth, A. & et al. 2011. Gamma irradiation promotes immunological recognition of cancer cells through increased expression of cancer-testis in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS ONE*, 6.

- Sharma, P., Shen, Y., Wen, S., Yamada, S., Jungbluth, A. A., Gnjatic, S., Bajorin, D. F., Reuter, V. E., et al. 2007. CD8 tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are predictive of survival in muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 3967-3972.
- Shen, H., Tesar, B. M., Walker, W. E. & Goldstein, D. R. 2008. Dual signalling of MyD88 and TRIF is critical for maximal TLR4 induced dendritc cell maturation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181, 1849-1858.
- Shen, L. & Rock, K. L. 2006. Priming of T cells by exogenous antigen crosspresented on MHC class I molecules. *Current Opinion in Immunology Innate immunity / Antigen processing and recognition*, 18, 85-91.
- Shin, M. S., Kim, H. S., Lee, S. H., Park, W. S., Kim, S. Y., Park, J. Y., Lee, J. H., Lee, S. K., et al. 2001. Mutations of Tumor Necrosis Factor-related Apoptosis-inducing Ligand Receptor 1 (TRAIL-R1) and Receptor 2 (TRAIL-R2) Genes in Metastatic Breast Cancers. *Cancer Research*, 61, 4942-4946.
- Shingler, W. H., Chikoti, P., Kingsman, S. M. & Harrop, R. 2008. Identification and functional validation of MHC class I epitopes in the tumor-associated antigen 5T4. *International Immunology*, 20, 1057-1066.
- Shinomiya, N. 2001. New concepts in radiation-induced apoptosis: 'premitotic apoptosis' and 'postmitotic apoptosis'. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 5, 240-253.
- Shouval, D., Rager-Zisman, B., Quan, P., Shafritz, D. A., Bloom, B. R. & Reid, L. M. 1983. Role in nude mice of interferon and natural killer cells in inhibiting the tumorigenicity of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells infected with hepatitis B virus. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 72, 707-717.
- Sica, A., Larghi, P., Mancino, A., Rubino, L., Porta, C., Totaro, M. G., Rimoldi, M., Biswas, S. K., et al. 2008. Macrophage polarization in tumour progression. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 18, 349-355.
- Sioud, M., Parrish, W. & Ulloa, L. 2007. High-Mobility Group Box-1 Isoforms as Potential Therapeutic Targets in Sepsis. *Target Discovery and Validation Reviews and Protocols*. Humana Press.
- Slovin, S. F., Higano, C. S., Hamid, O., Tejwani, S., Harzstark, A., Alumkal, J. J., Scher, H. I., Chin, K., et al. 2013. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. *Annals of Oncology*, 24, 1813-1821.
- Smyth, M. J., Crowe, N. Y. & Godfrey, D. I. 2001. NK cells and NKT cells collaborate in host protection from methylcholanthrene-induced fibrosarcoma. *International Immunology*, 13, 459-463.
- Smyth, M. J., Thia, K. Y. T., Street, S. E. A., Macgregor, D., Godfrey, D. I. & Trapani, J. A. 2000. Perforin-Mediated Cytotoxicity Is Critical for

Surveillance of Spontaneous Lymphoma. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192, 755-760.

- Southall, P. J., Boxer, G. M., Bagshawe, K. D., Hole, N., Bromley, M. & Stern, P. L. 1990. Immunohistological distribution of 5T4 antigen in normal and malignant tissues. *British Journal of Cancer*, 6, 89-95.
- Spary, L. K., Salimu, J., Jason, W., Clayton, A. & Mason, M. D. 2014. Tumour stroma-derived factors skew monocyte to dendritic cell differentiation towards CD14+ programmed death-ligand-1⁺ phenotype in prostate cancer. *OncoImmunology*, Under Review.
- Srivastava, M. K., Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., Rodriguez, P. & Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2010. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Inhibit T-Cell Activation by Depleting Cystine and Cysteine. *Cancer Research*, 70, 68-77.
- Street, S. E. A., Cretney, E. & Smyth, M. J. 2001. Perforin and interferon-γ activities independently control tumor initiation, growth, and metastasis. *Blood*, 97, 192-197.
- Stuart, L. M., Lucas, M., Simpson, C., Lamb, J., Savill, J. & Lacy-Hulbert, A. 2002. Inhibitory Effects of Apoptotic Cell Ingestion upon Endotoxin-Driven Myeloid Dendritic Cell Maturation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 168, 1627-1635.
- Suwa, T., Saio, M., Umemura, N., Yamashita, T., Toida, M., Shibata, T. & Takami, T. 2006. Preoperative radiotherapy contributes to induction of proliferative activity of CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating T-cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncology Reports*, 15, 757-763.
- Suzuki, Y., Mimura, K., Yoshimoto, Y., Watanabe, M., Ohkubo, Y., Izawa, S., Murata, K., Fujii, H., et al. 2012. Immunogenic Tumor Cell Death Induced by Chemoradiotherapy in Patients with Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 72, 3967-3976.
- Swann, J. B. & Smyth, M. J. 2007. Immune surveillance of tumors. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117, 1137-1146.
- Swann, J. B., Vesely, M. D., Silva, A., Sharkey, J., Akira, S., Schreiber, R. D. & Smyth, M. J. 2008. Demonstration of inflammation-induced cancer and cancer immunoediting during primary tumorigenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 652-656.
- Szlosarek, P. W. & Balkwill, F. R. 2003. Tumour necrosis factor α: a potential target for the therapy of solid tumours. *The Lancet Oncology*, 4, 565-573.
- Tabachnyk, M., Distel, L. V. R., Buttner, M., Grabenbauer, G. G., Nkenke, E., Fietkau, R. & Lubgan, D. 2012. Radiochemotherapy induces a favourable tumour infiltrating inflammatory cell profile in head and neck cancer. *Oral Oncology*, 48, 594-601.
- Tabi, Z., Moutaftsi, M. & Borysiewicz, L. K. 2001. Human Cytomegalovirus pp65and Immediate Early 1 Antigen-Specific HLA Class I-Restricted Cytotoxic T Cell Responses Induced by Cross-Presentation of Viral Antigens. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166, 5695-5703.
- Tabi, Z., Spary, L. K., Coleman, S., Clayton, A., Mason, M. D. & Staffurth, J. 2010. Resistance of CD45RA- T Cells to Apoptosis and Functional Impairment, and Activation of Tumor-Antigen Specific T Cells during Radiation Therapy of Prostate Cancer. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185, 1330-1339.
- Tabi, Z., Spary, L. K. & Staffurth, J. 2011. Combination of Immunotherapy & Radiotherapy for the Treatment of Prostate Cancer In: DR. PHILIPPE E. SPIESS (ed.) Prostate Cancer - Diagnostic and Therapeutic Advances. InTech.
- Tan, J. K. H. & O'neill, H. C. 2005. Maturation requirements for dendritic cells in T cell stimulation leading to tolerance versus immunity. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 78, 319-324.
- Terabe, M. & Berzofsky, J. A. 2004. Immunoregulatory T cells in tumor immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 16, 157-162.
- Tesniere, A., Panaretakis, T., Kepp, O., Apetoh, L., Ghiringhelli, F., Zitvogel, L. & Kroemer, G. 2007. Molecular characteristics of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 15, 3-12.
- Thomas, L. 1982. On immunosurveillance in human cancer. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 55, 329-333.
- Thorburn, J., Horita, H., Redzic, J., Hansen, K., Frankel, A. E. & Thorburn, A. 2008. Autophagy regulates selective HMGB1 release in tumor cells that are destined to die. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 16, 175-183.
- Toshchakov, V., Basu, S., Fenton, M. J. & Vogel, S. N. 2005. Differential Involvement of BB Loops of Toll-IL-1 Resistance (TIR) Domain-Containing Adapter Proteins in TLR4- versus TLR2-Mediated Signal Transduction. *The Journal of Immunology*, 175, 494-500.
- Tulic, M. K., Hurrelbrink, R. J., Prele, C. M., Laing, I. A., Upham, J. A. & Et Al 2007. TLR4 Polymoprhisms Mediate Impaired Responses to Respiratory Syncytial Virus and Lipopolysaccharide. *The Journal of Immunology*, 179, 132-140.
- Tykodi, S. S., Satoh, S., Deming, J. D., Chou, J., Harrop, R. & Warren, E. H. 2012. CD8⁺ T-cell clones specific for the 5T4 antigen target renal cell carcinoma tumor-initiating cells in a murine xenograft model. *Journal of immunotherapy* (*Hagerstown, Md. : 1997*), 35, 523-533.
- Uronen-Hansson, H., Allen, J., Osman, M., Squires, G., Klein, N. & Callard, R. E. 2004. Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 are present inside human dendritic cells, associated with microtubules and the Golgi apparatus but are not detectable on the cell surface: integrity of microtubules is required for

interleukin-12 production in response to internalized bacteria. *Immunology*, 111, 173-178.

- Vabulas, R. M., Ahmad-Nejad, P., Ghose, S., Kirschning, C. J., Issels, R. D. & Wagner, H. 2002. HSP70 as Endogenous Stimulus of the Toll/Interleukin-1 Receptor Signal Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 15107-15112.
- Van Der Graaf, C., Kullberg, B. J., Joosten, L., Verver-Jansen, T., Jacobs, L., Van Der Meer, J. W. & Netea, M. G. 2005a. Functional consequences of the Asp299Gly Toll-like receptor-4 polymorphism. *Cytokine*, 30, 264-8.
- Vecchi, A., Massimiliano, L., Ramponi, S., Luini, W., Bernasconi, S., Bonecchi, R., Allavena, P., Parmentier, M., et al. 1999. Differential responsiveness to constitutive vs. inducible chemokines of immature and mature mouse dendritic cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 66, 489-94.
- Vega, V. L., Rodrã-Guez-Silva, M., Frey, T., Gehrmann, M., Diaz, J. C., Steinem, C., Multhoff, G., Arispe, N., et al. 2008. Hsp70 Translocates into the Plasma Membrane after Stress and Is Released into the Extracellular Environment in a Membrane-Associated Form that Activates Macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 180, 4299-4307.
- Venereau, E., Casalgrandi, M., Schiraldi, M., Antoine, D. J., Cattaneo, A., De Marchis, F., Liu, J., Antonelli, A., et al. 2012. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 209, 1519-1528.
- Vesely, M. D., Kershaw, M. H., Schreiber, R. D. & Smyth, M. J. 2011. Natural Innate and Adaptive Immunity to Cancer. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 29, 235-271.
- Villablanca, E. J., Raccosta, L., Zhou, D., Fontana, R., Maggioni, D., Negro, A., Sanvito, F., Ponzoni, M., et al. 2010. Tumor-mediated liver X receptor-[alpha] activation inhibits CC chemokine receptor-7 expression on dendritic cells and dampens antitumor responses. *Nature Medicine*, 16, 98-105.
- Von Euw, E., Barrio, M., Furman, D., Bianchini, M., Levy, E., Yee, C., Li, Y., Wainstok, R., et al. 2007. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells loaded with a mixture of apoptotic/necrotic melanoma cells efficiently cross-present gp100 and MART-1 antigens to specific CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 5, 19.
- Wang, X., Sun, R., Wei, H. & Tian, Z. 2013. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1)toll-like receptor (TLR)4-interleukin (IL)-23-IL-17A axis in drug-induced damage-associated lethal hepatitis: Interaction of $\gamma\delta$ T cells with macrophages. *Hepatology*, 57, 373-384.
- Wei, S., Kryczek, I., Zou, L., Daniel, B., Cheng, P., Mottram, P., Curiel, T., Lange, A., et al. 2005. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Induce CD8⁺ Regulatory T Cells In Human Ovarian Carcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 65, 5020-5026.

- Weissenbach, M., Clahsen, T., Weber, C., Spitzer, D., Wirth, D., Vestweber, D., Heinrich, P. C. & Schaper, F. 2004. Interleukin-6 is a direct mediator of T cell migration. *European Journal of Immunology*, 34, 2895-2906.
- Wieckowski, E., Chatta, G. S., Mailliard, R. M., Gooding, W., Palucka, K., Banchereau, J. & Kalinski, P. 2010. Type-1 polarized dendritic cells loaded with apoptotic prostate cancer cells are potent inducers of CD8⁺ T cells against prostate cancer cells and defined prostate cancer-specific epitopes. *The Prostate*, 71, 125-133.
- Wrzesinski, S. H., Wan, Y. Y. & Flavell, R. A. 2007. Transforming Growth Factor-β and the Immune Response: Implications for Anticancer Therapy. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13, 5262-5270.
- Xu, B., Kim, S., Lim, D. & Kastan, M. B. 2002. Two Molecularly Distinct G2/M Checkpoints Are Induced by Ionizing Irradiation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22, 1049-1059.
- Yamakawa, N., Ohto, U., Akashi-Takamura, S., Takahashi, K., Saitoh, S.-I., Tanimura, N., Suganami, T., Ogawa, Y., et al. 2013. Human TLR4 polymorphism D299G/T399I alters TLR4/MD-2 conformation and response to a weak ligand monophosphoryl lipid A. *International Immunology*, 25, 45-52.
- Yang, H., Antoine, D. J., Andersson, U. & Tracey, K. J. 2013. The many faces of HMGB1: molecular structure-functional activity in inflammation, apoptosis, and chemotaxis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 93, 865-873.
- Yang, H., Hreggvidsdottir, H. S., Palmblad, K., Wang, H., Ochani, M., Li, J., Lu, B., Chavan, S., et al. 2012. A critical cysteine is required for HMGB1 binding to Toll-like receptor 4 and activation of macrophage cytokine release. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 11942-11947.
- Yewdell, J. W., Norbury, C. C. & Bennink, J. R. 1999. Mechanisms of Exogenous Antigen Presentation by MHC Class I Molecules in Vitro and in Vivo: Implications for Generating CD8⁺ T Cell Responses to Infectious Agents, Tumors, Transplants, and Vaccines. *Advances in Immunology*, 73, 1-77.
- Zaorsky, N. G., Harrison, A. S., Trabulsi, E. J., Gomella, L. G., Showalter, T. N., Hurwitz, M. D., Dicker, A. P. & Den, R. B. 2013. Evolution of advanced technologies in prostate cancer radiotherapy. *Nature Reviews Urology*, 10, 565-579.
- Zeelenberg, I. S., Ostrowski, M., Krumeich, S., Bobrie, A. L., Jancic, C., Boissonnas, A., Delcayre, A., Le Pecq, J.-B., et al. 2008. Targeting Tumor Antigens to Secreted Membrane Vesicles In vivo Induces Efficient Antitumor Immune Responses. *Cancer Research*, 68, 1228-1235.
- Zhang, L., Conejo-Garcia, J. R., Katsaros, D., Gimotty, P. A., Massobrio, M., Regnani, G., Makrigiannakis, A., Gray, H., et al. 2003. Intratumoral T Cells,

Recurrence, and Survival in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348, 203-213.

- Zhou, Y., Mcearchern, J., Howard, E., Pestano, G., Salgaller, M. & Bosch, M. 2003. Dendritic cells efficiently acquire and present antigen derived from lung cancer cells and induce antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 52, 413-422.
- Zitvogel, L., Kepp, O. & Kroemer, G. 2010. Decoding cell death signals in inflammation and immunity. *Cell*, 140, 798-804.
- Zitvogel, L., Tesniere, A. & Kroemer, G. 2006. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 6, 715-727.
- Zois, C. E. & Koukourakis, M. I. 2009. Radiation-induced autophagy in normal and cancer cells: Towards novel cytoprotection and radio-sensitization policies? *Autophagy*, 5, 442-450.